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PART 1.
SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements that are based on our management’s beliefs and assumptions and on information
currently available to our management. The forward-looking statements are contained principally in, but not limited to, the sections entitled “Risk Factors” and
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations”. Forward-looking statements include all statements that are not historical
facts and can be identified by terms such as “anticipates”, “believes”, “could”, “seeks”, “estimates”, “expects”, “intends”, “may”, “plans”, “potential”, “predicts”,
“projects”, “should”, “will”, “would” or similar expressions and the negatives of those terms. Forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to, statements

about:

. our progress against short-term and long-term goals;

. our future financial performance;

. our anticipated growth, growth strategies and our ability to effectively manage that growth and effect these strategies;

. our success in our target markets and key verticals;

. anticipated trends, developments and challenges in our business and in the markets in which we operate, as well as general macroeconomic

conditions and geopolitical conflicts;

. our ability to scale to our desired goals, particularly the implementation of new processes and systems and on-boarding new workers;

. the impact of competition in our industry and innovation by our competitors;

. our ability to anticipate and adapt to future changes in our industry;

. our ability to predict subscriptions revenues, formulate accurate financial projections, manage debt expense, and make strategic business decisions

based on our analysis of market trends;

. our ability to anticipate market needs and develop new and enhanced products and solutions and subscriptions to meet those needs, and our ability
to successfully monetize them;

. our ability to successfully incorporate artificial intelligence (Al) and machine learning powered features into our solutions;

. maintaining and expanding our customer base;

. maintaining, expanding and responding to changes in our relationships with other companies;

. maintaining and expanding our distribution channels, including our network of sales agents and resellers, our partners, and global service providers;
. our ability to sell, market, and support our solutions and services, domestically and internationally, and continue to sell and expand our business

with enterprise customers and within our key vertical markets;

. our ability to realize increased purchasing leverage and economies of scale as we expand;

. the impact of seasonality on our business;

. the impact of any failure of our solutions or solution innovations, including our innovations relating to Al;

. our dependency on third-party vendors of hardware, software and services that we offer and sell to our customers and our ability to effectively offer

customers an alternate solution;

. the potential effect on our business of litigation to which we may become a party;

. our liquidity and working capital requirements;

. the impact of changes in the regulatory environment including with respect to Al;

. our ability to protect our intellectual property and rely on open source licenses;

. our expectations regarding the growth and reliability of public cloud and internet infrastructure;

. the timing of acquisitions of, or making and exiting investments in, other entities, businesses or technologies;

. our ability to successfully and timely execute on, integrate, and realize the benefits of any acquisition, investment, strategic partnership, or other

strategic transaction we may make or undertake;
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. our capital expenditure projections;

. our capital allocation plans, including expected allocations of cash and timing for any share repurchases, debt repayments, and other investments;
. our Credit Agreement, including both the Term Loan and the Revolving Credit Facility (each as defined below);

. our ability to comply with the operational and financial covenants in our debt agreements;

. the estimates and estimate methodologies used in preparing our consolidated financial statements;

. the political environment and stability in the regions in which we or our subcontractors operate;

. the impact of economic downturns on us and our customers;

. our ability to protect our systems and our customer information from fraud, social engineering breaches, and cyber-attack;
. our ability to prevent the use of fraudulent payment methods for our solutions;

. our ability to retain key employees and to attract qualified personnel;

. our ability to successfully implement or otherwise achieve our anticipated cost reductions; and

. the impact of foreign currencies on our non-U.S. business as we expand our business internationally.

Forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause our actual results, performance or
achievements to be significantly different from any future results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements. We discuss
these risks in greater detail in the section entitled “Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Given these uncertainties, you should not place
undue reliance on these forward-looking statements. Also, forward-looking statements represent our management’s beliefs and assumptions only as of the date in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K. You should read this Annual Report on Form 10-K completely and with the understanding that our actual future results may be
significantly different from what we expect.

Except as required by law, we assume no obligation to update these forward-looking statements publicly, or to update the reasons actual results could differ
significantly from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements, even if new information becomes available in the future.

ITEM 1. BUSINESS

Overview

Over the past 25 years, RingCentral has transformed business communications, leading the shift from on-premises legacy communications to the cloud.
Today, the company has an Al-powered multi-product portfolio including Unified Communications as a Service (“UCaaS”), Contact Center as a Service (“CCaaS”),
Video & Events, and RingSense Al solutions. RingCentral’s core tenets include: a) Trust: We provide communications that businesses can trust with reliability,
security, and privacy; b) Innovation: We execute through focused and strategic innovation, setting the bar in the industry for many market firsts; c) Partnerships: We
have a diverse set of strategic partners, global service providers, channel partners, and third-party developers. RingCentral is designed for intelligent, connected, and
effortless businesses communications, making employee and customer experiences more productive and efficient.

Our multi-product portfolio includes:
. RingEX. RingEX (formerly RingCentral MVP) is our Al-powered Unified Communications as a Service (UCaaS) platform available in 46

countries and phone number availability in 100 countries, enabling seamless collaboration across voice, messaging, and video:

° Cloud phone system with IVR, advanced call queues, call management, and deep telephony integrations, where we historically have strived
for 99.999% availability.

° Business messaging, including enhanced SMS, MMS, and team chat for streamlined communication.

° Cloud fax solutions for secure, integrated document receiving and transmission on mobile or desktop.
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Al-enhanced video meetings, featuring meeting summaries, and smart collaboration tools, with conference room solutions and
interoperability, integrating with third-party meetings.

Comprehensive business analytics and cloud migration tools.

APIs and integrations, allowing businesses to customize workflows and connect with existing applications.

RingCentral Contact Center. RingCentral Contact Center is a collaborative contact center solution that delivers Al-powered omni-channel and
workforce engagement solutions integrated with RingEX. RingCentral Contact Center brings together the powerful integration of Contact Center as
a Service (CCaaS) which leverages technology from NICE Ltd., along with RingEX, enabling an easy collaboration while delivering seamless
omnichannel experiences across more than 30 digital and voice channels.

RingCX is our native next-generation CCaaS solution, delivering an Al-powered customer engagement solution with deep CRM integrations and a
broad ecosystem of integrated partner solutions, including the following capabilities:

o

o

Omnichannel support across voice, chat, email, and messaging for a seamless customer experience.

Real time and historical analytics for supervisors

Outbound engagement, including predictive dialing, automated campaigns, and proactive customer outreach to drive conversions and
engagement.

Bring-Your-Own IVA (Intelligent Virtual Assistant) for custom Al-powered self-service Al agents tailored to business needs.

Deep CRM integrations, including Salesforce, Zendesk, ServiceNow, HubSpot, Microsoft Dynamics, and others, ensuring customer
interactions are context-aware and data-driven.

Seamless integration with RingEX, enabling a fully connected UCaaS and CCaaS powered by RingCentral global network.

RingCentral Artificial Intelligence Solutions. RingCentral provides multiple Al solutions designed to improve employee productivity, elevate
customer experience and automate routine tasks:

AI Solutions for RingEx.

AI Receptionist is an Al phone agent that uses generative Al to automatically answer customer questions and transfer callers to
the right place, much like traditional full-time receptionists do.

Al Assistant automates conversation recaps, captures notes and summarizes actions, thus freeing employees from taking notes.

RingSense, transforms conversations into actionable conversational intelligence, helping teams improve productivity with Al-
driven insights including among others: automated meeting and call summaries that capture key points and action items;
sentiment and trend analysis; performance insights for managers and teams, providing benchmarking, coaching opportunities, and
operational movements; and Al-powered sales intelligence, analyzing customer interactions to optimize engagement and improve
sales efficiency.

AI Solutions for RingCX.

Al-based Quality Management (QM) powered by RingSense Al for smarter coaching and operational insights.

Al Agent Assist offers real-time suggestions and contextual responses to improve service efficiency.(This product is currently in
beta).

AI Supervisor Assist enables real-time monitoring, coaching, and sentiment analysis to enhance team performance. (This product
is currently in beta).
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. RingCentral for Microsoft Teams. RingCentral seamlessly embeds into Microsoft Teams, providing reliable, global enterprise-grade phone, SMS,
fax, and customer experience solutions—without requiring a Teams Phone license:

° Embedded telephony, fax, and SMS, delivering a fully featured business phone system inside Teams.

° RingSense conversation intelligence, providing Al-driven insights.
° A personal Al assistant, automating notes, transcriptions, and follow-ups.
° Al writer for SMS, automating composing texts.
. RingCentral Events. RingCentral Events, built on the Hopin Events and Session acquisition, enables businesses to host virtual, hybrid, and in-

person events with Al-powered engagement tools:

° Multi-session event hosting, from small gatherings to large-scale conferences.
° Al-driven attendee engagement, including automated networking and personalized recommendations to foster community
° Deep integrations with CRM and marketing automation

Our flagship cloud-based offerings, RingEX and RingCX, are subscription based and made available at different rates varying by the specific functionalities,
services, and number of users. We primarily generate revenues from the sale of subscriptions to our offerings. Our subscription plans have monthly, annual, or multi-
year contractual terms. We believe that this flexibility in contract duration is important to meet the different needs of our customers. For the years ended
December 31, 2024 and 2023, subscriptions revenues accounted for over 90% of our total revenues. The remainder of our revenues are primarily comprised of
product revenues from the sale of pre-configured phones and professional services. We do not develop or manufacture physical phones and only offer them as a
convenience to our customers. We rely on third-party providers to develop and manufacture these devices and fulfillment partners to successfully serve our
customers.

We use our direct inside sales force and indirect sales channels to market our product and our subscription offerings. Our indirect sales channels who sell our
solutions consist of:

. Regional and global network of resellers and distributors;

. Global Service Providers and strategic partners who market and sell our RingEX, RingCX or other solutions, including co-branded solutions.

Our principal executive offices are located in Belmont, California. Our principal address is 20 Davis Drive, Belmont, California 94002, and our primary
website address is www.ringcentral.com. Information contained on, or that can be accessed through, our website, does not constitute part of this Annual Report on
Form 10-K and inclusion of our website address in this Annual Report on Form 10-K is an inactive textual reference only.

“RingCentral” and other of our trademarks appearing in this report are our property. This report also contains trade names and trademarks of other
companies. We do not intend our use or display of other companies’ trade names or trademarks to imply an endorsement or sponsorship of us by such companies, or
any relationship with any of these companies.

Segment Reporting

Our organizational structure is a single reportable segment. A discussion of the results of our operations is included in Part II, Item 7, “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations”, and in Part II, Item 8, “Consolidated Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” of
this Annual Report on Form 10-K, under Consolidated Financial Statements, which are incorporated herein by reference.

Our Customers

We have a diverse and growing customer base across a wide range of industries, including financial services, education, healthcare, legal services, real
estate, retail, technology, insurance, construction, hospitality, and state and local government, among others. We seek to establish and maintain long-term
relationships with our customers. We do not have significant customer concentration and no individual customer accounted for more than 10% of total revenue for the
years ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022. We believe that we will not have significant customer concentration in the future.
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RingCentral powers customer engagement and intelligent communication across industries:
. Retail and e-commerce businesses use Al-assisted agents to reduce wait times, automate order inquiries, and personalize customer interactions.

. Financial services firms ensure compliance while enhancing client engagement with voice and digital experiences, personalized coaching, and
intelligent risk and compliance monitoring.

. Healthcare providers streamline patient communication and care coordination with scheduling, automated documentation, and HIPAA-compliant
messaging.

. Customer service teams improve response times with real-time agent assistance, self-service tools, and personalized coaching.

. Sales and marketing teams accelerate deals with conversation insights, automated follow-ups, and smarter customer engagement strategies.

We sell our solutions to enterprise customers, and small and medium-sized businesses. We define a “customer” as a party that purchases or subscribes to our
products and services directly or through our indirect sales channel, which includes resellers and distributors, strategic partners and global service providers. We
continue to look to expand our offerings in new geographies and believe that there are additional growth opportunities in international markets.

Marketing, Sales and Support

We use a variety of marketing, sales, and support activities to generate and cultivate ongoing customer demand for our subscriptions, acquire new customers,
and engage with our existing customers. We sell globally through both direct and indirect channels, which includes resellers and distributors, strategic partners and
global service providers. We provide onboarding implementation services to help our customers set up and configure their newly purchased communications system,
as well as ongoing self-service, phone support, online chat support, and training. We also closely track and monitor customer acquisition costs to assess how we are
deploying our marketing, sales, and customer support spending.

. Marketing. Our marketing efforts include search engine marketing, search engine optimization, affiliates, list buys, shared leads, content leads,
appointment setting, radio advertising, online display advertising, sports sponsorships, billboard advertising, tradeshows and events, and other
forms of demand generation.

. Direct Sales. We primarily sell our solutions and subscriptions through direct inbound and outbound sales efforts. We have direct sales
representatives located in the U.S. and internationally.

. Indirect Sales. Our indirect sales channel consists of global and regional networks of resellers and distributors, strategic partners and global and
regional service providers. Our indirect sales channels help broaden the adoption of our solutions and enable us to leverage the channel to sell our
services as well as access their customer bases.

. Customer Support and Services. While our intuitive and easy-to-use user interface serves to reduce our customers’ need for support and services,
we provide online chat and phone customer support, as well as post-sale implementation support, as an option to help customers configure and use
our solution.

Research and Development

We believe that continued investment in research and development is critical to expanding our leadership position within the cloud-based business
communications, collaboration, and contact center solutions market and is a key element of our culture. We devote the majority of our research and development
resources to software development. Our engineering team has relevant industry experience in various disciplines related to our platform, such as voice, video, events,
text, team messaging and collaboration, mobile application development, IP networking and infrastructure, contact center, digital customer engagement, user
experience, security, and robust multi-tenant cloud-based system architecture.

Our development methodology, in combination with our software-as-a-service (“SaaS”) delivery model, allows us to provide new and enhanced capabilities
on a regular basis. Based on feedback from our customers and prospects and our review of the broader business communications and SaaS markets, we continuously
develop new functionality while maintaining and enhancing our existing solutions. We typically have multiple releases per year, where we constantly improve our
solutions and introduce new capabilities and features to make our customers’ workforce more productive and to build out the feature set required by larger and global
enterprises.
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As part of our strategy to expand our technological capabilities, we engage in strategic transactions from time to time. Such strategic acquisitions enable us
to complement our technology and skill sets and expand our solution reach.

Technology and Operations

Our platforms are hosted both in private and public clouds. Our private clouds are built on a highly scalable and flexible infrastructure comprised of
commercially available hardware and software components. Our public clouds are built on a scalable platform that allows us to leverage shared components and
services, enabling us to rapidly develop new features and functionalities on our existing platform without re-architecting the infrastructure to achieve geographical
redundancy and high availability. We believe that both hardware and software components of our platform can be replaced, upgraded or added with minimal or no
interruption in service. The system is designed to be redundant. We also utilize Amazon’s and Google's public cloud services, and for the foreseeable future, we
expect to increase our utilization of such services.

Our private cloud is served from multiple data centers and third-party co-location facilities located in several cities in the United States and throughout the
world. Our data centers are designed to host mission-critical computer and communications systems with redundant, fault-tolerant subsystems, and
compartmentalized security zones. We maintain a security program designed to ensure the security and integrity of customer data, protect against security threats or
data breaches, and prevent unauthorized access to our customers’ data. We limit access to on-demand servers and networks at our production and remote backup
facilities.

Intellectual Property

We rely on a combination of patent, copyright, and trade secret laws in the U.S. and other jurisdictions, as well as license agreements and other contractual
protections, to protect our proprietary technology. We also rely on a number of registered and unregistered trademarks to protect our brand. In addition, we seek to
protect our intellectual property rights by implementing a policy that requires our employees and independent contractors involved in the development of intellectual
property on our behalf to enter into agreements acknowledging that all works or other intellectual property generated or conceived by them on our behalf are our
property, and assigning to us any rights, including intellectual property rights, that they may claim or otherwise have in those works or property, to the extent
allowable under applicable law.

Our worldwide intellectual property portfolio includes 478 issued patents, which expire between 2025 and 2042, and 99 patent applications, pending
examination in the U.S. and in foreign jurisdictions, all of which are related to U.S. applications. In general, our patents and patent applications apply to certain
aspects of our SaaS and mobile applications and underlying communications infrastructure. We are also a party to various license agreements with third parties that
typically grant us the right to use certain third-party technology in conjunction with our solutions and subscriptions. In the future, we may “prune” our patent
portfolio by not continuing to renew some of our patents in some jurisdictions or may decide to divest some of our patents.

Competition

The market for business communications and collaboration solutions is very large, rapidly evolving, complex, fragmented and defined by changing
technology, and customer needs. We expect competition to continue to increase in the future. We believe that the principal competitive factors in our market include:

. product features and capabilities;

. system reliability, availability, and performance;

. speed and ease of activation, setup, and configuration;
. ownership and control of the underlying technology;

. open platform;

. generative Al;

. incumbency;

. integration with mobile devices;

. brand awareness and recognition;

. simplicity of the pricing model; and
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. total cost of ownership.
We believe that we generally compete favorably on the basis of the factors listed above.

We face competition from a broad range of providers of business communications and collaboration solutions. Some of these competitors include:

. traditional on-premise, hardware business communications providers such as Alcatel-Lucent Enterprise, Avaya LLC, Cisco Systems, Inc., Mitel
Networks Corporation, NEC Corporation, and Siemens Enterprise Networks, LLC, any of which may now or in the future also host their solutions
through the cloud;

. software providers such as Microsoft Corporation, Zoom Communications, Inc. and Cisco Systems, Inc. that generally license and/or host their
software solutions, and their resellers including major global service providers and cable companies;

. established business communications providers that resell on-premise hardware, software, and hosted solutions, such as Comcast, TMU, Orange,
and others, all of whom currently have significantly greater resources than us and now or in the future also may develop and/or host their own or
other solutions through the cloud;

. other cloud companies such as 8x8, Inc., Amazon.com, Inc., DialPad, Inc., GoTo, Microsoft Corporation, Nextiva, Inc., Twilio Inc., Vonage
Holdings Corp. (acquired by Ericsson), Alianza, Inc., and Zoom Communications, Inc.;

. video meeting and collaboration service providers such as Amazon.com, Inc., Apple Inc., Alphabet Inc. (Google G-Suite and Meet), Meta
Platforms, Inc., Microsoft Teams, Slack Technologies, Inc. (acquired by Salesforce.com, Inc.), and Zoom Communications, Inc.;

. other technology companies such as Alphabet Inc. (Google Voice), Meta Platforms, Inc., Oracle Corporation, and Salesforce.com, Inc., any of
which might launch its own cloud-based business communication services or acquire other cloud-based business communications companies in the
future;

. providers of communications platform as a service solutions and messaging software platforms with APIs such as Twilio Inc., Vonage Holdings

Corp. (acquired by Ericsson), and Slack Technologies, Inc. (acquired by Salesforce.com, Inc.), on which customers can build diverse solutions by
integrating cloud communications into business applications;

. contact center and customer relationship management providers such as Amazon.com, Inc., Alvaria, Inc., Avaya LLC, Five9, Inc., NICE Ltd.
(including LiveVox Holdings, Inc.), Genesys Telecommunications Laboratories, Inc., Serenova, LLC (acquired by Enghouse Systems Ltd.),
Talkdesk, Inc., Vonage Holdings Corp. (acquired by Ericsson), Salesforce.com, Inc., Twilio Inc., and Zoom Communications, Inc.; and

. digital engagement vendors such as eGain Corporation, LivePerson, Inc., among others named above that may offer similar features.

Employees and Human Capital

We believe that our culture and our workforce are critically important to our success. Our human capital resources objectives include identifying, recruiting,
retaining, incentivizing and integrating our existing and new employees, advisors and consultants. We continuously invest in our global workforce by seeking to
create a diverse, inclusive, and safe work environment where our employees can learn, innovate, and deliver their best. We are committed to being inclusive to enable
our workforce and customers to succeed.

We invest in developing our talent and creating a superior employee experience. We believe that a highly engaged workforce will continue to drive
RingCentral’s competitive advantage as an innovative company and will also keep RingCentral as an employer of choice. We believe that our approach to talent
development and innovation enables our team members to grow in their current positions and build new skills. We provide learning courses across a broad range of
categories such as leadership, inclusion and diversity, and technical and compliance, among others. We have periodic employee surveys that allow employees to
voice their perceptions of the Company and their work experience.

We face competition for highly skilled and technical workforce with experience in our industry and locations where we maintain offices. We strive to
provide competitive pay, benefits, and services to attract and retain our employees. Our equity and cash incentive plans are designed to attract, retain and reward
employees, in order to increase stockholder value and to
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enable the success of our Company by motivating such individuals to perform to the best of their abilities and share in the value creation process. We also provide
access to a variety of flexible health and wellness programs to our employees.

As of December 31, 2024, we had 4,260 full-time employees and 3,140 contractors located in over 29 countries. As of December 31, 2024, approximately
72% of our personnel were located outside of the United States. Our geographic diversification enhances our ability to retain and attract highly skilled talent, have an
employee base across the globe to be closer to our customers, as well as manage our headcount costs.

In certain countries in which we operate, we are subject to, and comply with, local labor law requirements, which may automatically make our employees
subject to industry-wide collective bargaining agreements. For instance, some of our European employees are covered by collective bargaining agreements. We
believe that our employee relations are good, and we have never experienced any work stoppages.

Regulatory

As a provider of communication services over the Internet, we are subject to regulation in the U.S. by the FCC. Some of these regulatory obligations include
contributing to the Federal Universal Service Fund, Telecommunications Relay Service Fund, and federal programs related to phone number administration;
providing access to E-911 services; protecting customer information; complying with caller ID authentication and anti-robocall measures; and porting phone numbers
upon a valid customer request. We are also required to pay state and local 911 fees and contribute to state universal service funds in those states that assess
interconnected Voice over Internet Protocol (“VoIP”) services. In addition, we have certified a wholly owned subsidiary as a competitive local exchange carrier in
thirty states and the District of Columbia, and registered as an IP-enabled Service Provider in an additional eleven states. This subsidiary, RCLEC, is subject to the
same FCC regulations applicable to telecommunications companies, as well as regulation by the public utility commissions in states where the subsidiary provides
services. Specific regulations vary on a state-by-state basis, but generally include the requirement for our subsidiary to register or seek certification to provide its
services, to file and update tariffs setting forth the terms, conditions and prices for our intrastate services and to comply with various reporting, record-keeping,
surcharge collection, and consumer protection requirements.

As we have expanded internationally, we have become subject to laws and regulations in the countries in which we offer our subscriptions. Regulatory
treatment of communications services over the Internet outside the U.S. varies from country to country, and may be more onerous than imposed on our subscriptions
in the U.S. In the United Kingdom, for example, our subscriptions are regulated by Ofcom, which, among other things, requires electronic communications services
providers such as our company to provide all users access to both 112 (EU-mandated) and 999 (U.K.-mandated) emergency service numbers at no charge. Similarly,
in Canada, our subscriptions are regulated by the CRTC, which, among other things, imposes requirements like those in the U.S. related to the provision of E-911
services, in all areas of Canada where the wireline incumbent carrier offers such 911 services. Countries across Europe have now implemented the EU Electronic
Communications Code, clarifying and updating obligations on PSTN-connected voice service providers as well as imposing new requirements on number-
independent services such as videoconferencing and team messaging. Additionally, the French regulatory agency, ARCEP, has made major changes to its telephone
numbering plan that went into effect in January 2023, allowing for greater nomadic use of services like ours, and prohibiting the sub-assignment of phone numbers to
resellers, requiring each provider to obtain numbers directly from ARCEP. Our regulatory obligations in foreign jurisdictions could have a material adverse effect on
the use of our subscriptions in international locations.

In the course of providing our services, we collect, store, and process many types of data, including personal data. Moreover, our customers can use our
subscriptions to store contact and other personal or identifying information, and to process, transmit, receive, store, and retrieve a variety of communications and
messages, including information about their own customers and other contacts. Customers are able, and may be authorized under certain circumstances, to use our
subscriptions to transmit, receive, and/or store personal information.

There are a number of federal, state, local, and foreign laws and regulations, such as the European Union’s General Data Protection Regulation (“GDPR”),
the California Consumer Privacy Act (“CCPA”), the California Privacy Rights Act (“CPRA”), which extended the CCPA, and numerous other state privacy laws
imposing obligations and restrictions similar to the CCPA as well as contractual obligations and industry standards, that provide for certain obligations and
restrictions with respect to data privacy and security, and the collection, storage, retention, protection, use, processing, transmission, sharing, disclosure, and
protection of personal information and other customer data. We expect that with the expansion of our Global RingEX solution and sales of our services into new
countries, we will become subject to additional data privacy regulations in
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other countries throughout the world. The scope of these obligations and restrictions is changing, subject to differing interpretations, and may be inconsistent among
countries or conflict with other rules, and their status remains uncertain.

As Internet commerce and communication technologies continue to evolve, thereby increasing online service providers’ and network users’ capacity to
collect, store, retain, protect, use, process, and transmit large volumes of personal information, increasingly restrictive regulation by federal, state, or foreign agencies
becomes more likely.

Regulations that do not directly apply to our business, but which do apply to our customers and partners, can also impact our business. As we expand our
business, addressing customer and partner requirements in new jurisdictions and new verticals often requires investment on our part to address regulations that apply
to our customers. Globally, these regulations continue to be introduced and to change over time. Such regulations can impact our ability to offer services to various
customer markets, and our cost to deliver our services.

See the section entitled “Risk Factors” for more information.

Available Information

We make available our Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K and amendments to those reports
filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or Section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, free of charge on our website (ir.ringcentral.com),
as soon as reasonably practicable after they are electronically filed with or furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission, or the “SEC”. In addition, the SEC
maintains an internet site that contains reports, proxy and information statements, and other information regarding issuers that file electronically with the SEC at
WWW.SEC.ZOV.

We announce material information to the public about our company, our solutions and services and other matters through a variety of means, including our
website (www.ringcentral.com), the investor relations section of our website (ir.ringcentral.com), press releases, filings with the SEC, and public conference calls, in
order to achieve broad, non-exclusionary distribution of information to the public. We encourage investors and others to review the information we make public in
these locations, as such information could be deemed to be material information. Please note that this list may be updated from time to time.
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

This Report contains forward-looking statements that are subject to risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from those
projected. These risks and uncertainties include, but are not limited to, the risk factors set forth below. The risks and uncertainties described in this Report are not the
only ones we face. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to us or that we currently believe are immaterial may also affect our business. See the
section entitled “Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements” of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for a discussion of the forward-looking statements that
are qualified by these risk factors. If any of these known or unknown risks or uncertainties actually occurs and have a material adverse effect on us, our business,
financial condition and results of operations could be seriously harmed.

Summary Risk Factors

An investment in our Class A Common Stock involves a high degree of risk, and the following is a summary of key risk factors when considering an
investment. This is only a summary. You should read this summary together with the more detailed description of each risk factor contained in the subheadings
further below and other risks.

We have incurred significant losses and negative cash flows in the past and we may not be able to achieve or sustain profitability in the future.

Our quarterly and annual results of operations have fluctuated in the past and may continue to do so in the future. As a result, we may fail to meet or
to exceed the expectations of research analysts or investors, which could cause our stock price to fluctuate.

If we are unable to develop, license, or acquire new services or applications on a timely and cost-effective basis, our business, financial condition, and
results of operations may be materially and adversely affected.

If we are unable to attract new customers to our subscriptions or upsell to those customers on a cost-effective basis, our business will be materially
and adversely affected.

We rely and may in the future rely significantly on our channel partners and global service providers to market and sell our subscriptions; our failure
to effectively develop, manage, and maintain our indirect sales channels could materially and adversely affect our revenues.

Increased customer turnover, or costs we incur to retain and upsell our customers, could materially and adversely affect our financial performance.
Economic and political conditions may harm our industry, business and results of operations.
We face intense competition in our markets and may lack sufficient financial or other resources to compete successfully.

We face significant risks in our efforts to sell and market to medium-sized and larger businesses for sales of our subscriptions and, if we do not
manage these efforts effectively, our business and results of operations could be materially and adversely affected.

If we fail to continue to develop our brand or our reputation is harmed, our business may suffer.

We depend largely on the continued services of our senior management and other highly-skilled employees, and if we are unable to hire, retain,
manage and motivate our employees, we may not be able to grow effectively and our business, results of operations and financial condition could be
adversely affected.

We may expand through acquisitions of and investments in other companies, each of which may divert our management’s attention, result in
additional dilution to our stockholders, increase expenses, disrupt our operations, and harm our results of operations.

Interruptions or delays in service whether caused by our third-party data center hosting facilities, other third-party providers, internal process failures,
human errors, internal bugs or otherwise could impair the delivery of our subscriptions, require us to issue credits or pay penalties and harm our
business.

A security incident, such as a cyber-attack, information security breach, or denial of service event could delay or interrupt service to our customers,
harm our reputation or business, impact our subscriptions, and subject us to significant liability.

The Al technology and features incorporated into our solutions include new and evolving technologies that may present both legal and business risks.
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. We rely on third-party vendors and competitors to deliver video, contact center and SMS services to customers, and changes in these relationships
could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

. Our subscriptions are subject to regulation, and future legislative or regulatory actions could adversely affect our business and expose us to liability in
the U.S. and internationally.

. We may require additional capital or need to restructure our existing debt to pursue our business objectives and to respond to business opportunities,
challenges or unforeseen circumstances. If capital is not available to us, our business, results of operations, and financial condition may be adversely
affected.

. Servicing our debt, including the Notes and Credit Agreement, may require a significant amount of cash, and we may not have sufficient cash flow

from our business or the ability to raise the funds necessary to settle conversions of the Convertible Notes in cash, repurchases of the Notes as
required following a fundamental change or change of control, as applicable, or to repay all of our indebtedness at maturity.

. Our Credit Agreement imposes operating and financial restrictions on us.

. The capped call transactions may affect the value of the 2026 Convertible Notes and our Class A Common Stock and we are subject to counterparty
risk.

. For as long as the dual class structure of our common stock as contained in our charter documents is in effect, voting control will be concentrated with

a limited number of stockholders that held our stock prior to our initial public offering, including primarily our founders and their affiliates, and
limiting other stockholders’ ability to influence corporate matters.

. Our Series A Convertible Preferred Stock has certain rights that are preferential to the rights of our common stock, which could adversely affect our
liquidity and financial condition.

Risks Related to Our Business and Our Industry
We have incurred significant losses and negative cash flows in the past and we may not be able to achieve or sustain profitability in the future.

We have incurred substantial net losses since our inception. We have historically spent and expect to continue to spend considerable amounts of time and
money to develop new business communications solutions and enhanced versions of our existing business communications solutions to position us for future growth.
Additionally, we have incurred substantial losses and expended significant resources upfront to market, promote and sell our solutions and expect to continue to do so
in the future. We also expect to continue to invest for future growth, including for advertising, customer acquisition, technology infrastructure, storage capacity,
services development, regulatory compliance, and international expansion. In addition, as a public company, we incur significant accounting, legal, and other
expenses.

In order to achieve net income in the future, we will need to do one or more of the following: increase our revenues , manage our cost structure, and/or avoid
significant liabilities. Revenue growth has slowed and in the future, revenues may decline, or we may incur significant losses for a number of possible reasons,
including general macroeconomic conditions, increasing competition (including competitive pricing pressures), a decrease in customer demand or the growth of the
markets in which we compete, in particular the UCaaS, CCaaS and software-as-a-service (“SaaS”) markets, shifts in our product mix, or if we fail for any reason to
continue to capitalize on growth opportunities, including those related to our Al-based initiatives. For example, as we prioritize our RingCX solution, we expect a
near-term headwind to revenue growth but higher profitability in the future. Additionally, we may encounter unforeseen operating expenses, difficulties,
complications, delays, service delivery, and quality problems and other unknown factors that may result in losses in future periods. If these losses exceed our
expectations or our revenue growth expectations are not met in future periods, our financial performance will be harmed and our stock price could be volatile or
decline.

Our quarterly and annual results of operations have fluctuated in the past and may continue to do so in the future. As a result, we may fail to meet or to exceed
the expectations of research analysts or investors, which could cause our stock price to fluctuate.

Our quarterly and annual results of operations have varied historically from period to period, and we expect that they will continue to fluctuate due to a
variety of factors, many of which are outside of our control, including:
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. our ability to expand and retain existing customers, resellers, partners, and global service providers ("GSPs"), and expand our existing customers’ user
base, and attract new customers;

. our ability to realize the benefits of our existing strategic partnerships, GSP relationships, and other strategic and GSP relationships that we may enter
into in the future;

. our ability to introduce and effectively market and sell new solutions, including both solutions that we develop or license, and solutions we purchase
for resale from third parties;

. the actions of our competitors, including pricing changes or the introduction of new solutions;

. our ability to effectively manage our growth, achieve net income profitability, and generate and grow our GAAP operating cash flow and non-GAAP
free cash flow;

. our ability to successfully penetrate the market for larger businesses and key verticals;

. our ability to upsell our customers to our existing and new products and services;

. our ability to limit and manage down sell and churn;

. our dependency on third-party vendors and competitors of Al, hardware, software and services that we resell to our customers, in particular, NICE
Ltd. and Zoom Communications, Inc., and our ability to effectively offer customers an alternate solution;

. the mix of monthly, annual and multi-year subscriptions at any given time;

. the timing, cost, and effectiveness of our advertising and marketing efforts;

. the timing, operating cost, and capital expenditures related to the operation, maintenance and expansion of our business;

. our ability to execute our operating plans successfully while reducing costs and optimizing operating margin;

. our ability to accurately forecast revenues and appropriately plan our expenses;

. our ability to successfully and timely execute on, integrate, and realize the benefits of any acquisition, investment, strategic partnership, or other

strategic transaction we may make or undertake;

. service outages or actual or perceived information security breaches or incidents caused by us or the third parties upon which we rely and any related
impact on our reputation;

. our ability to realize our deferred tax assets;

. costs associated with defending and resolving intellectual property infringement and other claims;

. changes in tax laws, regulations, or accounting rules;

. our ability to effectively manage and repay our existing and any future debt;

. our ability to repurchase shares of Class A Common Stock;

. the retention of our senior management and other key employees, their ability to execute on our business plan and the loss of services of senior
management or other key employees, whether in the past or in the future;

. the impact of foreign currencies on our business as we continue to expand our business internationally; and

. the impact of worldwide economic, political, industry, and market conditions, including the ongoing conflicts in the Middle East, any potential

worsening or expansion of these or other conflicts and wars, and U.S.-China relations.

Any one of the factors above, or the cumulative effect of some or all of the factors referred to above, may result in significant fluctuations in our quarterly
and annual results of operations. This variability and unpredictability could result in our failure to meet our publicly announced guidance or the expectations of
securities analysts or investors for any period, which could cause our stock price to decline. In addition, a significant percentage of our operating expenses is fixed in
nature and is based on forecasted revenues trends. Accordingly, in the event of revenue shortfalls, we may not be able to mitigate the negative impact on net income
(loss) and margins in the short term. If we fail to meet or exceed the expectations of research analysts or investors, the market price of our shares could fall
substantially, and we could face costly lawsuits, including securities class-action suits.
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If we are unable to develop, license, or acquire new services or applications on a timely and cost-effective basis, our business, financial condition, and results of
operations may be materially and adversely affected.

The cloud-based business communications industry is characterized by rapid development of and changes in customer requirements, frequent introductions
of new and enhanced services, and continuing and rapid technological advancement. We cannot predict the effect of technological changes or the introduction of new,
disruptive technologies on our business, and the market for cloud-based business communications may develop in a manner different than we expect, and our
solutions could fail to achieve market acceptance. Our continued growth depends on continued use of voice, video communications, messaging and contact center
solutions by businesses, as compared to email and other data-based methods. In addition, to compete successfully, we must anticipate and adapt to technological
changes and evolving industry standards, and continue to design, develop, manufacture, and sell new and enhanced services that provide increasingly higher levels of
performance and reliability. Currently, we derive a majority of our revenues from subscriptions to RingEX (formerly RingCentral MVP), and we expect this will
continue for the foreseeable future. However, our future success may also depend on our ability to introduce and sell new services, features, and functionality, such as
RingCX, RingSense and RingCentral Events that enhance or are beyond the subscriptions we currently offer, as well as to improve usability and support and increase
customer satisfaction. For example, we and our peers and competitors continue to invest significantly in Al (including machine learning and large language models).
There are significant risks involved in deploying Al and there can be no assurance that using Al in our platforms and products, such as our Al-powered product,
RingSense, will enhance or be beneficial to our business,. Our failure to develop solutions that satisfy customer preferences in a timely and cost-effective manner
may harm our ability to compete effectively, renew our subscriptions with existing customers, increase our subscription revenues from our existing customers, and
create or increase demand for our subscriptions and may materially and adversely impact our results of operations.

The introduction of new services by competitors, including those that incorporate Al and machine learning, or the development of entirely new technologies
to replace existing offerings could make our solutions outdated, obsolete or adversely affect our business and results of operations. Announcements of future releases
and new services and technologies by our competitors or us could cause customers to defer purchases of our existing subscriptions, which also could have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations. We may experience difficulties with software development, operations, design, or
marketing that could delay or prevent our development, introduction, or implementation of new or enhanced services and applications. We have in the past
experienced delays in the planned release dates of new features and upgrades and have discovered defects in new services and applications after their introduction.
We cannot assure you that new features or upgrades will be released according to schedule, or that, when released, they will not contain defects or bugs. Either of
these situations could result in adverse publicity, loss of revenues, delay in market acceptance, or claims by customers brought against us, all of which could harm our
reputation, business, results of operations, and financial condition. Moreover, the development of new or enhanced services or applications will require substantial
investment, and we must continue to invest a significant amount of resources in our research and development efforts to develop these services and applications to
remain competitive. We do not know whether these investments will be successful. If customers do not widely adopt any new or enhanced services and applications,
we may not be able to realize a return on our investment. If we are unable to develop, license, or acquire new or enhanced services and applications on a timely and
cost-effective basis, or if such new or enhanced services and applications do not achieve market acceptance, our business, financial condition, and results of
operations may be materially and adversely affected.

If we are unable to attract new customers to our subscriptions or upsell to those customers on a cost-effective basis, our business will be materially and adversely
affected.

In order to grow our business, we must continue to attract new customers, retain existing customers, and expand the number of users in, and services
provided to, our existing customer base on a cost-effective basis. Significant increases in the pricing of one or more of our advertising channels would increase our
advertising costs or may cause us to choose less expensive and perhaps less effective channels to promote our services. As we add to or change the mix of our
advertising and marketing strategies, we may need to expand into channels with significantly higher costs than our current programs, which could materially and
adversely affect our results of operations. In addition, a global slowdown of economic activity may disrupt our sales channels and our ability to attract new
customers, which may require us to adjust our advertising and marketing programs or make further investments in these programs. We will incur advertising and
marketing expenses in advance of when we anticipate recognizing any revenues generated by such expenses, and we may fail to otherwise experience an increase in
revenues or brand awareness as a result of such expenditures. We have made in the past, and may make in the future, significant expenditures and investments in new
advertising campaigns, and we cannot assure you that any such investments will lead to the cost-effective acquisition of additional customers. If we are unable to
maintain effective advertising programs, our ability to attract new customers could be materially and adversely affected, our advertising and marketing expenses
could increase substantially, and our results of operations may suffer.
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Some of our potential customers learn about us through leading search engines. While we employ search engine optimization and search engine marketing
strategies, our ability to maintain and increase the number of visitors directed to our website is not entirely within our control. If search engine companies modify
their search algorithms in a manner that reduces the prominence of our listing, or if our competitors’ search engine optimization efforts are more successful than ours,
or if search engine companies restrict or prohibit us from using their services, fewer potential customers may click through to our website. In addition, the cost of
purchased listings has increased in the past and may increase in the future. A decrease in website traffic or an increase in search costs could materially and adversely
affect our customer acquisition efforts and our results of operations.

We rely and may in the future rely significantly on our channel partners and global service providers to market and sell our subscriptions; our failure to
effectively develop, manage, and maintain our indirect sales channels could materially and adversely affect our revenues.

Our future success depends on our continued ability to establish and maintain a network of channel relationships and strategic partnerships, including GSPs.
A substantial portion of our revenues is derived from our network of sales agents, brokers, and resellers, which we refer to collectively as channel partners.
Governmental regulations and contractual restrictions with telecom carriers may also restrict the ability of our channel partners to resell our products and services in
some countries. We generally do not have long-term contracts with these channel partners, and the loss of or reduction in sales through these third parties could
materially reduce our revenues. Our competitors may in some cases be effective in causing our current or potential channel partners to favor their services or prevent
or reduce sales of our subscriptions.

We have also entered into certain agreements with our strategic partners and GSPs to sell and market certain of our solutions. However, there can be no
guarantee that our strategic partners, GSPs and/or any of their respective channel partners will be successful in marketing or selling our solutions or that they will not
cease marketing or selling our solutions in the future. Further, certain strategic partners have failed in the past, and may fail in the future, to meet their minimum
contractual seat and/or revenue commitments, including recoupment of advance payments. We have in the past, and may in the future, renegotiate the terms of our
GSP relationships and strategic partnership agreements, including converting strategic partners from exclusive to non-exclusive partners.

In addition, we are in the process of adjusting our channel partner go-to-market strategy, to better enable a resale/wholesale model, which requires
significant changes to our systems and processes. These system and process changes could result in longer time to implement our strategy which could have an
impact on our revenue.

If we fail to maintain relationships with our channel partners, GSPs and strategic partners or fail to develop new and expanded relationships in existing or
new markets, or if our networks of indirect channel relationships are not successful in their sales efforts, sales of our subscriptions may decrease and our operating
results would suffer. In addition, we may not be successful in managing, training, and providing appropriate incentives to our existing resellers and other channel
partners, GSPs and strategic partners, and they may not be able to commit adequate resources in order to successfully sell our solutions.

Increased customer turnover, or costs we incur to retain and upsell our customers, could materially and adversely affect our financial performance.

Although we have entered into long-term subscription contracts with larger customers, those customers with month to month contracts with us may
terminate their subscriptions at any time without penalty or early termination charges and customers under contract may not renew. We cannot accurately predict the
rate of customer terminations or average monthly subscription cancellations or failures to renew, which we refer to as turnover. Our customers with subscription
agreements have no obligation to renew their subscriptions for our service after the expiration of their initial subscription period, which is typically between one and
three years, and a substantial portion of our large contracts are up for renewal every year. In the event that these customers do renew their subscriptions, they may
choose to renew for fewer users, shorter contract lengths, or for a less expensive subscription plan or edition. We cannot predict the renewal rates or types for
customers that have entered into subscription contracts with us.

Customer turnover, as well as reductions in the number of users or pricing tier(s) for which a customer subscribes, each could have a significant impact on
our results of operations, as does the cost we incur in our efforts to retain our customers and encourage them to renew and upgrade their subscriptions and increase
their number of users. Our turnover rate could increase in the future if customers are not satisfied with our services, including third-party services and products that
we integrate or sell as separate items to our customers, the value proposition of our services, the pricing of our services relative to similar services of our competitors,
the customer support we provide, or our ability to otherwise meet their needs and expectations. Turnover and reductions in the number of users for whom a customer
subscribes may also increase due to factors
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beyond our control, including the failure or unwillingness of customers to pay their monthly subscription fees due to financial constraints. In addition, the impact of
global economic conditions, including concerns about heightened inflation, fluctuating interest rates, and any economic downturn, could cause financial hardship for
our customers, decrease technology spending, materially and negatively impact our customers’ willingness to enter into or renew subscriptions with us, cause our
customers to seek a decrease in the number of users or solutions for which they subscribe, or impact our ability to collect, in a timely manner, monies due from the
customer. For example, to address customer hardships, we may work with customers to provide greater flexibility to manage challenges they are facing in their own
businesses, but we cannot be assured that they will not reduce their number of users or terminate their subscriptions altogether. Due to turnover and reductions in the
number of users for whom a customer subscribes, we must acquire new customers, or acquire new users within our existing customer base, on an ongoing basis
simply to maintain our existing level of customers and revenues. If a significant number of customers terminate, reduce, or fail to renew their subscriptions, or do not
pay their subscription fees, we may be required to incur significantly higher marketing and/or sales expenditures than we currently anticipate in order to compensate
for this higher turnover by increasing the number of new customers or upselling existing customers, and such additional marketing and/or sales expenditures could
harm our business and results of operations.

Our future success also depends in part on our ability to execute upon our multi-product strategy to sell additional subscriptions and additional
functionalities to our current customers. Any increase in the costs necessary to upgrade, expand and retain existing customers could materially and adversely affect
our financial performance. If our efforts to convince customers to add users and, in the future, to purchase additional functionalities are not successful, our business
may suffer. In addition, such increased costs could cause us to increase our subscription rates, which could increase our turnover rate.

Economic and political conditions may harm our industry, business and results of operations.

The success of our activities is affected by general economic and political conditions, including, among others, inflation rate fluctuations, interest rates,
supply chain constraints, consumer confidence, volatile equity capital markets, tax rates, economic uncertainty, political instability, changes in laws, foreign currency
exchange rates, and trade barriers and sanctions. Such economic volatility could adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash
flows, and future market disruptions could negatively impact us. A significant portion of our revenues comes from small and medium-sized businesses, which have
been, and may continue to be, adversely affected by the macroeconomic conditions and uncertainties to a greater extent than larger enterprises with greater financial
resources. Unfavorable economic conditions could increase our operating costs and, because our typical contracts with customers lock in our price for a few years
and/or may have elasticity clauses, our profitability could be negatively affected. Geopolitical destabilization could impact global currency exchange rates, supply
chains, trade and movement of resources, the price of commodities such as energy, as well as demand for our products and services, which may adversely affect the
technology spending of our customers and potential customers. Geopolitical conflicts, including the effects of the ongoing war between Russia and Ukraine and
related international sanctions against Russia, the ongoing conflicts in the Middle East, any potential worsening or expansion of these conflicts and wars, and U.S.-
China relations, are heightening these risks.

The recent U.S. presidential election could lead to changes in economic conditions or economic uncertainties in the United States and globally. Any such
changes or uncertainties, including in international trade relations, legislation and regulations (including those related to taxation and importation), or economic and
monetary policies, could result in heightened diplomatic tensions or political and civil unrest, among other potential impacts, and have a material adverse effect on
the global economy as a whole and/or our business, or may require us to significantly modify one or more of our current business practices.

Some of our international agreements provide for payment denominated in local currencies, and the majority of our local costs are denominated in local
currencies. Fluctuations in the value of the U.S. dollar versus foreign currencies has in the past, and may in the future, impact our operating results when translated
into U.S. dollars. Thus, our results of operations and cash flows are subject to fluctuations due to changes in foreign currency exchange rates, particularly changes in
the Euro, British Pound Sterling, Bulgarian Lev, Chinese Yuan, Indian Rupee, Canadian Dollar, Australian Dollar, and Singapore Dollar, and may be adversely
affected in the future due to changes in foreign currency exchange rates. Certain changes in exchange rates have and may in the future negatively affect our revenues,
expenses, and other operating results as expressed in U.S. dollars.

We face intense competition in our markets and may lack sufficient financial or other resources to compete successfully.
The cloud-based business communications and collaboration solutions industry is highly competitive. We face intense competition from other providers of

UCaaS, CCaaS, Communications Platform as a Service (“CPaaS”), messaging, video, fax, virtual events, Al (including quality management, sales assistant and other
Al driven functionalities), virtual assistant, work-
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force management/optimization and other communication products and services. Our competitors include traditional on-premises, hardware business
communications providers, cloud, hybrid and hosted communications providers, GSPs and each of their channel partners, resellers, distributors and agents who offer
proprietary or other third-party cloud business communications products and services. As a result, several of the companies with whom we have commercial
relationships, such as our GSPs, OEM resellers, and channel partners, also offer, market and sell competing products and services.

Our competitors include but are not limited to: 8x8, Inc., Dialpad, Inc., LogMeln, Inc., Microsoft Corporation, Nextiva, Inc., Twilio Inc., Ericsson
(“Vonage”), Zoom Communications, Inc., Amazon.com, Inc., AT&T Inc., BT Group plc, TELUS Corporation, Vodafone Group Plc, Deutsche Telekom, Avaya LLC
(“Avaya”), Mitel Networks Corporation (“Mitel”), Cisco Systems, Inc. (“WebEx”), Alphabet Inc. (“Google Voice”), Meta Platforms, Inc., Oracle Corporation, and
Salesforce.com, Inc., Five9, Inc., NICE Ltd. (including LiveVox Holdings, Inc.), Genesys Telecommunications Laboratories, Inc., Talkdesk, Inc., Verint Systems Inc.,
Calabrio, Inc., yellow.ai, ON24, Inc., Cvent Holding Corp., Gong.io Inc., Alianza, Inc., and Outreach Corporation.

Many of our current and potential competitors have longer operating histories, significantly greater resources and/or name recognition, more diversified
offerings, greater international presence, and larger customer bases than we have. As a result, these competitors may have greater credibility with our existing and
potential customers. In addition, certain of our competitors have partnered with, or been acquired by, and may in the future partner with or acquire, other competitors
to offer services, leveraging their collective competitive positions, which makes it more difficult to compete with them and could significantly and adversely affect
our results of operations. Demand for our platform is also sensitive to price. Many factors, including our marketing, user acquisition and technology costs, and our
current and future competitors’ pricing and marketing strategies, can significantly affect our pricing strategies. Our competitors may be able to adopt more aggressive
pricing policies and promotions and devote greater resources to the development, promotion and sale of their services than we can to ours. Some of our competitors
have in the past and may choose in the future to sacrifice revenues and/or profitability to gain market share by offering their services at lower prices or for free, or
offering alternative pricing models, such as “freemium” pricing or free "service credits." Our competitors may also offer bundled service arrangements that provide
more complete service offerings with other functionality that we do not offer (such as broadband), thereby making them more attractive to potential customers despite
the technical merits or advantages of our platform. Competition could result in a decrease to our prices, increase customer acquisition costs, slow our growth,
increase our customer turnover, reduce our sales, or decrease our market share, any or all of which could materially and adversely affect our revenues and growth.

We face significant risks in our efforts to sell and market to medium-sized and larger businesses for sales of our subscriptions and, if we do not manage these
efforts effectively, our business and results of operations could be materially and adversely affected.

As we continue to sell and market to medium-sized and larger businesses, we expect to incur higher costs and longer sales cycles and we may be less
effective at predicting if and when we will complete these sales. In these markets, the decision to purchase our subscriptions generally requires the approval of more
technical personnel and management levels within a potential customer’s organization, and therefore, these types of sales require us to invest more time educating
these potential customers about the benefits of our subscriptions. In addition, larger customers may demand more features, integration services, customization, more
complex contract negotiations, and may require highly skilled sales and support personnel. Our investment in marketing our subscriptions to these potential
customers may not be successful, which could significantly and adversely affect our results of operations and our overall ability to grow our customer base.
Furthermore, many medium-sized and larger businesses that we sell and market to may already purchase business communications solutions from our larger
competitors or, due to economic conditions or otherwise, reduce their technology spending or reduce the number of new employees for whom they purchase our
solutions or reduce the number of existing employees using our solution (i.e., down-sell). As a result of these factors, these medium and large sales opportunities may
require us to devote greater research and development resources and sales support to individual customers, and invest in hiring and retaining highly skilled personnel,
resulting in increased costs and could likely lengthen our typical sales cycle, which could strain our sales and support resources. Moreover, these larger transactions
may require us to delay recognizing the associated revenues we derive from these customers until any technical or implementation requirements have been met.

If we fail to continue to develop our brand or our reputation is harmed, our business may suffer.
We believe that continuing to strengthen our current brand will be critical to achieving widespread acceptance of our subscriptions and will require
continued focus on active marketing efforts. The demand for and cost of online and traditional advertising has been increasing and may continue to increase.

Accordingly, we may need to increase our investment in, and devote greater resources to, advertising, marketing, and other efforts to create and maintain brand
loyalty among users. Brand promotion activities may not yield increased revenues, and even if they do, any increased revenues may not offset the expenses
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incurred in building our brand. In addition, if we do not handle customer complaints effectively, our brand and reputation may suffer, we may lose our customers’
confidence, and they may choose to terminate, reduce or not to renew their subscriptions. Many of our customers also participate in social media and online blogs
about Internet-based software solutions, including our subscriptions, and our success depends in part on our ability to minimize negative and generate positive
customer feedback through such online channels where existing and potential customers seek and share information. If we fail to sufficiently invest in, promote and
maintain our brand, our business could be materially and adversely affected.

We depend largely on the continued services of our senior management and other highly-skilled employees, and if we are unable to hire, retain, manage and
motivate our employees, we may not be able to grow effectively and our business, results of operations and financial condition could be adversely affected.

Our future performance depends on the continued services and contributions of our senior management and other key employees to execute on our business
plan, and to identify and pursue opportunities and services innovations. The loss of services of senior management or other key employees, whether in the past or in
the future, could significantly delay or prevent the achievement of our business, financial, developmental and strategic objectives. In particular, we depend to a
considerable degree on the vision, skills, experience, and effort of our co-founder, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, Vladimir Shmunis, who has provided our
strategic direction for over 20 years and has built and maintained what we believe is an attractive workplace culture. Any future changes resulting from the hiring or
departure of executives could disrupt our business and could impact our ability to preserve our culture, which could negatively affect our ability to recruit and retain
personnel. None of our executive officers or other senior management personnel is bound by a written employment agreement and any of them may therefore
terminate employment with us at any time with limited or no advance notice. The replacement of any current or future senior management personnel could involve
significant time and costs, and any such loss could significantly delay or prevent the achievement of our business objectives.

Our future success also depends on our ability to continue to attract and retain highly skilled personnel. Despite many recent layoffs in the technology
industry and at the company, we believe that there is, and will continue to be, intense competition for highly skilled technical and other personnel with experience in
our industry in the San Francisco Bay Area, where our headquarters is located, in Denver, Colorado, where we have an office where a significant portion of our U.S.
sales and customer support office and our network operations center is located, and in other locations where we have employees. In addition, changes to U.S.
immigration policies, particularly to H-1B and other visa programs, and restrictions on travel could restrain the flow of technical and professional talent into the U.S.
and may inhibit our ability to hire qualified personnel. Similar risks exist with respect to immigration regulations in other countries where we operate, may operate in
the future or have employees or contractors. We must provide competitive compensation packages and a high-quality work environment to hire, retain, and motivate
employees. If we are unable to retain and motivate our existing employees and attract qualified personnel to fill key positions, we may be unable to manage our
business effectively, including the development, marketing, and sale of existing and new subscriptions, which could have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition, and results of operations. To the extent we hire personnel from competitors, we may be subject to allegations that they have been improperly
solicited or divulged proprietary or other confidential information. Volatility in, or lack of performance of, our stock price may also affect our ability to attract and
retain key personnel.

We may expand through acquisitions of and investments in other companies, each of which may divert our management’s attention, result in additional dilution
to our stockholders, increase expenses, disrupt our operations, and harm our results of operations.

Our business strategy may, from time to time, include acquiring or investing in new or complementary services, technologies or businesses, strategic
investments and partnerships, or other strategic transactions. We cannot assure you that we will successfully identify suitable acquisition candidates or transaction
counterparties, securely or effectively integrate or manage disparate technologies, lines of business, personnel and corporate cultures, realize our business strategy or
the expected return on our investment, including recoupment or write-down of our investments in the partnership, or manage a geographically dispersed company.
Any such acquisition, investment, strategic partnership, or other strategic transaction could materially and adversely affect our results of operations. The process of
negotiating, effecting, and realizing the benefits from acquisitions, investments, strategic partnerships, and strategic transactions is complex, expensive and time-
consuming, and may cause an interruption of, or loss of momentum in, development and sales activities and operations of both companies, and we may incur
substantial cost and expense, as well as divert the attention of management. Our inability to successfully acquire and, thereafter, operate and integrate newly acquired
businesses or newly formed strategic partnerships appropriately, effectively, and in a timely manner could impair our ability to take advantage of future growth
opportunities and other advances in technology, as well as our revenues and gross margins.
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Acquisitions, investments, strategic partnerships, and other strategic transactions involve additional significant risks and uncertainties, including:

. unanticipated costs;

. difficulties in maintaining and effectively servicing the customers acquired in the transaction;

. the potential loss of key employees of any acquired businesses;

. the potential adverse effect on our cash position to the extent that we use cash for some or all of the transaction consideration;

. the potential significant increase of our interest expense, leverage, and debt service requirements if we incur additional debt to pay for an acquisition,

investment, strategic partnership, or other strategic transaction;

. the potential issuance of securities that would dilute our stockholders’ percentage ownership;

. the potential to incur large and immediate write-offs and restructuring and other related expenses;

. the assumption of contingent or other liabilities;

. the potential liability or expenses associated with new types of data stored, existing security obligations or liabilities, unknown weaknesses in our
solutions, insufficient security measures in place, and compromise of our networks via access to our systems from assets not previously under our
control,

. the inability to maintain uniform standards, controls, policies, and procedures;

. the inability to set up the necessary processes and systems to efficiently operate our partnerships and GSP relationships; and

. general technology, people and go-to-market integration risks.

Our inability to manage any of these risks successfully could harm our operations and our overall business.

Interruptions or delays in service whether caused by our third-party data center hosting facilities, other third-party providers, internal process failures, human
errors, internal bugs or otherwise could impair the delivery of our subscriptions, require us to issue credits or pay penalties and harm our business.

We currently serve our North American customers from geographically disparate data center hosting facilities in North America, where we lease space from
Equinix, Inc., and other providers, and we serve our European customers from third-party data center hosting facilities in Europe. We also use third-party co-location
facilities located in various international regions to serve our customers in these regions. Certain of our solutions are hosted by third-party data center facilities
including Amazon Web Services, Inc. (“AWS”) and Google Cloud Platform. Damage to, or failure of, these facilities, the communications network providers with
whom we or they contract, or with the systems by which our communications providers allocate capacity among their customers, including us, or software errors,
have in the past and could in the future result in interruptions in our services. Additionally, in connection with the addition of new data centers or expansion or
consolidation of our existing data center facilities, we may move or transfer our data and our customers’ data to other data centers. Despite precautions that we take
during this process, any unsuccessful data transfers may impair or cause disruptions in the delivery of our subscriptions. We also resell third-party products and
services, in particular, solutions from NICE Ltd. and Zoom Communications, Inc. and, any interruptions of their service may impact our customers. In addition, our
services may have or be prone to errors, defects or bugs that could result in unanticipated interruptions of service. For example, in January 2025, we experienced an
interruption in service due to an internal system error that impacted our customers for a limited number of hours, and we may in the future experience interruptions
that impact our customers. Interruptions in our subscriptions may reduce our revenues, may require us to issue credits or pay penalties, subject us to claims and
litigation, cause customers to terminate their subscriptions and adversely affect our renewal rates and our ability to attract new and retain existing customers. Our
ability to attract and retain customers depends on our ability to provide customers with a highly reliable subscription and even minor interruptions in our
subscriptions could harm our brand and reputation and have a material adverse effect on our business.

As part of our current disaster recovery arrangements, our North American, European, and Asia Pacific infrastructure and our North American, European,
and Asia Pacific customers’ data is currently replicated in near real-time at data center facilities in the U.S., Europe, and Asia Pacific, respectively. We do not control
the operation of these facilities or of our other data center facilities, and they are vulnerable to damage or interruption from natural disasters, floods, fires, public
health crises, power loss, telecommunications failures, and similar events. They may also be subject to human error, break-ins, sabotage, acts of vandalism,
cybersecurity incidents, including ransomware or denial-of-service attacks, an act of terrorism and similar misconduct. Even with the disaster recovery arrangements
in place, our subscriptions could be interrupted.
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We may also be required to transfer our servers to new data center facilities in the event that we are unable to renew our leases on acceptable terms, if at all,
or the owners of the facilities decide to close their facilities, and we may incur significant costs and possible subscription interruption in connection with doing so. In
addition, any financial difficulties, such as bankruptcy or foreclosure, faced by our third-party data center operators, or any of the service providers with which we or
they contract may have negative effects on our business, the nature and extent of which are difficult to predict. Additionally, if our data centers are unable to keep up
with our increasing needs for capacity, our ability to grow our business could be materially and adversely impacted.

A security incident, such as a cyber-attack, information security breach, or denial of service event, could delay or interrupt service to our customers, harm our
reputation or business, impact our subscriptions, and subject us to significant liability.

Our operations depend on our ability to protect our production and corporate information technology services from interruption or damage from various
threats, including cyber-attacks, denial-of-service events and other system and network disruptions, social engineering, unauthorized entry, insider threats, rogue
employees or contractors, computer malware or other means of causing security breaches or incidents. Although we require our employees to undertake privacy and
cybersecurity training, we have from time to time been subject to communications fraud, social engineering tactics, cyber-attacks by malicious actors, and denial of
service and other disruptive events, and we may be subject to similar attacks in the future, particularly as the frequency and sophistication of cyber-attacks increases.
We cannot assure you that our backup systems, regular data backups, security controls, personnel training, and other procedures currently in place, or that may be in
place in the future, will prevent significant damage, system failure, service outages, data incidents, data loss, unauthorized access, loss of use, interruption, or
increased charges from our technology vendors.

The amount of data we store for our customers and users increases as our business grows. We host services, which includes hosting customer data, in co-
located data centers and in multiple public cloud services. Our solutions allow users to store files, tasks, calendar events, messages and other data on our services
indefinitely or as may be directed by our customers, at least until termination of the agreement. We also maintain sensitive data related to our technology and
business, and that of our employees, strategic partners, GSPs, channel partners, and customers, including intellectual property, proprietary business information and
personal information (also called personal data) on our own systems and in multiple vendors’ cloud services. As a result of maintaining larger volumes of data and
user files and/or as a result of our continued movement up market, or movement into new customer markets and acquisition of larger and more recognized customers,
we may become more of a target for hackers, nation states, and other malicious actors.

In addition, we use third-party vendors who, in some cases, have access to our data and our employees’, partners’, and customers’ data. We employ layered
security measures and have a means of working with third parties who report vulnerabilities to us. Despite the implementation of security measures by us or our
vendors, our computing devices, infrastructure, or networks, or our vendors’ computing devices, infrastructure, or networks have in the past, and may in the future, be
vulnerable to hackers, computer viruses, worms, ransomware, other malware, employee theft or misuse, phishing, denial-of-service attacks, or similar disruptive
problems that are caused by or through a security weakness or vulnerability in our or our vendors’ infrastructure, network, or business practices or our or our vendors’
customers, employees, business partners, consultants, or other Internet users who attempt to obtain unauthorized access to our or our vendors’ corporate or personal
systems, networks, or devices. Security weaknesses or vulnerabilities in our, our vendors’, or our customers’ infrastructure, networks, or business practices could lead
to increased costs, liability claims, including contractual liability claims relating to security obligations in agreements with our partners and our customers, fines,
claims, investigations and other proceedings, reduced revenue, or harm to our reputation or competitive position. In addition, even if vulnerabilities are not exploited
or targeted, we could incur increased costs and capital expenditures in any efforts we undertake to strengthen our security controls or remediate security
vulnerabilities.

We currently require a substantial number of our employees to work in one of our offices, nevertheless, we have implemented remote working protocols and
offer work-issued devices to substantially all employees, whether working in an office or remotely. Actions of employees while working remotely may have
significant effects on the security of our infrastructure, networks, and the information we process, such as by increasing the risk of compromise to systems or data
arising from employees’ combined personal and private use of devices, accessing our networks or information using wireless networks that we do not control, or the
ability to transmit or store information outside of our network. Our employees’ or third parties’ intentional, unintentional, or inadvertent actions may increase our
vulnerability to or expose us to security threats, such as ransomware or other malware and phishing attacks, and we may remain responsible for or otherwise face
liability in connection with unauthorized access to, loss, unavailability alteration, destruction, acquisition, disclosure or other processing of information we or our
vendors, business partners, or consultants process or otherwise maintain. Additionally, political and geopolitical uncertainty and actions, such as the war between
Russia and Ukraine and the conflicts in the Middle East, may create heightened risks to us and our vendors, business partners, and consultants of cyber-attacks from
nation-state actors or
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their affiliated entities, including attacks that could materially disrupt our systems and operations, supply chain, and ability to produce, sell and distribute our
services. Also, cyber-attacks, including on the supply chain (including our software supply chain), continue to increase in frequency and magnitude, and we cannot
provide assurances that our preventative efforts, or those of our suppliers, have been or will be successful.

We rely on encryption and authentication technology to provide secure transmission of and access to confidential information, including customer credit
card numbers, debit card numbers, direct debit information, customer communications, and files uploaded by our customers. Advances in computer capabilities, new
cryptographic discoveries, software or hardware bugs or vulnerabilities, social engineering activities, the introduction of ransomware or other malicious code, or
other developments may result in a compromise or breach of the technology we use to protect our data and our customer data, or of the data itself. We also have
incorporated Al-powered features into our solutions and may continue to incorporate additional Al features and technologies into our solutions in the future. Our use
of Al features and technologies may create additional cybersecurity risks or increase cybersecurity risks, including risks of security breaches and incidents. Further,
Al technologies may be used in connection with certain cybersecurity attacks, resulting in heightened risks of security breaches and incidents.

Additionally, third parties have in the past successfully induced, and may attempt in the future to induce using social engineering or other methods,
employees, consultants, or customers into disclosing sensitive information, such as usernames, provisioning data, customer proprietary network information
(“CPNI”) or other information in order to gain access to our customers’ user accounts or data, or to our systems or data. CPNI includes information such as the phone
numbers called by a customer, the frequency, duration, and timing of such calls, and any services purchased by the consumer, such as call waiting, call forwarding,
and caller ID, in addition to other information that may appear on a customer’s bill. Third parties may also attempt to induce employees, consultants, or customers
into disclosing information regarding our and our customers’ intellectual property, personal data and other confidential information. The techniques used to obtain
unauthorized access, to perform hacking, phishing and social engineering, or to sabotage systems change and evolve frequently and may not be recognized until
launched against a target, may be new and previously unknown or little-known, or may not be detected or understood until well after such actions are conducted. We
may be unable to anticipate these techniques and may be unsuccessful in implementing appropriate preventative measures, and any security breach or other incident
may be difficult to detect and may take longer than expected to remediate or otherwise address. Any system failure or disruption or security breach or incident that
causes interruptions or data loss in our operations or in the computer systems of our customers or leads to the misappropriation, loss, unavailability, or unauthorized
use, disclosure, or other processing of our or our customers’ confidential or personal information could result in significant liability to us, loss of our intellectual
property, cause our subscriptions to be perceived as not being secure, cause considerable harm to us and our reputation (including requiring notification to customers,
regulators, or the media), and deter current and potential customers from using our subscriptions. Any of these events could have a material adverse effect on our
business, results of operations, and financial condition.

It is critical to our business that our sensitive information and that of our employees, strategic partners, GSPs, channel partners and customers remains
secure and that our customers perceive that this information is secure. An information security incident could result in unauthorized access to, loss or unavailability
of, or unauthorized disclosure or other processing of such information. Any actual or perceived cybersecurity breach or incident could expose us to litigation,
indemnity obligations, government notification and investigations or other proceedings, contractual liability, and other possible liabilities, and could result in negative
publicity, which could harm our reputation and reduce our customers’ confidence in the effectiveness of our solutions, which could materially and adversely affect
our business and operating results. A security breach or incident could also expose us to increased costs, including remediation costs, disruption of operations, or
increased cybersecurity protection costs, that may have a material adverse effect on our business. In addition, an actual or perceived security breach or incident of or
impacting our customers’ systems can also result in exposure of credentials, unauthorized access to accounts, exposure of their information and data (including
CPNI), and fraudulent calls on their accounts, which can have impacts to us similar to those described above. Any actual or perceived security breach or incident of
or impacting our partners’ or vendors’ systems can result in similar impacts.

Additionally, due to the nature of our solutions, we are unable to maintain complete control over data security or the implementation of measures that reduce
the risk of a data security incident. For example, our customers may accidentally disclose their passwords or store them on a mobile device that is lost or stolen,
creating the perception that our systems are not secure against third-party access. Additionally, our third-party contractors in the Philippines, U.S., Georgia, and
elsewhere may have access to customer data. While our agreements with our third-party contractors restrict their use or disclosure of any customer data, if these or
other third-party vendors violate applicable laws or our policies, this may put our customers’ information at risk and could have a material and adverse effect on our
business.

Laws, regulations, and enforcement activities relating to security and privacy continue to evolve. For example, in 2023, the SEC adopted cybersecurity risk
management and disclosure rules, which require the disclosure of information
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pertaining to cybersecurity incidents and cybersecurity risk management, strategy, and governance. Additionally, the Digital Operational Resiliency Act went into
effect on January 17, 2025. It aims to establish a universal framework for managing and mitigating information and communication technology risk that will apply to
financial-sector entities and their third-party cloud service providers.

We have incurred and expect to continue to incur significant expenses in our efforts to prevent and address security incidents. Determining whether a
security breach or incident is notifiable or reportable may not be straightforward and may be costly and could lead to negative publicity, loss of customer or partner
confidence in the effectiveness of our security measures, diversion of management’s attention, governmental investigations, and the expenditure of significant capital
and other resources to respond to or alleviate problems caused by the actual or perceived security breach or incident. We may find it necessary for various reasons,
such as a need to support changes to applicable laws or to support our expansion of sales into new geographic areas or into new industry markets, to change or
enhance our cybersecurity measures, which may make it more expensive to operate in certain jurisdictions and may increase the risk of our non-compliance with
evolving laws and regulations.

While we maintain cybersecurity insurance, our insurance may be insufficient to cover all liabilities incurred by privacy or security incidents. We also
cannot be certain that our insurance coverage will be sufficient for data handling or data security liabilities actually incurred, that insurance will continue to be
available to us on economically reasonable terms, or at all, or that an insurer will not deny coverage as to any future claim. The successful assertion of one or more
large claims against us that exceed available insurance coverage, or the occurrence of changes in our insurance policies, including premium increases or the
imposition of large deductible or co-insurance requirements, could have a material adverse effect on our business, including our financial condition, operating results,
and reputation.

The Al technology and features incorporated into our solutions include new and evolving technologies that may present both legal and business risks.

We have incorporated a number of Al-powered features, including RingSense, into our solutions. We use internally developed and third-party developed
machine learning and Al technologies and we are making further investments in expanding our Al capabilities. Al technologies are complex and rapidly evolving,
and we face significant competition from other companies as well as an evolving legal and regulatory landscape. The successful integration of new and emerging Al
technologies, such as generative Al, automated speech recognition (ASR), text-to-speech (TTS) and natural language processing (NLP) into our platforms and
solutions will require additional investment, and the development of new approaches and processes, which will be costly and increase our expenses.

Further, the incorporation of Al-powered features into our solutions will subject us to new or enhanced governmental or regulatory scrutiny, litigation,
confidentiality or security risks, ethical concerns, or other complications that could harm our business, reputation, financial condition or results of operations.
Intellectual property ownership and license rights, including copyright, surrounding Al technologies are new, evolving, and have not been fully addressed by federal
or state laws or by U.S. courts, and the manner in which we and our third-party developers configure and use Al technologies may expose us to claims of copyright
infringement or other intellectual property misappropriation. In addition, the cost to comply with such laws or regulations could be significant and would increase our
operating expenses, which could harm our business, reputation, financial condition and results of operations.

Relatedly, large language models, or LLMs, can generate written content that contains bias, factual errors, misrepresentations, offensive language, or
inappropriate statements. While we attempt to use LLMs in a way that mitigates these risks, there is no guarantee that we will be successful and these risks could
harm our business, reputation, financial condition and results of operations.

In addition, the use of Al involves significant technical complexity and requires specialized expertise, and competition for specialized personnel in the Al

industry is intense. Any disruption or failure in our or our third-party developers’ Al systems or infrastructure could result in delays or errors in our operations, which
could harm our business, reputation, financial condition and results of operations.
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The use of AI by our workforce may present risks to our business.

Our workforce is exposed to and uses Al technologies for certain tasks related to our business. We have guidelines and policies specifically directed at the
use of Al tools in the workplace. Nevertheless, the use of these Al tools, whether authorized or unauthorized, by our workforce, poses potential risks relating to the
protection of data, including cybersecurity risk, exposure of our proprietary confidential information to unauthorized recipients, and the misuse of our or third-party
intellectual property. Use of Al technology by our workforce, even if consistent with our guidelines, may result in allegations or claims against us related to violation
of third-party intellectual property or other rights, unauthorized access to or use of proprietary information, and failure to comply with open source software
requirements. In addition, our employees use Al tools for various design and engineering tasks such as writing code and building content, and these tools may
produce inaccurate responses that could lead to errors in our decision-making, solution development or other business activities, which could have a negative impact
on our business, operating results and financial condition. Our ability to mitigate these risks will depend on our provision of effective training, monitoring and
enforcement of appropriate policies, guidelines and procedures, and compliance by our workforce.

We rely on third-party competitors to deliver video, contact center and SMS services to customers, and changes in these relationships could have a material
adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

We currently use and/or provide third-party technology and integrations from Zoom Communications, Inc., NICE Ltd., Bandwidth.com, Inc., Microsoft
Corporation and other companies to provide some of our solutions to our customers, including video, contact center and SMS solutions. We use, or in the future, may
use and rely on technologies of other third-parties to deliver features and functionalities. We cannot assure you that we will be able to renew our agreements with any
of these third-party providers and any of these service providers could elect or attempt to stop providing us with access to their services. In addition, these third-party
providers may terminate or breach their contracts with us, or allow these contracts to expire. If any of these service providers cease to provide us with their services,
fails to provide these services to us on a cost-effective basis or at reasonable levels of quality and security, ceases operations, or otherwise terminates or discontinues
these services, it could have a material adverse effect on our business and results of operations. Our inability to continue to offer these third-party solutions to our
customers and/or our inability to effectively offer or migrate these customers to our own alternative or other third-party alternative solutions may have a material
adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

U.S. mobile carriers are now requiring businesses using SMS on over-the-top providers, including all CPaaS and UCaaS providers, such as RingCentral, to
register with The Campaign Registry ("TCR"), to ensure text messages are compliant with wireless carrier guidelines, as well as to reduce spam. These new rules
affect our customers, and we have built integrations with TCR to facilitate those registrations for our customers. TCR registration and related vetting can be
cumbersome and costly and may cause customer churn, especially for SMB customers that have more limited person-to-person SMS needs. Additionally, SMS
aggregators and wireless carriers sometimes block legitimate SMS traffic without prior notice, which may negatively impact our customers. Bandwidth,
RingCentral’s SMS aggregator, currently blocks any and all SMS sent by phone numbers that have not been registered with TCR and associated with an approved
messaging campaign. Despite our ongoing efforts to minimize the impact on our customers, our potential inability to provide SMS to affected customers may have a
material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

Our international operations and customer base may expose us to significant risks.

We have significant operations directly or through third parties in many countries outside of the U.S. and Canada, including, the U.K., China, the
Philippines, Germany, Georgia, Bulgaria, Spain, Australia, India, and France. We also sell our solutions to customers in several countries in Europe, as well as in the
Asia Pacific region, and we may continue to grow our international presence in the future. The future success of our business will depend, in part, on our ability to
expand our operations and customer base worldwide, as well as our ability to acquire and maintain international customers in a cost effective manner. Operating in
international markets requires significant resources and management attention and will subject us to regulatory, economic, and political risks that are different from
those in the U.S. Due to our relatively limited experience with international operations and developing and managing sales and distribution channels in international
markets, our international expansion efforts may not be successful. In addition, we will face risks in doing business internationally that could materially and adversely
affect our business, including:

. our ability to comply with differing and evolving technical and environmental standards, telecommunications regulations, and certification
requirements outside the U.S.;

. difficulties and costs associated with staffing and managing foreign operations, including managing compliance with foreign labor laws and
regulations;
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. new and different sources of competition;

. our ability to effectively price our subscriptions in competitive international markets;

. potentially greater difficulty collecting accounts receivable and longer payment cycles;

. the need to adapt and localize our subscriptions and product offerings for specific countries and local regulators;

. the need to offer customer care, product information, websites, and other marketing collateral in various native languages;

. the need to contract and bill in various native languages, currencies, and under a variety of different legal systems;

. reliance on third parties over which we have limited control, including those that market and resell our subscriptions in international markets;

. availability of reliable broadband connectivity and wide area networks in targeted areas for expansion;

. lower levels of adoption of credit or debit card usage for Internet related purchases by foreign customers and compliance with various foreign

regulations related to credit or debit card processing and data protection requirements;

. export controls and economic sanctions, foreign trade restrictions, travel restrictions, and changes in diplomatic and trade relationships, including
tariffs and other non-tariff barriers, such as quotas and local content rules;

. our ability to comply with different and evolving laws, rules, and regulations, including the European General Data Protection Regulation (the
“GDPR?”), and other data privacy and data protection laws, and regulations;

. compliance with various anti-bribery and anti-corruption laws such as the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act and U.K. Bribery Act of 2010;

. more limited protection for intellectual property rights in some countries;

. adverse tax consequences;

. fluctuations in currency exchange rates;

. exchange control regulations, which might restrict or prohibit our conversion of other currencies into U.S. dollars;

. restrictions on the transfer of funds;

. deterioration of political relations between the U.S. and other countries where we have personnel who support our business, particularly China, India,

Bulgaria, Spain, and the Philippines; and

. political or social unrest, economic instability, conflict or war in such countries.
Our failure to manage any of these risks successfully could harm our future international operations and our overall business.

If we are unable to effectively process local number and toll-free number portability provisioning, and/or our customers are unable to register with TCR in a
timely manner, our growth may be negatively affected.

We support local number and toll-free number portability, which allows our customers to transfer to us and thereby retain their existing phone numbers when
subscribing to our services. Transferring numbers is a manual process that can take up to 15 business days or longer to complete. A new customer of our subscriptions
must maintain both our subscription and the customer’s existing phone service during the number transferring process. Any delay that we experience in transferring
these numbers typically results from the fact that we depend on third-party GSPs to transfer these numbers, a process that we do not control, and these third-party
GSPs may refuse or substantially delay the transfer of these numbers to us. Local number portability is considered an important feature by many potential customers,
and if we fail to reduce any related delays, we may experience increased difficulty in acquiring new customers. Moreover, the FCC requires Internet voice
communications providers to comply with specified number porting timeframes when customers leave our subscription for the services of another provider. Several
international jurisdictions have imposed similar number portability requirements on subscription providers like us. If we or our third-party GSPs are unable to process
number portability requests within the requisite timeframes, we could be subject to fines and penalties. Additionally, in the U.S., both customers and GSPs may seek
relief from the relevant state public utility commission, the FCC, or in state or federal court for violation of local number portability requirements.
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U.S. mobile carriers are now requiring businesses using SMS on over-the-top providers, including all CPaaS and UCaaS providers, such as RingCentral, to
register with TCR, to ensure text messages are compliant with wireless carrier guidelines, as well as to reduce spam. These new rules affect our customers, and we
have built integrations with TCR to facilitate those registrations for our customers. TCR registration and related vetting can be cumbersome and costly and may cause
customer churn, especially for SMB customers that have more limited person-to-person SMS needs. Additionally, SMS aggregators and wireless catriers sometimes
block legitimate SMS traffic without prior notice, which may negatively impact our customers. Bandwidth.com, Inc., RingCentral’s SMS aggregator, currently blocks
any and all SMS sent by phone numbers that have not been registered with TCR and associated with an approved messaging campaign. Despite our ongoing efforts
to minimize the impact on our customers, our potential inability to provide SMS to affected customers may have a material adverse effect on our business, results of
operations and financial condition.

Our business could suffer if we cannot obtain or retain direct inward dialing numbers or are prohibited from obtaining local or toll-free numbers or if we are
limited to distributing local or toll-free numbers to only certain customers.

Our future success depends on our ability to procure large quantities of local and toll-free direct inward dialing numbers (“DIDs”) in the U.S. and foreign
countries in desirable locations at a reasonable cost and without restrictions. Our ability to procure and distribute DIDs depends on factors outside of our control, such
as applicable regulations, the practices of the communications GSPs that provide DIDs, the cost of these DIDs, and the level of demand for new DIDs. For instance,
France implemented new rules requiring service providers to obtain DIDs directly from regulatory authorities. Further, due to their limited availability, there are
certain popular area code prefixes that we generally cannot obtain. Our inability to acquire DIDs for our operations would make our subscriptions less attractive to
potential customers in the affected local geographic areas. In addition, future growth in our customer base, together with growth in the customer bases of other
providers of cloud-based business communications, has increased, which increases our dependence on needing sufficiently large quantities of DIDs.

If we experience excessive fraudulent activity or cannot meet evolving credit card association merchant standards, we could incur substantial costs and lose the
right to accept credit cards for payment, which could cause our customer base, new sales, and revenues to decline significantly.

Most of our customers authorize us to bill their credit card accounts directly for service fees that we charge. If customers pay for our subscriptions with
stolen credit cards, we could incur substantial third-party vendor costs for which we may not be reimbursed. Further, our customers provide us with credit card billing
information online or over the phone, and we do not review the physical credit cards used in these transactions, which increases our risk of exposure to fraudulent
activity. We also incur charges, which are referred to in the industry as chargebacks, from the credit card companies from claims that a customer did not authorize the
specific credit card transaction to purchase our subscription. If the number of chargebacks becomes excessive, we could be assessed substantial fines or be charged
higher transaction fees, and we could lose the right to accept credit cards for payment. In addition, credit card issuers may change merchant and/or service provider
standards, including data protection standards, required to utilize their services from time to time. We have established and implemented measures intended to comply
with the Payment Card Industry Data Security Standard (“PCI DSS”). If we fail to maintain compliance with such standards or fail to meet new standards, the credit
card associations could fine us or terminate their agreements with us, and we would be unable to accept credit cards as payment for our subscriptions. If we fail to
maintain compliance with current service provider standards, such as the PCI DSS, or fail to meet new standards, customers may choose not to use our services. If
such a failure to comply with relevant standards occurs, we may also face legal liability if we are found to not comply with applicable laws that incorporate, by
reference or by adoption of substantially similar provisions, merchant or service provider standards, including the PCI DSS. Our subscriptions may also be subject to
fraudulent usage, including but not limited to revenue share fraud, domestic traffic pumping, subscription fraud, premium text message scams, and other fraudulent
schemes. This usage can result in, among other things, substantial bills from our vendors, for which we would be responsible, for terminating fraudulent call traffic.
In addition, third parties may have attempted in the past, and may attempt in the future, to induce employees, sub-contractors, or consultants into disclosing customer
credentials and other account information using social engineering and other methods, which can result in unauthorized access to customer accounts and customer
data, unauthorized use of customers’ services, charges to customers for fraudulent usage and costs that we must pay to GSPs. Although we have implemented
multiple fraud prevention, detection controls and personnel trainings, we cannot assure you that these controls will be adequate to protect against fraud. Substantial
losses due to fraud or our inability to accept credit card payments could cause our paid customer base to significantly decrease, which would have a material adverse
effect on our results of operations, financial condition, and ability to grow our business.
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Failures in Internet infrastructure or interference with broadband access could cause current or potential users to believe that our systems are unreliable,
possibly leading our customers to switch to our competitors or to avoid using our subscriptions.

Unlike traditional communications services, our subscriptions depend on our customers’ high-speed broadband access to the Internet. Increasing numbers of
users and increasing bandwidth requirements may degrade the performance of our services and applications due to capacity constraints and other Internet
infrastructure limitations. As our customer base grows and their usage of our services increases, we will likely be required to make additional investments in network
capacity to maintain adequate data transmission speeds, the availability of which may be limited, or the cost of which may be on terms unacceptable to us. If
adequate capacity is not available to us as our customers’ usage increases, our network may be unable to achieve or maintain sufficiently high reliability or
performance. In addition, if Internet access service providers have outages or deteriorations in their quality of service, our customers will not have access to our
subscriptions or may experience a decrease in the quality of our services. Frequent or persistent interruptions could cause current or potential users to believe that our
systems or services are unreliable, leading them to switch to our competitors or to avoid our subscriptions, and could permanently harm our reputation and brands.

In addition, users who access our subscriptions and applications through mobile devices, such as smartphones and tablets, must have a high-speed
connection, such as Wi-Fi®, 4G, 5G, or LTE, to use our services and applications. Currently, this access is provided by companies that have significant and
increasing market power in the broadband and Internet access marketplace, including incumbent phone companies, cable companies, and wireless companies. Some
of these providers offer solutions and subscriptions that directly compete with our own offerings, which can potentially give them a competitive advantage. Also,
these providers could take measures that degrade, disrupt or increase the cost of user access to third-party services, including our offerings, by restricting or
prohibiting the use of their infrastructure to support or facilitate third-party services or by charging increased fees to third parties or the users of third-party services,
any of which would make our subscriptions less attractive to users, and reduce our revenues.

Interruptions in our services caused by undetected errors, failures, or bugs in our services and/or human error could harm our reputation, result in significant
costs to us, and impair our ability to sell our subscriptions.

Our services may have errors or defects that customers identify after they begin using them that could result in unanticipated interruptions of service.
Internet-based services frequently contain undetected errors and bugs when first introduced or when new versions or enhancements are released. While the substantial
majority of our customers are small and medium-sized businesses, the use of our services in complicated, large-scale network environments may increase our
exposure to undetected errors, failures, or bugs in our services. Further, human error in maintaining our system could also lead to unanticipated service interruptions.
Although we test our services to detect and correct errors and defects before their general release, we have, from time to time, experienced significant interruptions in
our services as a result of such technical and/or human errors or defects and may experience future interruptions of service if we fail to detect and correct these errors
and defects. For example, in January 2025, we experienced an interruption in service due to an internal system error that impacted our customers for a limited number
of hours, and we may in the future experience interruptions that impact our customers. The costs incurred in correcting such defects or errors may be substantial and
could harm our results of operations. In addition, we rely on hardware purchased or leased and software licensed from third parties to offer our services.

Any defects in, or unavailability of, our or third-party software or hardware that cause interruptions of our services could, among other things:

. cause a reduction in revenues or a delay in market acceptance of our services;

. require us to pay penalties or issue credits or refunds to our customers, channel partners, strategic partners, or GSPs, or expose us to claims for
damages;

. cause us to lose existing customers and make it more difficult to attract new customers;

. divert our development resources or require us to make extensive changes to our software, which would increase our expenses and slow innovation;

. increase our technical support costs;

. harm our reputation and brand; and

. result in litigation and regulatory action against the company.

Potential problems with our information systems could interfere with our business and operations.
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We rely on our information systems and those of third parties for processing customer orders, distribution of our subscriptions, billing our customers,
processing credit card transactions, customer relationship management, supporting financial planning and analysis, accounting functions and financial statement
preparation, and otherwise running our business. Information systems may experience interruptions, including interruptions of related services from third-party
providers, which may be beyond our control. Such business interruptions could cause us to fail to meet customer requirements. All information systems, both internal
and external, are potentially vulnerable to damage or interruption from a variety of sources, including without limitation, computer viruses, security breaches and
incidents, energy blackouts, natural disasters, terrorism, war, telecommunication failures, employee or other theft, and third-party provider failures. In addition, since
telecommunications billing is inherently complex and requires highly sophisticated information systems to administer, our internally developed billing system may
experience errors or we may improperly operate the system, which could result in the system incorrectly calculating the fees owed by our customers for our
subscriptions or related taxes and administrative fees. Any such errors in our customer billing could harm our reputation and cause us to violate truth in billing laws
and regulations. Our current internally developed billing system requires us to process an increasing number of invoices manually, which could result in billing
errors. Any errors or disruption in our information systems and those of the third parties upon which we rely could have a significant impact on our business. In
addition, we may implement further and enhanced information systems in the future to meet the demands resulting from our growth and to provide additional
capabilities and functionality. The implementation of new systems and enhancements is frequently disruptive to the underlying business of an enterprise, and can be
time-consuming and expensive, increase management responsibilities, and divert management attention.

Growth may place significant demands on our management and our infrastructure.

We continue to experience growth in our business. This growth has placed and may continue to place significant demands on our management,
organizational structure, and our operational and financial infrastructure, particularly as we try to become more profitable and financially and operationally efficient.
As our operations continue to scale and become more complex, we may need to increase our sales and marketing efforts and may add additional sales and marketing
personnel in various regions worldwide and improve and upgrade our systems and infrastructure to attract, service, and retain an increasing number of customers. For
example, we expect the volume of simultaneous calls and video conferences to increase significantly as our customer base grows. Our network hardware and
software may not be able to accommodate this additional simultaneous call volume. The expansion of our systems and infrastructure could require us to commit
substantial financial, operational, and technical resources in advance of an increase in the volume of business, with no assurance that the volume of business will
increase. Any such additional capital investments will increase our cost base.

Continued growth could also strain our ability to maintain reliable service levels for our customers, resellers, partners, and GSPs, develop and improve our
operational, financial and management controls, enhance our billing and reporting systems and procedures, and recruit, train and retain highly skilled personnel. In
addition, our existing systems, processes, and controls may not prevent or detect all errors, omissions, or fraud. We may also experience difficulties in managing
improvements to our systems, processes, and controls or in connection with third-party software licensed to help us with such improvements. Any future growth,
particularly further international expansion and our transition to a multi-product company, could add complexity to our organization, require effective communication
and coordination throughout our organization, and result in additional costs. To manage any future growth effectively, we must continue to improve and expand our
information technology and financial, operating, security and administrative systems and controls, and our business continuity and disaster recovery plans and
processes. Additionally, our productivity and the quality of our solutions and services may be adversely affected if we do not integrate and train our new employees
quickly and effectively. If we fail to achieve the necessary level of efficiency in our organization as we grow, our business, results of operations and financial
condition could be materially and adversely affected.

Support for smartphones and tablets are an integral part of our solutions. If we are unable to develop robust mobile applications that operate on the mobile
platforms that our customers use, our business and results of operations could be materially and adversely affected.

Our solutions allow our customers to use and manage our cloud-based business communications solution on smart devices. As new smart devices and
operating systems are released, we may encounter difficulties supporting these devices and services. We also need to devote significant resources to the creation,
support, and maintenance of our mobile applications. In addition, if we experience difficulties in the future integrating our mobile applications into smart devices or if
problems arise with our relationships with providers of mobile operating systems, such as those of Apple Inc. or Alphabet Inc., our future growth and our results of
operations could suffer.

Third-party application stores may also impose new requirements, including, for example, updates to their terms of access or policies on how we or our

channel partners must collect, use and share data. Compliance with any such requirements could be costly or burdensome, and could prevent us from timely updating
our current solutions or uploading new solutions. If
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we fail to comply with these requirements, we could lose access to, or be required to remove our mobile applications from, third-party application stores.
The occurrence of a catastrophic disaster could damage our facilities or the facilities of our contractors, which could cause us to curtail our operations.

Our corporate headquarters and other offices and many of our data centers, co-location and research and development facilities, and third-party customer
service call centers are located in the U.S. (including in the state of California), Spain, Georgia, Bulgaria, and several countries in Asia, including China, the
Philippines, India, and Australia. Many of these locations are near known earthquake fault zones, which are vulnerable to damage from earthquakes and tsunamis, or
are in areas subject to hurricanes and typhoons. We and our contractors are also vulnerable to other types of disasters, such as power loss, fire, floods, pandemics,
cyber-attack, war (including ongoing geopolitical tensions related to the war between Russia and Ukraine and the ongoing conflicts in the Middle East), political
unrest, and terrorist attacks and similar events that are beyond our control. If any disasters or geopolitical conflicts were to occur or worsen, our ability to operate our
business could be seriously impaired, and we may endure system interruptions, reputational harm, loss of intellectual property, delays in our subscriptions
development, lengthy interruptions in our services, breaches of data security, and loss of critical data, all of which could harm our future results of operations. In
addition, we do not carry earthquake insurance and we may not have adequate insurance to cover our losses resulting from other disasters or other similar significant
business interruptions. Any significant losses that are not recoverable under our insurance policies could seriously impair our business and financial condition.

Risks Related to Our Reliance on Third Parties

We rely on third parties, including third parties in countries outside the U.S., for a significant portion of our software development and design, quality assurance,
operations, and customer support.

We currently depend on various third parties for some of our software development efforts, quality assurance, operations, and customer support services,
including third parties in countries outside the U.S. Specifically, we have outsourced a significant portion of our software development and design, quality assurance,
and operations activities to third-party contractors that have employees and consultants principally in Tbilisi, Georgia.

In addition, we outsource a significant portion of our customer support, inside sales, network operation control functions, and general and administrative
activities to third-party contractors located in Manila, the Philippines. For example, we offer customer support from third-party contractors located in the Philippines
through both our online account management website and our toll-free customer support number in multiple languages. The ability to support our customers may be
disrupted by natural disasters, inclement weather conditions, civil and political unrest, strikes, and other adverse events in the Philippines.

Furthermore, as we continue to expand our operations internationally, we may need to make further significant expenditures and investments in our
customer service and support to adequately address the complex needs of international customers, such as support in additional foreign languages. We also use third
parties to deliver onsite professional services to our customers in deploying our solutions. If these vendors do not deliver timely and high-quality services to our
customers, our reputation could be damaged, and we could lose customers. In addition, third-party professional services vendors may not be available when needed,
which would adversely impact our ability to deliver on our customer commitments. Our dependence on third-party contractors, including those in countries outside
the U.S., creates a number of risks, in particular, the risk that we may not maintain service quality, control, or effective management with respect to these business
operations.

We also rely on purchased or leased hardware and software licensed from third parties, in particular, NICE Ltd. and Zoom Communications, Inc., in order to
offer our subscriptions, and in some cases, we integrate third-party licensed software components into our platform. Any errors or defects in third-party hardware or
software could result in errors or a failure of our subscriptions which could harm our business.

We anticipate that we will continue to depend on our third-party relationships in order to grow our business for the foreseeable future. If we are unsuccessful
in maintaining existing and, if needed, establishing new relationships with third parties, our ability to efficiently operate existing services or develop new services and

provide adequate customer support could be impaired, and, as a result, our competitive position or our results of operations could suffer.

To deliver our subscriptions, we rely on third parties for our network connectivity and for certain of the features in our subscriptions.
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We currently use the infrastructure of third-party network service providers, including Inteliquent, Inc., Lumen Technologies, Inc. and Bandwidth.com, Inc.
in North America and several others internationally, to deliver our subscriptions over their networks. Our third-party network service providers provide access to their
Internet protocol (“IP”) networks and public switched telephone networks, and provide call termination and origination services, including 911 emergency calling in
the U.S. and equivalent services internationally, and local number portability for our customers. We expect that we will continue to rely heavily on third-party
network service providers to provide these subscriptions for the foreseeable future.

If any of these network service providers stop providing us with access to their infrastructure, fail to provide these services to us on a cost-effective basis or
at reasonable levels of quality and security, cease operations, or otherwise terminate these services, the delay caused by qualifying and switching to another third-
party network service provider, if one is available, could have a material adverse effect on our business and results of operations.

Finally, if problems occur with any of these third-party network service providers, it may cause outages, errors or poor call quality in our subscriptions, and
we could encounter difficulty identifying the source of the problem. The occurrence of outages, errors or poor call quality in our subscriptions, whether caused by our
systems or a third-party network or service provider, may result in the loss of our existing customers, delay or loss of market acceptance of our subscriptions,
termination of our relationships and agreements with our channel partners, strategic partners, or GSPs, or liability for failure to meet service level agreements which
may require us to issue service credits or pay damages, and may seriously harm our business and results of operations.

We rely on third-party software that may be difficult to replace or which could cause errors or failures of our subscriptions.

We rely on software licensed from certain third parties in order to offer our solutions. In some cases, we integrate third-party licensed software components
into our platform. This software may not continue to be available at reasonable prices or on commercially reasonable terms, or at all. Any loss of the right to use any
of this software could significantly increase our expenses and otherwise result in delays in the provisioning of our solutions until equivalent technology is either
developed by us, or, if available, is identified, obtained, and integrated. Any errors or defects in third-party software could result in errors or a failure of our solutions,
which could harm our business.

We rely on third parties to fulfill various aspects of our E-911 service. If these third parties do not provide our customers with reliable, high-quality service, our
reputation will be harmed, and we may lose customers.

We contract with third parties to provide emergency services calls in the U.S., Canada, the U.K., and other jurisdictions in which we provide access to
emergency services dialing, including assistance in routing emergency calls and terminating emergency services calls. Our domestic providers operate a national call
center that is available 24 hours a day, seven days a week, to receive certain emergency calls and maintain PSAP databases for the purpose of deploying and
operating E-911 services. We rely on providers for similar functions in other jurisdictions in which we provide access to emergency services dialing. On mobile
devices, we rely on the underlying cellular or wireless carrier to provide emergency services dialing. Interruptions in service from our vendors could cause failures in
our customers’ access to E-911/999/112 services and expose us to liability and damage our reputation.

If these third parties do not provide reliable, high-quality service, or the service is not provided in compliance with regulatory requirements, our reputation
and our business will be harmed. In addition, industry consolidation among providers of services to us may impact our ability to obtain these services or increase our
costs for these services.

We currently depend on a limited number of phone device suppliers and fulfillment agents to configure and deliver the phones that we sell.

We rely on a limited number of suppliers to provide phones that we offer for sale to our customers that use our services, and we rely on a limited number of
fulfillment agents to configure and deliver the phones that we sell to our customers. Accordingly, we could be adversely affected if such third parties fail to maintain
competitive phones or configuration services or fail to continue to make them available on attractive terms, or at all. Further, our vendor-supplied phones have lead
times of up to several months for delivery to our fulfillment agents and are built to forecasts that may be imprecise. We may, from time to time, we will have either
excess or insufficient product inventory.

If our fulfillment agents are unable to deliver phones of acceptable quality, or if there is a reduction or interruption in their ability to deliver the phones in a

timely manner including due to the end of life of any particular unit, our ability to bring services to market, the reliability of our services and our relationships with
customers or our overall reputation in the
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marketplace could suffer, which could cause us to lose revenue. We expect that it could take several months to effectively transition to new third-party manufacturers
or fulfillment agents.

In addition, hard phones must interoperate with our back-end servers and systems, which contain complex specifications and utilize multiple protocol
standards and software applications. If any of our suppliers changes the operation of their phones or implements new or updated firmware releases for their phones,
we will be required to undertake development and testing efforts to ensure that the new phones interoperate with our system. If our vendor-supplied phones do not
interoperate effectively with our system, our customers’ ability to use our subscriptions could be delayed or orders for our subscriptions could be canceled, which
would harm our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

Risks Related to Regulatory Matters

Our subscriptions are subject to regulation, and future legislative or regulatory actions could adversely affect our business and expose us to liability in the U.S.
and internationally.

Federal Regulation

RingCentral’s voice products are regulated by the Federal Communications Commission (“FCC”) as interconnected VoIP services, and RingCentral provides
other communications services, such as videoconferencing and fax, that may also be subject to FCC regulation. As a communications service provider, we are subject
to existing or potential FCC regulations relating to privacy and data protection, disability access, porting of numbers, cooperation with law enforcement, emergency
dialing, wiretapping, outage reporting, call authentication, anti-fraud measures, robocalling and robotexting and junk faxes, Federal Universal Service Fund (“USF”)
contributions, and other requirements and regulations. FCC reclassification of our interconnected VoIP services as Telecommunications Services could result in
additional federal and state regulatory obligations. If we do not comply with FCC rules and regulations, we could be subject to enforcement actions, fines, loss of
authorizations, and possibly restrictions on our ability to provide our services. Any enforcement action by the FCC, which may be a public process, could result in
significant fines, hurt our reputation in the industry, and/or have a material adverse impact on our revenues. In some cases, actions by our customers could result in
liability for RingCentral under FCC, FTC, and/or state laws or regulations, either through enforcement by regulatory agencies, state attorneys general, or through
private actions.

State Regulation

State regulation of our interconnected VoIP services is generally preempted by the FCC. RingCentral’s interconnected VoIP services are considered to be
nomadic, because they can be used from any broadband connection. However, a number of states, including California, require us to register as a VoIP provider,
contribute to state USF, assess and remit state and local telecom fees, and pay other surcharges and annual fees that fund various state programs. Where permitted, we
may pass these fees and surcharges onto our customers, which may result in our subscriptions becoming more expensive or require us to absorb these costs.
Additionally, we may be subject to state laws and regulations relating to privacy and data protection, disability access, emergency dialing, wiretapping, outage
reporting, and other requirements and regulations. Failure to comply with any current or future state regulations that apply to our business, could result in substantial
fines and penalties and could harm our business.

International Regulation

RingCentral provides communications services in over forty countries. We are subject to foreign laws and regulations relating to communications, digital
services, call authentication, wiretapping, metering and billing, consumer protection, data protection, security, Artificial Intelligence, emergency calling, anti-fraud
measures, and other requirements. Any foreign regulations could impose substantial compliance costs on us, restrict our ability to compete, and impact our ability to
provide service in certain markets. Some jurisdictions restrict the resale of certain communications services, which may impact our go-to-market strategy and affect
our revenues. Failure to comply with any current or future foreign laws or regulations that apply to our business, could result in substantial fines and penalties, cause
us to have to restructure our product offerings, exit certain markets, or raise the price of our products, and could harm our business.

31



Table of Contents

We process, store, and use personal information and other data, which subjects us and our customers to a variety of evolving international statutes, governmental
regulation, industry standards and self-regulatory schemes, contractual obligations, and other legal obligations related to privacy and data protection, which may
increase our costs, decrease adoption and use of our solutions and subscriptions, and expose us to liability.

In the course of providing our services, RingCentral collects, stores, transmits, and discloses (collectively, “processes”) many types of personal data,
including sensitive personal data. RingCentral’s processing of personal data is subject to a myriad of obligations and restrictions flowing from laws, regulations,
industry standards, and contracts.

Data protection laws in the U.S. and abroad give consumers and businesses rights to control the processing of personal data, including the right to opt-out of
the sale, sharing, or certain uses of their data and to which countries their data may be transferred. In the U.S., we could be subject to enforcement actions if the FTC
or state attorneys general have reason to believe we have engaged in unfair or deceptive privacy or data security practices. Sector specific laws applicable to personal
health data, personal data processed on behalf of financial institutions, data about minors, and personal data processed in the course of providing communications
services impose compliance costs and create regulatory risks. Omnibus privacy laws applicable abroad and in an increasing number of U.S. states may apply to
RingCentral’s processing in those jurisdictions. In addition, many data protection laws outside the United States prohibit or impose burdens on the transfer of
personal data to countries, including the U.S., that have been deemed not to provide adequate privacy protections. Our obligations under these laws and regulations
may be unclear, compliance can be costly, and penalties for non-compliance can be substantial. Increasingly, jurisdictions in which RingCentral does business are
regulating digital services and emerging technologies such as Al in ways that go beyond traditional privacy and data protection legislation. The impact of this
regulatory activity on the overall industry, business models and our operations are uncertain and could result in changed or new operational and administrative costs
that could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

If we experience or suspect a data security incident, we may incur significant costs associated with investigation, mitigation, remediation, and customer
notifications. We may be unable to maintain complete control over data security, e.g., our customers may accidentally disclose their passwords. Additionally, if our
third-party contractors experience a data security incident, or violate applicable laws or our policies, such incidents or violations may also put our customers’
information at risk, create the perception that our systems are not secure, and in turn have a material and adverse effect on our business.

Regulation of personal information is evolving, and new laws could further impact how we handle personal information and/or could require us to incur
additional compliance costs, either or both of which could have an adverse impact on our operations. The scope and status of these obligations and restrictions is
uncertain, changing, subject to differing interpretations, and may be inconsistent from jurisdiction to jurisdiction. As implementation and enforcement of these
existing and new laws and regulations progress, we could experience additional costs associated with increased compliance burdens and contractual obligations, be
required to localize certain personal data, and/or be at risk for increased regulatory fines or damages. Failure to comply with obligations and restrictions related to
data privacy, data protection, and security in any jurisdiction in which we operate could subject us to regulatory investigations, lawsuits, substantial fines, sanctions,
civil and criminal penalties, damages (including statutory damages), consent decrees, injunctions, adverse publicity, reputational damage, and other losses. Further,
our actual compliance, our customers’ perception of our compliance, costs of compliance with such regulations, and obligations and customer concerns regarding
their own compliance obligations (whether factual or in error) may limit the use and adoption of our subscriptions and reduce overall demand. Even the perception of
privacy-related concerns, whether or not valid, may inhibit market adoption of our subscriptions in certain industries.

Risks Related to Intellectual Property
Accusations of infringement of third-party intellectual property rights could materially and adversely affect our business.

There has been substantial litigation in the areas in which we operate regarding intellectual property rights. We have in the past received, and may in the
future receive, notices of claims of infringement, misappropriation or misuse of other parties’ proprietary rights. Accusations and lawsuits like these, whether against
us or our customers, resellers, GSPs, strategic partners, or others, may require significant time and expense to defend, may negatively affect customer relationships,
may divert management’s attention away from other aspects of our operations and, upon resolution, may have a material adverse effect on our business, results of
operations, financial condition, and cash flows. We have agreed and will continue to agree to indemnify others for expenses and liability resulting from claimed
intellectual property infringement by our solutions. In the past, we have settled infringement and misappropriation litigation brought against us; however, we cannot
assure you that we will be able to settle any future claims or, if we are able to settle any such claims, that the settlement will be on terms favorable to us. Our broad
range of technology may increase the likelihood that third parties will claim that we or those we indemnify, infringe third
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party intellectual property rights. If we, or any of our solutions, were found to be infringing on the intellectual property rights of any third party, we could be subject
to liability for such infringement, which could be material. We could also be prohibited from using or selling certain subscriptions, prohibited from using certain
processes, required to pay license fees for the technology, or required to redesign certain subscriptions, each of which could have a material adverse effect on our
business and results of operations.

Certain technology necessary for us to provide our subscriptions may be protected by the intellectual property rights of others either now or in the future and
we would have to negotiate a license for the use of that technology. We may not be able to negotiate such a license at a price that is acceptable to us or at all.

Our inability to obtain licenses to third party technology may:

. result in the loss of a substantial number of existing customers or prohibit the acquisition of new customers;

. cause us to pay license fees for intellectual property we are deemed to have infringed,

. cause us to incur costs and devote valuable technical resources to redesigning our subscriptions;

. cause our cost of revenues to increase;

. cause us to manage or defend legal disputes, including litigation which may result in incremental cost, liabilities, reputational damage and distraction

to our management team;

. cause us to accelerate expenditures to preserve existing revenues;

. cause existing or new vendors to require pre-payments or letters of credit;

. materially and adversely affect our brand in the marketplace and cause a substantial loss of goodwill;
. cause us to change our business methods or subscriptions;

. cause us to remove, cease to offer, and/or modify certain features and functions from our products;

. require us to cease certain business operations or offering certain subscriptions or features; and

. lead to our bankruptcy or liquidation.

Our limited ability to protect our intellectual property rights could materially and adversely affect our business.

We rely, in part, on patent, trademark, copyright, and trade secret law to protect our intellectual property in the U.S. and abroad. We typically enter into
confidentiality agreements with our employees, consultants, third-party contractors, customers, and vendors in an effort to control access to, use of, and distribution
of our technology, software, documentation, and other information. These agreements may not effectively prevent unauthorized use or disclosure of confidential
information and may not provide an adequate remedy in the event of such unauthorized use or disclosure, and it may be possible for a third party to legally reverse
engineer, copy, or otherwise obtain and use our technology without authorization. In addition, improper disclosure of trade secret information by our current or
former employees, consultants, third-party contractors, customers, or vendors to the public or others who could make use of the trade secret information would likely
preclude that information from being protected as a trade secret.

We also rely, in part, on patent law to protect our intellectual property in the U.S. and internationally. As of December 31, 2024, our intellectual property
portfolio included 478 issued patents, including patents acquired from strategic partnership transactions, which expire between 2025 and 2042. As of December 31,
2024, we also had 75 patent applications pending examination in the U.S. and 24 patent applications pending examination in foreign jurisdictions, all of which are
related to U.S. applications. We cannot predict whether such pending patent applications will result in issued patents or whether any issued patents will effectively
protect our intellectual property. Even if a pending patent application results in an issued patent, the patent may be invalidated or may be circumvented by others.
Further, we have in the past and may in the future "prune" our patent portfolio by not continuing to renew some of our patents in some jurisdictions or may decide to
divest some of our patents.

The unlicensed use of our brand, including through the registration of domain names, by third parties could harm our reputation, cause confusion among our
customers and impair our ability to market our solutions and subscriptions. We have registered numerous trademarks and service marks and have applied for
registration of additional trademarks and service marks and have acquired a large number of domain names in and outside the U.S. to establish and protect our brand
names as part of our intellectual property strategy. If our applications receive objections or are successfully opposed by third parties, it will be difficult for us to
prevent third parties from using our brand without our permission. Moreover, successful opposition to our
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applications might encourage third parties to make additional oppositions or commence trademark infringement proceedings against us, which could be costly and
time consuming to defend against. If we are not successful in protecting our trademarks, our trademark rights may be diluted and subject to challenge or invalidation,
which could materially and adversely affect our brand.

Despite our efforts to implement our intellectual property strategy, we may not be able to protect or enforce our proprietary rights in the U.S. or
internationally (where effective intellectual property protection may be unavailable or limited). Also, our competitors may independently develop technologies that
are similar or superior to our technology, duplicate our technology in a manner that does not infringe our intellectual property rights or design around any of our
patents. Furthermore, detecting and policing unauthorized use of our intellectual property is difficult and resource-intensive. Moreover, litigation may be necessary in
the future to enforce our intellectual property rights, to determine the validity and scope of the proprietary rights of others, or to defend against claims of infringement
or invalidity. Such litigation, whether successful or not, could result in substantial costs and diversion of management time and resources and could have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

Our use of open source technology could impose limitations on our ability to commercialize our subscriptions.

We use open source software in our platform on which we deliver our services. While we use tools designed to help us monitor and comply with the licenses
of third-party open source software and protect our valuable proprietary source code, we may inadvertently use third-party open source software. There is a risk that
the owners of the copyrights in such software may claim that such licenses impose unanticipated conditions or restrictions on our ability to provide our services. If
such owners prevail in such claim, we could be required to make the source code for our proprietary software (which contains our valuable trade secrets) generally
available to third parties, including competitors, at no cost, to seek licenses from third parties in order to continue offering our subscriptions, to re-engineer our
technology, or to discontinue offering our subscriptions in the event re-engineering cannot be accomplished on a timely basis or at all, any of which could cause us to
discontinue offering our products, harm our reputation, result in customer losses or claims, increase our costs or otherwise materially and adversely affect our
business and results of operations.

Risks Related to Our Indebtedness

We may require additional capital or need to restructure our existing debt to pursue our business objectives and to respond to business opportunities, challenges
or unforeseen circumstances. If capital is not available to us, our business, results of operations, and financial condition may be adversely affected.

We intend to continue to make expenditures and investments to support the growth of our business and may require additional capital to pursue our business
objectives and respond to business opportunities, challenges, or unforeseen circumstances. Accordingly, we may need to engage in equity or debt financing activities
to secure additional funds or restructure our existing debt. However, additional funds may not be available or we may not be able to restructure our existing debt
when we need to on terms that are acceptable to us, or at all. Volatility in equity capital markets may materially and adversely affect our ability to fund our business
through public or private sales of equity securities or debt restructuring. Fluctuating interest rates and/or instability in the banking and finance industries may reduce
our access to debt capital. Our current debt agreements do contain and any future debt financing that we secure in the future may include restrictive covenants, which
may make it more difficult for us to obtain additional capital and to pursue business opportunities. In addition, the restrictive covenants in the Credit Agreement,
Senior Notes Indenture and any additional credit facilities or debt agreements we may secure in the future may restrict us from being able to conduct our operations
in a manner appropriate for our business and may restrict our growth, which could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition, or results of
operations.

We cannot assure you that we will be able to comply with any such restrictive covenants. In the event that we are unable to comply with these covenants in
the future, we would seek an amendment or waiver of the covenants. We cannot assure you that any such waiver or amendment would be granted. In such event, we
may be required to repay any or all of our existing borrowings, and we cannot assure you that we will be able to borrow under our existing credit agreements, or
obtain alternative funding arrangements on commercially reasonable terms, or at all.

In addition, volatility in the credit markets may have an adverse effect on our ability to obtain debt financing. The conversion of our outstanding Convertible
Notes and any future issuances of other equity or any future issuances of equity or convertible debt securities could result in significant dilution to our existing
stockholders, and any new equity or convertible debt securities we issue could have rights, preferences, and privileges superior to those of holders of our Class A
Common Stock. If we are unable to obtain adequate financing or financing on terms satisfactory to us, when we require it, our ability to
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continue to pursue our business objectives and to respond to business opportunities, challenges, or unforeseen circumstances could be significantly limited, and our
business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects could be materially and adversely affected.

Servicing our debt, including the Notes and the Credit Agreement, may require a significant amount of cash, and we may not have sufficient cash flow from our
business or the ability to raise the funds necessary to settle conversions of the Convertible Notes in cash, repurchases of the Notes as required following a
fundamental change or change of control, as applicable, or to repay all of our indebtedness at maturity.

As of December 31, 2024, we had $161.3 million principal amount of our 0% convertible senior notes due 2025 (the “2025 Convertible Notes”) outstanding,
$609.1 million principal amount of our 0% convertible senior notes due 2026 (the “2026 Convertible Notes” and, together with the 2025 Convertible Notes, the
“Convertible Notes”) outstanding and $400.0 million principal amount of our 8.500% senior notes due 2030 (the “2030 Senior Notes” and, together with the
Convertible Notes, the “Notes”) outstanding. As of December 31, 2024, we had no amounts outstanding under our Revolving Credit Facility and $370.0 million
principal outstanding under our Term Loan. Subject to certain conditions, we may borrow additional amounts under the Credit Agreement, as amended, including up
to $225.0 million under our existing Revolving Credit Facility, up to $75.0 million of additional Term Loans that are available until May 2, 2025, and $275.0 million
of Term Loan Commitments available for draw until May 6, 2025.

The Convertible Notes contain a conversion feature that allows holders to convert their Convertible Notes into shares of our Class A Common Stock as set
forth in each of the indentures governing our Convertible Notes (the “Convertible Notes Indentures”). In the event the conditional conversion feature of the
Convertible Notes is triggered, holders of the Convertible Notes will be entitled under the applicable Convertible Notes Indenture to convert such Convertible Notes
at any time during specified periods at their option. If one or more holders of a series elect to convert their Convertible Notes, we would be required to settle a portion
or all of our conversion obligation in cash, which could adversely affect our liquidity.

In addition, holders of the Notes will have the right to require us to repurchase all or a portion of such Notes upon the occurrence of a fundamental change or
change of control, as applicable, before the applicable maturity date at a repurchase price as set forth in the Senior Notes Indenture or the Convertible Notes
Indentures, as applicable, plus any accrued and unpaid interest or special interest thereon, if any, as set forth in the applicable Notes Indenture. In addition, upon
conversion of the Convertible Notes of the applicable series, we will be required to make cash payments in respect of such Convertible Notes being converted, as set
forth in the applicable Convertible Notes Indenture. Moreover, we will be required to repay the Notes of the applicable series in cash at their respective maturity
unless earlier converted, redeemed or repurchased, as applicable. However, even though we entered into the Credit Agreement, we cannot assure you that we will
have enough available cash on hand or be able to obtain financing at the time we are required to make repurchases of such Notes surrendered therefor or pay cash
with respect to (i) such series of Convertible Notes being converted or (ii) such series of Notes at their respective maturity.

Our ability to make required cash payments in connections with conversions of the Convertible Notes, repurchases of the Notes as required following a
fundamental change or change of control, as applicable, to make scheduled payments of the principal of, to pay interest on or to refinance our indebtedness, including
the Notes and any amounts borrowed under the Credit Agreement, depends on our future performance, which is subject to economic, financial, competitive, and other
factors beyond our control. Our business may not generate cash flow from operations in the future sufficient to service our debt and make necessary capital
expenditures. If we are unable to generate such cash flow, we may be required to adopt one or more alternatives, such as selling assets, restructuring debt, or
obtaining additional debt financing or equity capital on terms that may be onerous or highly dilutive. Our ability to refinance any future indebtedness will depend on
the capital markets and our financial condition at such time. We may not be able to engage in any of these activities or engage in these activities on desirable terms,
which could result in a default on our debt obligations. Additionally, if expectations around our ability to effectively manage and repay our debt obligations are not
met in future periods, our financial performance will be harmed and our stock price could be volatile or decline. The Credit Agreement and the Senior Notes
Indenture also contain, and any of our future debt agreements may also contain, restrictive covenants that may prohibit us from adopting some or any of these
alternatives. For example, the Senior Notes Indenture contains restrictive covenants that may limit our ability, and the ability of our subsidiary guarantors, to, among
other things, create liens on certain assets to secure debt, grant a subsidiary guarantee of certain debt without also providing a guarantee of the 2030 Senior Notes,
and consolidate or merge with or into, or sell or otherwise dispose of all or substantially all of our assets to, another person, and the Credit Agreement contains
negative covenants that restrict our and our subsidiaries’ ability to incur indebtedness, create liens, make investments, dispose of assets and make certain restricted
payments. Our failure to comply with these covenants could result in an event of default under our indebtedness which, if not cured or waived, could result in the
acceleration of our debt and termination of the commitments under the Credit Agreement.
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In addition, our indebtedness, combined with our other financial obligations and contractual commitments, could have other important consequences. For
example, it could:

. require a portion of our cash flows to be dedicated to debt service payments instead of other purposes, thereby reducing the amount of cash flows
available to fund acquisitions, for working capital and capital expenditures, and for other general corporate purposes;

. make us more vulnerable to adverse changes in general U.S. and worldwide economic, industry, and competitive conditions and adverse changes in
government regulations;

. limit our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our business and industry;

. place us at a disadvantage compared to our competitors who have less debt;

. limit our ability to obtain additional financing to fund acquisitions, for working capital and capital expenditures, and for other general corporate
purposes;

. make an acquisition of our company less attractive or more difficult; and

. limit our ability to repurchase capital stock or manage shareholder dilution.

Any of these factors could harm our business, results of operations, and financial condition. In addition, if we incur additional indebtedness, the risks related
to our business and our ability to service or repay our indebtedness would increase.

Our Credit Agreement imposes operating and financial restrictions on us.

On February 14, 2023, we entered into a Credit Agreement among us, the lenders from time to time party thereto and Bank of America, N.A., as
administrative agent and as collateral agent (as amended, the “Credit Agreement”). As of December 31, 2024, we had no amounts outstanding under our Revolving
Credit Facility, $370.0 million principal outstanding under our Term Loan, and $75.0 million of Term Loan commitments available for draw until May 2, 2025 and
$275.0 million of Term Loan Commitments available for draw until May 6, 2025. Any drawdown under the Credit Agreement is subject to compliance with the
restrictive covenants contained in the indenture governing the 2030 Senior Notes (the “Senior Notes Indenture”).

Our Credit Agreement contains covenants that limit our ability and the ability of certain of our subsidiaries to:

. incur and guarantee additional debt;

. incur liens;

. make acquisitions and other investments;

. dispose of assets;

. pay dividends and make other distributions in respect of, or redeem or repurchase, capital stock;

. prepay, redeem or repurchase certain subordinated debt;

. enter into transactions with affiliates;

. with respect to such subsidiaries, enter into agreements restricting their ability to pay dividends or make other distributions; and
. consolidate, merge or sell all or substantially all of our or such subsidiaries’ assets.

Further, the Credit Agreement contains financial covenants that require compliance with a maximum total net leverage ratio and minimum interest coverage
ratio, in each case tested at the end of each fiscal quarter. These covenants may adversely affect our ability to finance our operations, meet or otherwise address our
capital needs, pursue business opportunities or react to market conditions, or otherwise restrict our activities or business plans. In addition, our obligations to repay
principal and interest on our indebtedness could make us vulnerable to economic or market downturns.

A breach of any of these covenants could result in an event of default under the Credit Agreement. As of December 31, 2024, we were in compliance with all
covenants under the Credit Agreement; however, if an event of default occurs, the lenders may elect to terminate their commitments and accelerate our obligations
under the Credit Agreement. Any such acceleration could result in an event of default under the Notes. We might not be able to repay our debt or borrow sufficient
funds to refinance it on terms that are acceptable to us or at all. Refer to Note 6 — Long-Term Debt in the accompanying notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements included in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for additional information.
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The capped call transactions may affect the value of the 2026 Convertible Notes and our Class A Common Stock and we are subject to counterparty risk.

In connection with the issuances of the 2026 Convertible Notes, we entered into capped call transactions with the option counterparties. The capped call
transactions cover, subject to customary adjustments, the number of shares of our Class A Common Stock initially underlying the 2026 Convertible Notes. The
capped call transactions are expected to offset the potential dilution as a result of conversion of the 2026 Convertible Notes.

The counterparties or their respective affiliates may modify their hedge positions by entering into or unwinding various derivatives with respect to our Class
A Common Stock and/or purchasing or selling our Class A Common Stock or other securities of ours in secondary market transactions at any time prior to the
maturity of the 2026 Convertible Notes (and are likely to do so on each exercise date of the capped call transactions). This activity could also cause or prevent an
increase or a decrease in the market price of our Class A Common Stock.

We do not make any representation or prediction as to the direction or magnitude of any potential effect that the transactions described above may have on
the price of the 2026 Convertible Notes or the shares of our Class A Common Stock. In addition, we do not make any representation that these transactions will not
be discontinued without notice.

In addition, the option counterparties are financial institutions and we will be subject to the risk that one or more of the counterparties may default or
otherwise fail to perform, or may exercise certain rights to terminate, their obligations under the capped call transactions. If an option counterparty becomes subject
to insolvency proceedings, we will become an unsecured creditor in those proceedings with a claim equal to our exposure at the time under such transaction. Our
exposure will depend on many factors but, generally, it will increase if the market price or the volatility of our Class A Common Stock increases. Upon a default or
other failure to perform, or a termination of obligations, by an option counterparty, we may suffer adverse tax consequences and more dilution than we currently
anticipate with respect to our Class A Common Stock. We can provide no assurances as to the financial stability or viability of the option counterparties.

Risks Related to Our Class A Common Stock and Our Charter Provisions
The market price of our Class A Common Stock is likely to be volatile and could decline.

The stock market in general, and the market for SaaS and other technology-related stocks in particular, has been highly volatile. As a result, the market price
and trading volume for our Class A Common Stock has been and may continue to be highly volatile, and investors in our Class A Common Stock may experience a
decrease in the value of their shares, including decreases unrelated to our operating performance or prospects. Factors that could cause the market price of our Class
A Common Stock to fluctuate significantly include:

. our operating and financial performance and prospects and the performance of other similar companies including our strategic partners and GSPs;
. our quarterly or annual earnings or those of other companies in our industry;

. conditions that impact demand for our subscriptions;

. the public’s reaction to our press releases, financial guidance, and other public announcements, and filings with the SEC;

. changes in earnings estimates or recommendations by securities or research analysts who track our Class A Common Stock;
. actual or perceived security breaches, or other privacy or cybersecurity incidents;

. market and industry perception of our success, or lack thereof, in pursuing our growth strategy;

. strategic actions by us or our competitors, such as acquisitions or restructurings;

. changes in government and other regulations;

. arrival and departure of key personnel,

. sales of common stock by us, our investors, or members of our management team;

. repurchases of Class A Common Stock by the Company; and
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. changes in general market, economic, and political conditions in the U.S. and global economies or financial markets.

Any of these factors may result in large and sudden changes in the trading volume and market price of our Class A Common Stock and may prevent
investors from being able to sell their shares at or above the price they paid for their shares of our Class A Common Stock. Following periods of volatility in the
market price of a company’s securities, stockholders often file securities class-action lawsuits against such company. Our involvement in a class-action lawsuit could
divert our senior management’s attention and, if adversely determined, could have a material and adverse effect on our business, reputation, financial condition, and
results of operations.

For as long as the dual class structure of our common stock as contained in our charter documents is in effect, voting control will be concentrated with a limited
number of stockholders that held our stock prior to our initial public offering, including primarily our founders and their affiliates, and limiting other
stockholders’ ability to influence corporate matters.

Our Class B Common Stock, par value $0.0001 per share (“Class B Common Stock™ and, together with our Class A Common Stock, our “common stock”),
has 10 votes per share, and our Class A Common Stock has one vote per share. Additionally, our Series A Convertible Preferred Stock has voting power measured on
an as-converted to Class A Common Stock basis. As of December 31, 2024, stockholders who hold shares of Class B Common Stock, including our founders and
certain executive officers, and their affiliates, together hold approximately 55% of the voting power of our outstanding capital stock, and our founders, including our
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, together hold a majority of such voting power. As a result, for as long as the dual class structure remains in place, a small
number of stockholders who acquired their shares prior to the completion of our initial public offering will continue to have significant influence over the
management and affairs of our company and over the outcome of many matters submitted to our stockholders for approval, including the election of directors and
significant corporate transactions, such as a merger, consolidation or sale of substantially all of our assets.

In addition, because of the ten-to-one voting ratio between our Class B Common Stock and Class A Common Stock, the holders of Class B Common Stock
collectively will continue to control many matters submitted to our stockholders for approval even if their stock holdings represent less than 50% of the outstanding
shares of our capital stock. This concentrated control will limit your ability to influence corporate matters for the foreseeable future, and, as a result, the market price
of our Class A Common Stock could be adversely affected.

Future transfers by holders of Class B Common Stock will generally result in those shares converting to Class A Common Stock, which may have the effect,
over time, of increasing the relative voting power of those holders of Class B Common Stock who retain their shares in the long term. If, for example, Mr. Shmunis
retains a significant portion of his holdings of Class B Common Stock for an extended period of time, he could, in the future, control a majority of the combined
voting power of our capital stock. As a board member, Mr. Shmunis owes fiduciary duties to our stockholders and must act in good faith in a manner he reasonably
believes to be in the best interests of our stockholders. As a stockholder, Mr. Shmunis is generally entitled to vote his shares in his own interests, which may not
always be in the interests of our stockholders generally.

We have never paid cash dividends and do not anticipate paying any cash dividends on our common stock.

We currently do not plan to declare dividends on shares of our common stock in the foreseeable future and plan to, instead, retain any earnings to finance
our operations and growth. In addition, the Revolving Credit Facility contains restrictive covenants that limit our ability to pay dividends. Because we have never
paid cash dividends and do not anticipate paying any cash dividends on our common stock in the foreseeable future, the only opportunity to achieve a return on an
investor’s investment in our company will be if the market price of our Class A Common Stock appreciates and the investor sells its shares at a profit. There is no
guarantee that the price of our Class A Common Stock that will prevail in the market will ever exceed the price that an investor pays.

The holders of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock are generally entitled to vote with the holders of our Class A Common Stock, which reduces the relative
voting power of holders of our Class A Common Stock, and the holders of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock have certain separate consent rights.

The holders of our Series A Convertible Preferred Stock are generally entitled to vote with the holders of our Class A Common Stock on an as-converted
basis, which reduces the relative voting power of the holders of our Class A Common Stock. However, the approval of the holders of at least a majority of the
outstanding shares of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock (voting together as a separate class) is required in order for us to take certain actions, including certain
actions that, among other things, would have an adverse effect, in any material respect, on the rights, preferences, privileges or voting power
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of the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock or the holders thereof. As a result, the holders of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock may in the future have the ability to
influence the outcome of certain matters affecting our governance and capitalization.

Our Series A Convertible Preferred Stock has certain rights that are preferential to the rights of our common stock, which could adversely affect our liquidity and
financial condition.

The holders of our Series A Convertible Preferred Stock have the right to receive dividends and distributions of assets on any liquidation, dissolution or
winding up of our business before any payment may be made to holders of our common stock. In addition, upon the occurrence of certain change of control events,
all shares of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock will automatically be redeemed by us for a price equal to $1,000 per share. These dividend and redemption
obligations could impact our liquidity and reduce the amount of cash flows available for working capital, capital expenditures, growth opportunities, acquisitions, and
other general corporate purposes. Our obligations to the holders of our Series A Convertible Preferred Stock could also limit our ability to obtain additional financing,
which could have an adverse effect on our financial condition. The preferential rights could also result in divergent interests between the holders of our Series A
Convertible Preferred Stock and holders of our common stock.

We cannot guarantee that our stock repurchase programs will be fully implemented or that they will enhance long-term stockholder value.

Our board of directors has authorized a share repurchase program. We plan to fund repurchases under this program from our future cash flow generation, as
well as from additional potential sources of cash including capped calls associated with the Convertible Notes. Under this program, share repurchases may be made at
our discretion from time to time in open market transactions, privately negotiated transactions, or other means. This program does not obligate us to repurchase any
specific dollar amount or to acquire any specific number of shares of our Class A Common Stock. During the twelve months ended December 31, 2024, we
repurchased approximately $316.9 million of our Class A Common Stock under this program. The timing and number of any future shares repurchased under this
program will be determined by our management and will depend on a variety of factors, including stock price, trading volume, and general business and market
conditions. Our board of directors will review this program periodically and may authorize adjustments of its terms, if appropriate. As a result, there can be no
guarantee around the timing or volume of our share repurchases. This program could affect the price of our Class A Common Stock, increase volatility and diminish
our cash reserves. This program may be suspended or terminated at any time and, even if fully implemented, may not enhance long-term stockholder value. Refer to
Part II, Item 5 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for additional information.

Anti-takeover provisions in our certificate of incorporation and bylaws and under Delaware corporate law could make an acquisition of us more difficult, limit
attempts by our stockholders to replace or remove our current management and limit the market price of our Class A Common Stock.

Provisions in our certificate of incorporation and bylaws may have the effect of delaying or preventing a change of control or changes in our management.
Our certificate of incorporation and bylaws include provisions that:

. authorize our board of directors to issue, without further action by the stockholders (subject to certain consent rights of the holders of Series A
Convertible Preferred Stock), up to 100,000,000 shares of undesignated preferred stock, 200,000 share of which are currently designated as Series A
Convertible Preferred Stock;

. require that, once our outstanding shares of Class B Common Stock represent less than a majority of the combined voting power of our common
stock, any action to be taken by our stockholders be effected at a duly called annual or special meeting and not by written consent; specify that special
meetings of our stockholders can be called only by our board of directors, the Chairman of our board of directors, or our Chief Executive Officer;

. establish an advance notice procedure for stockholder proposals to be brought before any meeting of stockholders, including proposed nominations of
persons for election to our board of directors;

. prohibit cumulative voting in the election of directors;

. provide that vacancies or other unfilled seats on our board of directors may be filled only by a majority of directors then in office, even though less
than a quorum;

. state that the approval of the holders of a supermajority of the voting power of our outstanding shares of capital stock is required to amend certain
provisions of our bylaws and our certificate of incorporation; and

. reflect two classes of common stock, as discussed above.
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These provisions may frustrate or prevent any attempts by our stockholders to replace or remove our current management by making it more difficult for
stockholders to replace members of our board of directors, which is responsible for appointing the members of our management. In addition, because we are
incorporated in Delaware, we are governed by the provisions of Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, which generally prohibits a Delaware
corporation from engaging in any of a broad range of business combinations with any “interested” stockholder for a period of three years following the date on which
the stockholder became an “interested” stockholder without obtaining specified approvals.

If research analysts do not publish research or reports about our business, or if they issue unfavorable commentary or downgrade our Class A Common Stock,
our stock price and trading volume may decline.

The trading market for our Class A Common Stock will depend in part on the research and reports that research analysts publish about us and our business.
If we do not maintain adequate research coverage or if one or more analysts who covers us downgrades our stock or publishes inaccurate or unfavorable research

about our business, the price of our Class A Common Stock may decline. If one or more of the research analysts ceases coverage of our company or fails to publish
reports on us regularly, demand for our Class A Common Stock may decrease, which could cause our stock price or trading volume to decline.

Risks Related to Taxation and Accounting Matters

Changes in effective tax rates, or adverse outcomes resulting from examination of our income or other tax returns, could adversely affect our results of
operations and financial condition.

Our future effective tax rates could be subject to volatility or adversely affected by a number of factors, including:

. changes in the valuation of our deferred tax assets and liabilities;

. expiration of, or lapses in, the research and development tax credit laws;

. expiration or non-utilization of net operating loss carryforwards;

. tax effects of share-based compensation;

. expansion into new jurisdictions;

. potential challenges to and costs related to implementation and ongoing operation of our intercompany arrangements;
. changes in tax laws and regulations and accounting principles, or interpretations or applications thereof; and

. certain non-deductible expenses as a result of acquisitions.

Any changes in our effective tax rate could adversely affect our results of operations.
Changes in U.S. and foreign tax laws could have a material adverse effect on our business, cash flow, results of operations or financial conditions.

We are subject to tax laws, regulations, and policies of the U.S. federal, state, and local governments and of comparable taxing authorities in foreign
jurisdictions. Changes in tax laws, as well as other factors, could cause us to experience fluctuations in our tax obligations and effective tax rates and otherwise
adversely affect our tax positions and/or our tax liabilities. For example, certain jurisdictions, such as Canada, the United Kingdom and France, have enacted a digital
services tax on revenues derived from digital activities in those jurisdictions, and other jurisdictions have enacted or are considering enacting similar laws in the
future. In addition, the United States introduced a 1% excise tax on stock buybacks, which could increase the cost to us of implementing our share repurchase
programs or repurchasing our Series A Convertible Preferred Stock, and a 15% alternative minimum tax on adjusted financial statement income. Many countries,
including the United States, and organizations such as the Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development (the “OECD”) are also actively considering
changes to existing tax laws or have proposed or enacted new laws that could increase our tax obligations in countries where we do business or cause us to change the
way we operate our business. As an example, on October 8, 2021, the OECD announced the OECD/G20 Inclusive Framework on Base Erosion and Profit Shifting,
which agreed to a two-pillar solution to address tax challenges arising from digitalization of the economy. On December 20, 2021, the OECD released Pillar Two
Model Rules defining the global minimum tax rules, which contemplate a global minimum tax rate of 15% for certain large multinational companies. On December
15, 2022, the European Union (the “EU”’) Member States formally adopted the EU’s Pillar Two Directive and various countries have enacted or are in the process of
enacting legislation on these rules. The
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Pillar Two legislative changes, when enacted by various countries in which we do business, are not anticipated to have a material impact on our tax liabilities. We will
continue to monitor legislative and regulatory developments to assess potential impacts that Pillar Two rules may have on our business, operating results and financial
condition. Any further developments or changes in U.S. federal or state, or international tax laws or tax rulings could adversely affect our effective tax rate and our
operating results. There can be no assurance that our effective tax rates, tax payments, tax credits, or incentives will not be adversely affected by these or other
developments or changes in law.

We may be subject to liabilities on past sales for taxes, surcharges, and fees and our operating results may be harmed if we are required to collect such amounts
in jurisdictions where we have not historically done so.

We believe we collect state and local sales tax and use, excise, utility user, and ad valorem taxes, fees, or surcharges in all relevant jurisdictions in which we
generate sales, based on our understanding of the applicable laws in those jurisdictions. Such tax, fees and surcharge laws and rates vary greatly by jurisdiction, and
the application of such taxes to e-commerce businesses, such as ours, is complex and continuing to develop. There is uncertainty as to what constitutes sufficient “in
state presence” for a state to levy taxes, fees, and surcharges for sales made over the Internet, and after the U.S. Supreme Court’s ruling in South Dakota v. Wayfair,
U.S. states may require an online retailer with no in-state property or personnel to collect and remit sales tax on sales to the state’s residents, which may permit wider
enforcement of sales tax collection requirements. Therefore, the application of existing or future laws relating to indirect taxes to our business, or the audit of our
business and operations with respect to such taxes or challenges of our positions by taxing authorities, could result in increased tax liabilities for us or our customers,
which could materially and adversely affect our results of operations and our relationships with our customers. Further, we have in the past and may in the future be
audited by federal, state, and local tax authorities which could lead to liabilities for past unpaid taxes, fines, and penalties.

We may be unable to use some or all of our net operating loss and research credit carryforwards, which could materially and adversely affect our reported
financial condition and results of operations.

As of December 31, 2024, we had federal net operating loss carryforwards (“NOLs”) of $1.4 billion, which does not expire. Additionally, we have state net
operating loss carryforwards of $1.2 billion that began to expire in 2025. We also have federal research tax credit carryforwards that will begin to expire in 2028.
Realization of these net operating loss and research tax credit carryforwards depends on future income, and there is a risk that our existing carryforwards could expire
unused and be unavailable to offset future income tax liabilities, which could materially and adversely affect our reported financial condition and results of
operations.

In addition to the potential carryforward limitations described above, under Sections 382 and 383 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 (the “Code”), as
amended, our ability to utilize NOLs or other tax attributes, such as research tax credits, in any taxable year may be limited if we experience an “ownership change.”
An “ownership change” generally occurs if one or more stockholders or groups of stockholders, who each own at least 5% of our stock, increase their collective
ownership by more than 50 percentage points over their lowest ownership percentage within a rolling three-year period. Similar rules may apply under state tax laws.
In addition, in June 2024 California enacted legislation that limits the use of NOLs and tax credits for taxable years beginning on or after January 1, 2024, and before
January 1, 2027, which may adversely affect our company if it earns taxable income in the impacted tax years.

No material deferred tax assets have been recognized on our Consolidated Balance Sheets related to these NOLs, as they are fully offset by a valuation
allowance. If we have previously had, or have in the future, one or more Section 382 “ownership changes,” including in connection with our initial public offering or
another offering, or if we do not generate sufficient taxable income, we may not be able to utilize a material portion of our NOLs, even if we achieve profitability. If
we are limited in our ability to use our NOLs in future years in which we have taxable income, we will pay more taxes than if we were able to fully utilize our NOLs.
This could materially and adversely affect our reported financial condition and results of operations.

If our internal control over financial reporting is not effective, it may adversely affect investor confidence in our company.

Pursuant to Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, our independent registered public accounting firm, KPMG LLP, is required to and has issued an
attestation report as of December 31, 2024. While management concluded internal control over financial reporting was at a reasonable assurance level as of
December 31, 2024, there can be no assurance that material weaknesses will not be identified in the future. A “material weakness” is a deficiency, or a combination of
deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of our annual or interim financial
statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. During the evaluation and testing process, if we identify one or more material weaknesses in our
internal control over financial reporting, we will be unable to assert that our
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internal controls are effective. As a result, we may need to undertake various actions, such as implementing new internal controls and procedures and hiring
accounting or internal audit staff. Our remediation efforts may not enable us to avoid a material weakness in the future.

If our independent registered public accounting firm is unable to express an opinion on the effectiveness of our internal controls, we could lose investor
confidence in the accuracy and completeness of our financial reports, which could cause the price of our Class A Common Stock to decline, and we may be subject to
investigation or sanctions by the SEC.

The nature of our business requires the application of complex revenue and expense recognition rules and the current legislative and regulatory environment
affecting generally accepted accounting principles is uncertain. Significant changes in current principles could affect our financial statements going forward
and changes in financial accounting standards or practices may cause adverse, unexpected financial reporting fluctuations and harm our operating results.

The accounting rules and regulations that we must comply with are complex and subject to interpretation by the Financial Accounting Standards Board (the
“FASB”), the SEC and various bodies formed to promulgate and interpret appropriate accounting principles. Recent actions and public comments from the FASB and
the SEC have focused on the integrity of financial reporting and internal controls. In addition, many companies’ accounting policies are being subject to heightened
scrutiny by regulators and the public. Further, the accounting rules and regulations are continually changing in ways that could materially impact our financial
statements.

We cannot predict the impact of future changes to accounting principles or our accounting policies on our financial statements going forward, which could
have a significant effect on our reported financial results and could affect the reporting of transactions completed before the announcement of the change. While we
are not aware of any specific event or circumstance that would require a material update to our estimates, judgments or assumptions, this may change in the future. In
addition, if we were to change our critical accounting estimates, including those related to the recognition of subscription revenue and other revenue sources, our
operating results could be significantly affected.

Our estimates or judgments relating to our critical accounting policies may be based on assumptions that change or prove to be incorrect, which could cause our
results of operations to fall below expectations of securities analysts and investors, resulting in a decline in the market price of our Class A common stock.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements, and the reported amounts of
revenues and expenses during the reporting period. The significant estimates made by management affect revenues, the allowance for doubtful accounts, valuation of
long-term investments, deferred and prepaid sales commission costs, goodwill, useful lives of intangible assets, share-based compensation, capitalization of internally
developed software, return reserves, provision for income taxes, uncertain tax positions, loss contingencies, sales tax liabilities, and accrued liabilities. We base our
estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances, as described in the section titled
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.” The results of these estimates form the basis for making judgments about
the recognition and measurement of certain assets and liabilities and revenue and expenses that is not readily apparent from other sources. Our accounting policies
that involve judgment include those related to revenues the allowance for doubtful accounts, valuation of long-term investments, deferred and prepaid sales
commission costs, goodwill, useful lives of intangible assets, share-based compensation, capitalization of internally developed software, return reserves, provision for
income taxes, uncertain tax positions, loss contingencies, sales tax liabilities, and accrued liabilities. If our assumptions change or if actual circumstances differ from
those in our assumptions, our results of operations could be adversely affected, which could cause our results of operations to fall below the expectations of securities
analysts and investors, resulting in a decline in the market price of our Class A common stock.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.
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ITEM 1C. CYBERSECURITY
Risk Management and Strategy

We have an enterprise-wide information security program designed to protect, identify, detect, respond to and manage reasonably foreseeable cybersecurity
risks and threats. Furthermore, to protect our information systems and data from cybersecurity threats, we use various security tools that help prevent, identify,
investigate, resolve and recover from identified vulnerabilities and security incidents in a timely manner. These include, but are not limited to, internal reporting,
monitoring and detection tools, and a bug bounty program to allow security researchers to assist us in identifying vulnerabilities in our products before they are
exploited by malicious threat actors. We also maintain a third party risk management program to identify, prioritize, assess, mitigate and remediate third party risks;
however, we rely on the third parties we use to implement security programs commensurate with their risks, and we cannot ensure in all circumstances that their
efforts will be successful.

We recognize the critical importance of maintaining the safety and security of our systems and data and have a holistic process for overseeing and managing
cybersecurity and related risks. This process is owned by the Chief Information Security Officer (“CISO”) and is supported by both management and our board of
directors.

The CISO is responsible for management of cybersecurity risk and the protection and defense of our networks, systems and data. The CISO manages a team
of cybersecurity professionals with broad experience and expertise, including in cybersecurity threat assessments and detection, mitigation technologies,
cybersecurity training, incident response, cyber forensics, insider threats and regulatory compliance. Our CISO has served in various information technology and
security leadership roles for over 20 years, including serving as the Chief Information Security Officer at 8x8 Communications and Lam Research Corporation. He
holds a B.S. degree in Information Technology from the University of the Pacific and an M.B.A. from the University of Southern California.

Our board of directors oversees our enterprise risk management activities in general, and receives regular updates on the company’s risk management
process and the risk trends related to cybersecurity. The audit committee specifically assists the board of directors in its oversight of risks related to cybersecurity. To
help ensure effective oversight, the audit committee receives regular reports on information security and cybersecurity from the CISO.

We have an established process and playbook led by our CISO governing our assessment, containment, mitigation, response and internal and external
disclosures upon the occurrence of a cybersecurity incident. Depending on the nature and severity of an incident, this process provides for escalating notification to
our CEO and the board of directors (including our lead independent director and the audit and committee chair).

Our approach to cybersecurity risk management includes the following key elements:

*  Multi-Layered Defense and Continuous Monitoring - We work to protect our computing environments and products from cybersecurity threats
through multi-layered defenses and apply lessons learned from our defense and monitoring efforts to help prevent future attacks. We utilize data analytics to
detect anomalies and search for cyber threats. Our Cybersecurity Operations Center provides comprehensive cyber threat detection and response capabilities
and maintains a 24 hour, seven day per week monitoring system which complements the technology, processes, and threat detection techniques we use to
monitor, manage, and mitigate cybersecurity threats. From time to time, we engage third party consultants or other advisors to assist in assessing, identifying
and/or managing cybersecurity threats. We also periodically use our internal audit function to conduct additional reviews and assessments.

»  Insider Threats - We maintain an insider threat program designed to identify, assess, and address potential risks from within our company. Our
program evaluates potential risks consistent with industry practices, customer requirements and applicable law, including privacy and other considerations.

*  Information Sharing and Collaboration - We work with government and local law enforcement, customers, industry and/or supplier partners to
gather and develop best practices and share information to address cyber threats. These relationships enable the rapid sharing of threat and vulnerability

mitigation information.

*  Third Party Risk Assessments - We conduct information security assessments before sharing or allowing the hosting of sensitive data in computing
environments managed by third parties, and our standard terms and conditions contain contractual provisions requiring certain security protections.
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*  Training and Awareness - We provide on at least an annual basis awareness training to our employees to help identify, avoid and mitigate
cybersecurity threats. Our employees with network access participate quarterly in required training, including spear phishing, social engineering and other
awareness training. We also periodically host tabletop exercises with management and other employees to practice rapid cyber incident response.

»  Supplier Engagement - We require our suppliers to comply with our standard information security terms and conditions, in addition to any
requirements from our customers, as a condition of doing business with us, and require them to complete information security questionnaires to review and
assess any potential cyber-related risks depending on the nature of the services being provided.

Although the "Risk Factors" section includes further detail about the material cybersecurity risks we face, we believe that risks from prior cybersecurity
threats, including as a result of any previous cybersecurity incidents, have not materially affected our business to date.

We continue to invest in the cybersecurity and resiliency of our networks and to enhance our internal controls and processes, which are designed to help

protect our systems and infrastructure, and the information they contain. For more information regarding the risks we face from cybersecurity threats, please see
“Risk Factors.”

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Our corporate headquarters is located in Belmont, California, and consists of approximately 110,000 square feet of office space under leases that expire in
July 2026.

We also lease office space in Denver, Colorado; London, England; Paris, France; Valencia, Spain; Sofia, Bulgaria; Bangalore, India; Xiamen and Hangzhou,
China; and other small offices worldwide. In addition, we lease space from third-party datacenter hosting facilities under co-location agreements that support our
cloud infrastructure, the most significant locations being Vienna and Ashburn, Virginia; San Jose and Santa Clara, California; Chicago, Illinois; Amsterdam, the

Netherlands; Zurich, Switzerland; Frankfurt, Germany; Bangalore and Mumbai, India; and other small locations worldwide. We believe that we will be able to obtain
additional space at other locations at commercially reasonable terms to support our continuing expansion.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

Information with respect to this item may be found in Note 10 — Commitments and Contingencies in the accompanying notes to the consolidated financial
statements included in Part II, Item 8, “Consolidated Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, under “Legal Matters”
which is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable.
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PART II

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY
SECURITIES
Market Information for Common Stock

Our Class A Common Stock has been listed on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol “RNG” since September 27, 2013.

Our Class B Common Stock is not listed or traded on any stock exchange.

Dividend Policy

We have never declared or paid cash dividends on our capital stock. We currently intend to retain any future earnings for use in the operation of our business
and do not intend to declare or pay any cash dividends in the foreseeable future. Any further determination to pay dividends on our capital stock will be at the
discretion of our board of directors, subject to applicable laws, and will depend on our financial condition, results of operations, capital requirements, general
business conditions, and other factors that our board of directors considers relevant.

Stockholders

As of February 18, 2025, there were 14 stockholders of record of our Class A Common Stock and Class B Common Stock. Because most of our shares of
Class A Common Stock are held by brokers and other institutions on behalf of stockholders, we are unable to estimate the total number of beneficial stockholders
represented by these record holders.

Sales of Unregistered Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

We did not sell any equity securities which were not registered under the Securities Act during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2024 that were not
otherwise disclosed in our Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q or our Current Reports on Form 8-K.

Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity Compensation Plans

Information regarding the securities authorized for issuance under our equity compensation plans can be found under Item 12 in this Annual Report on Form
10-K.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

The following table summarizes the share repurchase activity of our Class A Common Stock for the three months ended December 31, 2024 (in thousands,
except per-share amounts):

Total number of shares Approximate dollar value of
Total number of Average price ;)l:l;;::iz‘; asl part of publicly sll:are(si that may yet be
Period shares purchased paid per share Piafs or programs - purchase un(éﬁr the program
Balance as of September 30, 2024 $ 242,765
October 1, 2024 to October 31, 2024 1,055,744 $ 32.72 1,055,744 $ 208,303
November 1, 2024 to November 30, 2024 806,713 $ 36.88 806,713 $ 178,588
December 1, 2024 to December 31, 2024 264,780 $ 39.62 264,780 $ 168,113
Balance as of December 31, 2024 2,127,237 2,127,237 $ 168,113

(1) In May 2024, our board of directors authorized an incremental $250.0 million share repurchase program, subject to certain limitations. In February 2025, our
board of directors authorized an incremental $100.0 million share repurchase, subject to certain limitations. The authorization under these programs do not
expire. Refer to Note 11 — Stockholders’ Deficit and Convertible Preferred Stock and Note 18 — Subsequent Events in the accompanying notes to the consolidated
financial

45



Table of Contents

statements included in Part II, Item 8, “Consolidated Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for additional
information.

Stock Performance Graph

The following shall not be deemed “filed” for purposes of Section 18 of the Exchange Act, or incorporated by reference into any of our other filings under
the Exchange Act or the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, except to the extent we specifically incorporate it by reference into such filing.

The graph below matches RingCentral Inc.’s cumulative 5-year total shareholder return on common stock with the cumulative total returns of the Russell
1000 index and the NASDAQ Computer index. The graph tracks the performance of a $100 investment in our common stock and in each index (with the
reinvestment of all dividends) from December 31, 2019 to December 31, 2024. The stock price performance on the following graph is not intended to forecast or be
indicative of future stock price performance of our Class A Common Stock.

COMPARISON OF 5 YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN*
Among RingCentral Inc., the Russell 1000 Index
and the NASDAQ Computer Index

$300 -
$250
$200 -
$150
$100

$50

$0 1 ! 1 ! J
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RingCentral Inc. Russell 1000 NASDAQ Computer

*$100 invested on 12/31/19in stock or index, including reinvestment of dividends.
Fiscal year ending December 31.

Copyright© 2025 Russell Investment Group. All rights reserved.

The stock price performance included in this graph is not necessarily indicative of future stock price performance.
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ITEM 6.

[Reserved]
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and
notes thereto included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. As discussed in the section entitled “Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements,”
the following discussion and analysis contains forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties, as well as assumptions that, if they never materialize
or prove incorrect, could cause our results to differ significantly from those expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements. Factors that could cause or
contribute to these differences include, but are not limited to, those discussed below and elsewhere in this report, particularly in the section entitled “Risk Factors”
included under Part I, Item1A.

This section of this Form 10-K generally discusses 2024 and 2023 items and year-to-year comparisons between 2024 and 2023. Discussion regarding our
financial condition and results of operations for fiscal 2023 as compared to fiscal 2022 is included in Item 7 of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2023, filed with the SEC on February 22, 2024, as amended on April 24, 2024.

Overview

Over the past 25 years, RingCentral has transformed business communications, leading the shift from on-premises legacy communications to the cloud.
Today, the company has an Al-powered multi-product portfolio including Unified Communications as a Service (“UCaaS”), Contact Center as a Service (“CCaaS”),
Video & Events, and RingSense Al solutions. RingCentral’s core tenets include: a) Trust: We provide communications that businesses can trust with reliability,
security, and privacy; b) Innovation: We execute through focused and strategic innovation, setting the bar in the industry for many market firsts; c) Partnerships: We
have a diverse set of strategic partners, global service providers, channel partners, and third-party developers. RingCentral is designed for intelligent, connected, and
effortless businesses communications, making employee and customer experiences more productive and efficient.

Our flagship cloud-based offerings, RingEX and RingCX, are subscription based and made available at different rates varying by the specific functionalities,
services, and number of users. We primarily generate revenues from the sale of subscriptions to our offerings. Our subscription plans have monthly, annual, or multi-
year contractual terms. We believe that this flexibility in contract duration is important to meet the different needs of our customers. For the years ended
December 31, 2024 and 2023, subscriptions revenues accounted for over 90% of our total revenues. The remainder of our revenues are primarily comprised of
product revenues from the sale of pre-configured phones and professional services. We do not develop or manufacture physical phones and only offer them as a
convenience to our customers. We rely on third-party providers to develop and manufacture these devices and fulfillment partners to successfully serve our
customers.

We use our direct inside sales force and indirect sales channels to market our product and our subscription offerings. Our indirect sales channels who sell our
solutions consist of:

. Regional and global network of resellers and distributors;
. Global Service Providers and strategic partners who market and sell our RingEX, RingCX or other solutions, including co-branded solutions.

Our revenue has primarily been driven by our flagship RingEX, RingCentral Contact Center, RingCX, and other fees. Our revenue is derived from sales
through our direct and indirect sales channels, including resellers and distributors, strategic partners and global service providers. As of December 31, 2024, we had
customers from a range of industries, including financial services, education, healthcare, legal services, real estate, retail, technology, insurance, construction,
hospitality, and state and local government, among others. For the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, the vast majority of our total revenues were
generated in North America.

The growth of our business and our future success depend on many factors, including our ability to expand our customer base, expand our indirect sales
channels, continue to innovate, grow revenues from our existing customer base, increase sales and revenues from our existing and new products, expand our
distribution channels, and scale internationally.
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We have been actively implementing various measures to enhance operational efficiencies. These include stricter discipline in spending, increased
productivity, efficiency gains, and optimizing our go-to-market strategies.

Macroeconomic Conditions and Other Factors

We are subject to risks and exposures caused by the current macroeconomic environment. Macroeconomic factors include persistent inflation, higher interest
rates, change in government administration, supply chain disruptions, decreased economic output, geopolitical conflict and fluctuations in currency exchange rates,
all of which can cause uncertainty. The overall macroeconomic environment may affect buying behavior from larger customers that could have an adverse impact on
our results. We have in the past and may in the future experience lower upsell and increased downsell of additional RingEX (formerly RingCentral MVP) services
within our existing base as customers slow hiring and rationalize their employee counts. We continuously monitor the impact of these circumstances on our business
and financial results, as well as the overall global economy and geopolitical landscape. The implications of macroeconomic conditions on our business, results of
operations and overall financial position, particularly in the long term, remain uncertain.

Key Business Metrics

In addition to United States generally accepted accounting principles (“U.S. GAAP”) and financial measures such as total revenues, gross margin, and cash
flows from operations, we review a number of key business metrics to evaluate growth trends, measure our performance, and make strategic decisions. We discuss
revenues and gross margin under “Results of Operations”, and cash flow from operations and free cash flows under “Liquidity and Capital Resources.” Other key
business metrics are discussed below.

Annualized Exit Monthly Recurring Subscriptions

We believe that our Annualized Exit Monthly Recurring Subscriptions (“ARR”) is a leading indicator of our anticipated subscriptions revenues. We believe
that trends in revenue are important to understanding the overall health of our business, and we use these trends in order to formulate financial projections and make
strategic business decisions. Our ARR equals our Monthly Recurring Subscriptions multiplied by 12. Our Monthly Recurring Subscriptions equals the monthly value
of all customer recurring charges at the end of a given month. For example, our Monthly Recurring Subscriptions at December 31, 2024 was $207.4 million. As such,
our ARR at December 31, 2024 was $2.49 billion compared to $2.33 billion at December 31, 2023.

Net Monthly Subscription Dollar Retention Rate

We believe that our Net Monthly Subscription Dollar Retention Rate provides insight into our ability to retain and grow subscriptions revenue, as well as our
customers’ potential long-term value to us. We believe that our ability to retain our customers and expand their use of our solutions over time is a leading indicator of
the stability of our revenue base and we use these trends in order to formulate financial projections and make strategic business decisions. We define our Net Monthly
Subscription Dollar Retention Rate as (i) one plus (ii) the quotient of Dollar Net Change divided by Average Monthly Recurring Subscriptions.

We define Dollar Net Change as the quotient of (i) the difference of our Monthly Recurring Subscriptions at the end of a period minus our Monthly
Recurring Subscriptions at the beginning of a period minus our Monthly Recurring Subscriptions at the end of the period from new customers we added during the
period, all divided by (ii) the number of months in the period. We define our Average Monthly Recurring Subscriptions as the average of the Monthly Recurring
Subscriptions at the beginning and end of the measurement period.

For example, if our Monthly Recurring Subscriptions were $118 at the end of a quarterly period and $100 at the beginning of the period, and $20 at the end
of the period from new customers we added during the period, then the Dollar Net Change would be equal to ($0.67), or the amount equal to the difference of $118
minus $100 minus $20, all divided by three months. Our Average Monthly Recurring Subscriptions would equal $109, or the sum of $100 plus $118, divided by two.
Our Net Monthly Subscription Dollar Retention Rate would then equal 99.4%, or approximately 99%, or one plus the quotient of the Dollar Net Change divided by
the Average Monthly Recurring Subscriptions.
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Our key business metrics for the five quarterly periods ended December 31, 2024 were as follows (dollars in billions, except percentages):

December 31, 2024 September 30, 2024 June 30, 2024 March 31, 2024 December 31, 2023
Net Monthly Subscription Dollar Retention Rate >99% >99% >99% >99% >99%
Annualized Exit Monthly Recurring Subscriptions $ 249 $ 248 $ 243§ 237§ 2.33

Components of Results of Operations

Revenues

Our revenues for the years presented generally consists of subscriptions and other revenues. Our subscriptions revenue primarily includes recurring fixed
plan subscription fees, variable usage-based fees for usage in excess of plan limits, one-time fees, recurring license and other fees, derived from sales through our
direct and indirect sales channels, including resellers and distributors, strategic partners and global service providers. We provide subscription services to our
customers pursuant to contractual arrangements that range in duration typically from one month to five years. Our subscription services are based on the
functionalities and services selected by a customer and may automatically renew for additional periods at the end of the initial subscription term. We believe that this
flexibility in contract duration is important to meet the different needs of our customers.

We generally bill our subscription fees in advance. We recognize subscription revenue over the term of the agreement. Amounts billed in excess of revenue
recognized for the period are reported as deferred revenue on our Consolidated Balance Sheets.

We also generate revenues through sales of our subscriptions and products by resellers, strategic partners, and global service providers. When we control the
performance of the contractual obligations, we record the revenues on a gross basis and amounts retained by our resellers are recorded as sales and marketing
expense. Our assumption of such control is evidenced when, among other things, we are primarily responsible for the delivery of the service or products, have
inventory risk, and have discretion in establishing pricing of the arrangement.

“Other revenues” includes product revenues from the sale of pre-configured phones, and professional services. Product revenue is recognized when the
product has been delivered to the customer. Professional services revenue is recognized as and when services are delivered.

Cost of Revenues and Gross Margin

Our cost of subscriptions revenue primarily consists of fees paid to third-party telecommunications providers, network operations, costs to build out and
maintain data centers, including co-location fees for the right to place our servers in data centers owned by third parties, depreciation of servers and equipment, along
with related utilities and maintenance costs, amortization of acquired technology related intangible assets, personnel costs associated with customer support of the
functionality of our platform and data center operations, including share-based compensation expenses, and allocated costs of facilities and information technology.

We define subscriptions gross margins as subscriptions revenue minus the cost of subscriptions revenue expressed as a percentage of subscriptions revenue.

Cost of other revenue is comprised primarily of the cost associated with the purchase of phones, personnel costs for employees and contractors, including
share-based compensation expenses, cost of third parties used for professional services, and allocated costs of facilities and information technology.

Operating Expenses

We classify our operating expenses as research and development, sales and marketing, general and administrative expenses, and asset write-down charges.

Our research and development efforts are focused on developing new and expanded features for our solutions, integrations with distributors and other
software platforms, and improvements to our backend architecture. Research and
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development expenses consist primarily of personnel costs for employees and contractors, including share-based compensation expenses, and allocated costs of
facilities and information technology, software tools and product certification. We expense research and development costs as incurred, except for certain internal-use
software development costs that we capitalize. We believe that investment in our products is important for our future growth, and our research and development
expenses may fluctuate as a percentage of our total revenues from period to period depending on the timing of these expenses.

Sales and marketing expenses are the largest component of our operating expenses and consist primarily of personnel costs for employees and contractors
directly associated with our sales and marketing activities including share-based compensation expenses, internet advertising fees, television, radio and billboard
advertising, public relations, commissions paid to employees, resellers and other third parties, amortization of capitalized sales commissions, trade shows, credit card
fees, marketing and promotional activities, amortization of acquired customer relationship intangibles, and allocated costs of facilities and information technology.
We expect to incur incremental sales and marketing expenses to support our growth while driving cost efficiencies by further optimizing our go-to-market strategies.

General and administrative expenses consist primarily of personnel costs, including share-based compensation expenses, for employees and contractors
engaged in infrastructure and administrative activities to support the day-to-day operations of our business. Other significant components of general and
administrative expenses include professional service fees, allocated costs of facilities and information technology, cost of compliance with certain government-
imposed taxes, the costs of legal matters, business acquisition costs, changes in the fair-value of contingent consideration and loss contingencies. We expect the
general and administrative expenses to reflect the impact of our operational efficiency measures as we realign our hiring strategies and rationalize our discretionary
spending.

Asset write-down charges consist of write-offs related to our assets, including deferred and prepaid sales commission and acquired intangibles balances,
whenever events or changes in circumstances have occurred that could indicate the carrying amount of such assets may not be recoverable.

Other Income (Expense), Net

Interest expenses consist primarily of interest costs on our debt arrangements, as well as amortization of the debt discount and issuance costs in connection
with our long-term debt.

Other income (expenses) consist primarily of the following:
» unrealized gains and losses from fair value adjustments on our long-term investments;
+ gains and losses on extinguishment of debt relating to the partial repurchase of our convertible notes;
*  gains and losses arising from agreements with strategic partners;

* the realized impact on foreign exchange resulting from the settlement of our foreign currency assets and liabilities as well as unrealized impact on
foreign exchange resulting from remeasurement of transactions and monetary assets and liabilities denominated in non-functional currencies; and

e interest income from our investments.
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Results of Operations

The following tables set forth selected consolidated statements of operations data and such data as a percentage of total revenues. The historical results
presented below are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected for any future period (in thousands):

Year ended December 31,

2024 2023 2022

Revenues

Subscriptions $ 2,297,192 $ 2,100,329 $ 1,887,756

Other 103,203 102,100 100,574
Total revenues 2,400,395 2,202,429 1,988,330
Cost of revenues

Subscriptions 593,294 557,050 531,098

Other 112,213 107,241 110,633
Total cost of revenues 705,507 664,291 641,731
Gross profit 1,694,888 1,538,138 1,346,599
Operating expenses

Research and development 329,323 335,851 362,256

Sales and marketing 1,096,448 1,068,050 1,057,231

General and administrative 266,447 333,048 292,898

Asset write-down charges — — 283,689
Total operating expenses 1,692,218 1,736,949 1,996,074
Income (loss) from operations 2,670 (198,811) (649,475)
Other income (expense), net

Interest expense (64,995) (35,997) (4,807)

Other income (expense) 15,100 77,963 (219,771)
Other income (expense), net (49,895) 41,966 (224,578)
Loss before income taxes (47,225) (156,845) (874,053)
Provision for income taxes 11,063 8,395 5,113
Net loss $ (58,288) $ (165,240) $ (879,166)

52



Table of Contents

Percentage of Total Revenues*

Year ended December 31,

2024 2023 2022

Revenues

Subscriptions 96 % 95 % 95 %

Other 4 5 5
Total revenues 100 100 100
Cost of revenues

Subscriptions 25 25 27

Other 5 5 6
Total cost of revenues 29 30 32
Gross profit 71 70 68
Operating expenses

Research and development 14 15 18

Sales and marketing 46 48 53

General and administrative 11 15 15

Asset write-down charges = — 14
Total operating expenses 70 79 100
Income (loss) from operations — ©) (33)
Other income (expense), net

Interest expense 3) 2) 0

Other income (expense) 1 4 (11)
Other income (expense), net 2) 2 (11)
Loss before income taxes 2) (@) (44)
Provision for income taxes — — —
Net loss (2 %) (8 %) (44 %)
* Percentages may not add up due to rounding.
Comparison of Fiscal Years Ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022:
Revenues

Year ended December 31, Year ended December 31,

(in thousands, except $ % $ %
percentages) 2024 2023 Change Change 2023 2022 Change Change
Revenues

Subscriptions $ 2,297,192 $ 2,100,329 $ 196,863 9% § 2,100,329 $ 1,887,756 $ 212,573 11 %

Other 103,203 102,100 1,103 1% 102,100 100,574 1,526 2%

Total revenues $ 2,400,395 $ 2,202,429 $ 197,966 9% $§ 2,202,429 $ 1,988,330 $ 214,099 11 %

Percentage of total
revenues

Subscriptions 96 % 95 % 95 % 95 %

Other 4 5 5 5

Total 100 % 100 % 100 % 100 %

Subscriptions revenue. Subscriptions revenue increased by $196.9 million, or 9%, during fiscal year 2024 as compared to fiscal year 2023. The increase was
primarily due to the acquisition of new customers, sale of new products, upsells of RingEX and additional offerings to our existing customer base. Our sales are
derived from our direct and indirect sales channels, including resellers, distributors, strategic partners and global service providers.
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Other revenues. Other revenues increased by $1.1 million, or 1%, during fiscal year 2024 as compared to fiscal year 2023, higher device sales as a result of
overall growth in business compared to the respective prior year period.

Although we expect to continue to add new customers for our products, including new product sales, and increase the usage of our products for existing

customers, we will monitor the macroeconomic factors that could impact customer buying behavior and demand, including contract duration, timing of customer
purchases, churn, upsell and down-sell, renewals, payment terms, and credit card declines, all of which could cause variability in our revenue.

Cost of Revenues and Gross Margin

Year ended December 31, Year ended December 31,
(in thousands, except percentages) 2024 2023 Chinge Ch;"nge 2023 2022 Chznge Ch;‘)nge
Cost of revenues
Subscriptions $ 593,294 $ 557,050 $ 36,244 7% $ 557,050 $ 531,098 $ 25952 5%
Other 112,213 107,241 4,972 5% 107,241 110,633 (3,392) 3)%
Total cost of revenues $ 705,507 $ 664,291 $ 41,216 6% $ 664,291 $ 641,731 $ 22,560 4%
Percentage of total revenues
Subscriptions 25 % 25 % 25 % 27 %
Other 5% 5% 5% 6 %
Gross margins
Subscriptions 74 % 73 % 73 % 72 %
Other 9% 5)% 5)% (10)%
Total gross margin % 71 % 70 % 70 % 68 %

Subscription cost of revenues and gross margin. Cost of subscriptions revenues increased by $36.2 million, or 7%, during fiscal year 2024 as compared to
fiscal year 2023. The higher cost of subscription revenues was primarily due to a $32.9 million increase in third-party costs to support our solution offerings, a $14.3
million increase in infrastructure support costs, and a $5.5 million increase in personnel and contractor costs, partially offset by a $16.9 million decrease in the
amortization of our intangible assets.

During fiscal year 2024 as compared to fiscal year 2023, our subscription gross margin remained relatively consistent period over period.

Other cost of revenues and gross margin. Cost of other revenues increased by $5.0 million, or 5%, during fiscal year 2024 as compared to fiscal year 2023,
primarily due to an increase in costs associated with phone sales.

We expect to continue investing in our infrastructure and capacity to improve the availability of our offerings, including new products, supporting the
growth of both our new and existing customers.

Research and Development

Year ended December 31, Year ended December 31,
$ % $ %
(in thousands, except percentages) 2024 2023 Change Change 2023 2022 Change Change
Research and development $ 329,323 $ 335,851 $ (6,528) 2)% $ 335,851 $ 362,256 $ (26,405) (%
Percentage of total revenues 14 % 15% 15% 18 %

Research and development expenses decreased by $6.5 million, or (2)%, during fiscal year 2024 as compared to fiscal year 2023. This decline was primarily
due to $17.0 million decrease in share-based compensation due to rationalization of stock grants and $8.8 million reduction in professional fees, partially offset by
$13.8 million increase in headcount cost and $4.7 million increase in overhead costs.
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We believe that investment in our products is important for our future growth, and our research and development expenses may fluctuate as a percentage of
our total revenues from period to period depending on the timing of these expenses.

Sales and Marketing

Year ended December 31, Year ended December 31,
(in thousands, except $ % $ %
percentages) 2024 2023 Change Change 2023 2022 Change Change
Sales and marketing $ 1,096,448 $ 1,068,050 $ 28,398 3% $ 1,068,050 $ 1,057,231 $ 10,819 1%
Percentage of total
revenues 46 % 48 % 48 % 53%

Sales and marketing expenses increased by $28.4 million, or 3%, during fiscal year 2024 as compared to fiscal year 2023. This increase was primarily driven
by a $52.5 million increase in third-party commissions and an $22.5 million increase in amortization of deferred sales commission costs. These increases were
partially offset by a $15.6 million decrease in personnel and contractor costs, primarily due to headcount reductions, $16.6 million decrease in share-based
compensation due to rationalization of stock grants, a $9.1 million reduction in advertising and marketing costs driven by disciplined spending, and a $5.3 million
reduction in professional fees.

We expect to incur incremental sales and marketing expenses to support our growth while driving cost efficiencies by further optimizing our go-to-market
strategies.

General and Administrative

Year ended December 31, Year ended December 31,
$ % $ %
(in thousands, except percentages) 2024 2023 Change Change 2023 2022 Change Change
General and administrative $ 266,447 $ 333,048 $  (66,601) 20)0% $ 333,048 $ 292,898 $ 40,150 14 %
Percentage of total revenues 11 % 15 % 15 % 15 %

General and administrative expenses decreased by $66.6 million, or (20)%, during fiscal year 2024 as compared to fiscal year 2023. This decrease was
primarily driven by a $47.9 million reduction in share-based compensation due to rationalization of stock grants, $16.4 million decrease in professional fees, $3.7
million decrease in personnel and contractor costs driven by headcount reductions, and a $4.5 million decrease driven by changes in the fair value of our contingent
consideration related to our acquisition of certain assets of Hopin, Inc., partially offset by a $6.1 million increase in overhead costs.

We expect the general and administrative expenses to reflect the impact of our operational efficiency measures as we realign our hiring strategies and
rationalize our discretionary spending.

Other Income (Expense), Net

Year ended December 31, Year ended December 31,
$ % $ %
(in thousands, except percentages) 2024 2023 Change Change 2023 2022 Change Change
Interest expense $ (64,995) $ (35,997) $ (28,998) 81% $ (35,997) $ (4,807) $ (31,190)  649%
Other income (expense) 15,100 77,963 (62,863)  (81)% 77,963 (219,771) 297,734 nm
Other income (expense), net $ (49,895) $ 41,966 $ (91,861) nm $ 41,966 $  (224,578) $ 266,544 nm

*nm - not meaningful

Interest expense. Interest expense increased by $29.0 million, or 81%, during fiscal year 2024 as compared to fiscal year 2023. This increase was mainly
attributable to interest incurred under our Credit Agreement and the 2030 Senior Notes that were raised in 2023.
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Other income (expense). Other income decreased by $62.9 million, or (81)%, during fiscal year 2024 as compared to fiscal year 2023. This decline was
primarily due to a $53.4 million reduction in gains from the early extinguishment of debt during the year ended December 31, 2023, a $5.8 million increase in loss on
foreign exchange, and a $4.5 million decrease in interest income from our investments, driven from lower interest rates on our money market funds.

Other income and expense, net, can fluctuate in the future due to changes in interest rates on our money market funds, interest expense on our Credit
Agreement, and fluctuations in currency exchange rates in the current macroeconomic environment.

Net Loss

Net loss decreased by $107.0 million, or (65)%, during fiscal year 2024 as compared to fiscal year 2023. This decrease was largely due to a $201.5 million
reduction in loss from operations, driven by higher subscription revenues and lower operating expenses as a percentage of total revenue. The reduction in operating
expenses was achieved through continued disciplined spending, including an $87.6 million decrease in share-based compensation and a $33.5 million reduction in
professional fees. These reductions in operating expenses were partially offset by non-operating factors, including a $53.4 million decrease in gains from the early
extinguishment of debt, a $29.0 million increase in interest expense related to our Credit Agreement and 2030 Senior Notes, a $5.8 million increase in loss on foreign
exchange, and a $4.5 million decrease in interest income from our investments, driven from lower interest rates on our money market funds.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Liquidity is a measure of our ability to generate sufficient cash flows to meet the short-term and long-term cash requirements of our business operations, and
debt obligations as they become due.

We finance our operations primarily through sales to our customers, which could be billed either monthly or annually one year in advance. For customers
with annual or multi-year contracts and those who opt for annual invoicing, we generally invoice only one annual period in advance and revenue is deferred for such
advanced billings. We also have access to additional liquidity from our Term Loan and Revolving Credit Facility. As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, we had cash
and cash equivalents of $242.8 million and $222.2 million, that included $7.4 million and $1.1 million in restricted cash in the form of a bank deposit for issuance of
a foreign bank guarantee, respectively.

Under our share repurchase programs, share repurchases may be made at our discretion from time to time in open market transactions, privately negotiated
transactions, or other means, subject to a minimum cash balance. The programs do not obligate us to repurchase any specific dollar amount or to acquire any specific
number of shares of our Class A Common Stock. The timing and number of any shares repurchased under the programs will depend on a variety of factors, including
stock price, trading volume, and general business and market conditions. During the twelve months ended December 31, 2024, we repurchased and settled
approximately 9.6 million shares of our Class A Common Stock, by paying an aggregate amount of approximately $322.4 million under the plans previously
authorized by our Board, which includes $1.2 million in excise taxes paid in the fourth quarter of 2024. As of December 31, 2024, approximately $168.1 million
remained authorized and available under our share repurchase programs for future share repurchases. In February 2025, our board of directors authorized an
incremental $100.0 million share repurchase, subject to certain limitations. The authorization does not expire. Refer to Note 11, Stockholders’ Deficit and Convertible
Preferred Stock and Note 18 — Subsequent Events in the accompanying notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in Part II, Item 8, “Consolidated
Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for additional information.

In June 2024, we completed the acquisition of certain assets of Mitel for $26.3 million paid in cash. Refer to Note 8 - Business Combinations, in the
accompanying notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in Part II, Item 8, “Consolidated Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K for additional information.
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The following table sets the current outstanding debt principal and the future payments as of December 31, 2024 (in thousands):

2025 Convertible Notes 2026 Convertible Notes Term Loan 2030 Senior Notes Total
2025 $ 161,326 $ — 8 20,000 $ — 3 181,326
2026 — 609,065 20,000 — 629,065
2027 — — 20,000 — 20,000
2028 — — 310,000 — 310,000
2029 onwards — — — 400,000 400,000
Total principal amount $ 161,326 $ 609,065 $ 370,000 $ 400,000 $ 1,540,391

We have access to additional liquidity of $350.0 million available under our delayed draw-down Term Loan and $225.0 million available under our
Revolving Credit Facility. Refer to Note 6, Long-Term Debt, in the accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements included in Part II, Item 8,
“Consolidated Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for additional information regarding our Credit Agreement, the
2030 Senior Notes and the Convertible Notes. We were in compliance with all debt covenants as of December 31, 2024. We believe that cash flows from our
operations, combined with $350 million of incremental capacity on our Term Loan and $225 million on our Revolving Credit Facility, as well as our ability to raise
cash through additional financing, will provide adequate liquidity to extinguish our 2025 and 2026 Convertible Notes on a timely basis as contractually required.

We believe that cash flows from our operations, existing liquidity sources as well as capital resources and ability to raise cash through additional financing
will satisfy our future cash requirements and obligations for at least the next 12 months. Our future capital requirements will depend on many factors, including
revenue growth and costs incurred to support customer growth, acquisitions and expansions, operating expenses, and capital equipment required to support our
headcount and in support of our co-location data center facilities, our interest payments for both our Term Loan and 2030 Senior Notes, and the repayment of our
2025 Convertible Notes and/or our 2026 Convertible Notes. Our capital expenditures in future periods are expected to grow in line with our business. We continually
evaluate our capital needs and may decide to raise additional capital to fund the growth of our business for general corporate purposes through public or private
equity offerings or through additional debt financing. The timing and amount of any such financing requirements will depend on a number of factors, including the
maturity dates of our existing debt. We may from time to time seek to refinance certain of our outstanding debt through issuances of new notes or convertible debt,
term loans, exchange transactions or debt repurchases. Such issuances, exchanges or repurchases, if any, will depend on prevailing market conditions, our ability to
negotiate acceptable terms, our liquidity position and other factors. Refer to risk factors in Part I, Item 1A in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for additional
information.

Cash Flows

The table below provides selected cash flow information for the periods indicated (in thousands):

Year ended December 31,
2024 2023 2022
Net cash provided by operating activities $ 483,276 $ 399,662 § 191,305
Net cash used in investing activities (109,359) (90,449) (87,210)
Net cash used in financing activities (351,081) (358,018) (98,218)
Effect of exchange rate changes (2,220) 1,016 (3,055)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents $ 20,616 $ (47,789) $ 2,822

Net Cash Provided By Operating Activities
Cash provided by operating activities is driven by the timing of customer collections, as well as the amount and timing of disbursements to our vendors, the

amount of cash we invest in personnel, sales, marketing, innovation and infrastructure costs to support the anticipated growth of our business, and payments under
strategic arrangements.
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Net cash provided by operating activities was $483.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2024. The cash flow from operating activities was primarily
driven by timing of cash receipts from customers and global service providers, offset by cash payments for personnel-related costs and payments to vendors along
with interest payments on our debt obligations.

Net cash provided by operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2024, increased by $83.6 million as compared to the year ended December 31,
2023. This change reflects working capital impacts resulting from the timing of payments and collections as well as interest payments on our debt obligations.

Net Cash Used In Investing Activities

Our primary investing activities consist of our capital expenditures and expenditures for internal-use software, business acquisitions, and cash paid for
intellectual property assets.

Net cash used in investing activities was $109.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2024. This was primarily driven by $80.5 million in capital
expenditures, including personnel-related costs associated with the development of internal-use software, and $26.3 million in cash paid for business combinations.

Net cash used in investing activities for the year ended December 31, 2024 increased by $18.9 million as compared to the year ended December 31, 2023.
This increase was primarily driven by $11.6 million for business combinations, and $4.8 million in capital expenditures, including personnel-related costs associated
with the development of internal-use software.

Net Cash Used In Financing Activities

Our primary financing activities include utilizing cash to repurchase Class A Common Stock under our share repurchase programs, servicing and repaying
debt, paying contingent consideration, proceeds from issuance under our stock plans, paying taxes related to these plans, and meeting our existing financing
commitments.

Net cash used in financing activities was $351.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2024. This was primarily driven by $322.4 million paid, including
excise taxes, to repurchase and retire approximately 9.6 million shares of our Class A Common Stock under our share repurchase program. Additionally, cash
outflows included $24.9 million for debt service costs and debt repayments, $10.3 million for contingent consideration, $6.0 million for taxes associated with our
stock plans, and $4.3 million to fulfill our existing financing commitments. These expenditures were partially offset by $16.7 million in proceeds from issuance of
stock in connection with our stock plans.

Net cash used in financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2024, decreased by $6.9 million as compared to the year ended December 31, 2023.
This decrease was primarily due to a $35.2 million net financing cash outflow during the twelve months ended December 31, 2023 as a result of issuance of new debt
and repurchases of convertible notes, partially offset by a $14.9 million increase for debt service costs and repayments, and $11.3 million increase in payments for the
repurchase and retirement of our Class A Common Stock.

Free Cash Flow

To supplement our statements of cash flows presented on a GAAP basis, we use non-GAAP measures of cash flows to analyze cash flow generated from our
operations. We define free cash flow, a non-GAAP financial measure, as GAAP net cash provided by (used in) operating activities adjusted for capitalized
expenditures that include purchases of property and equipment and capitalized internal-use software. We believe information regarding free cash flow provides useful
information to management and investors in understanding the strength of liquidity and available cash. A limitation of the use of free cash flow is that it does not
represent the total increase or decrease in our cash balance for the period. Free cash flow should not be considered in isolation or as an alternative to cash flows from
operations, and should be considered alongside our other GAAP-based financial liquidity performance measures, such as net cash provided by operating activities
and our other GAAP financial results.
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The following table presents a reconciliation of free cash flow to net cash provided by operating activities, the most directly comparable GAAP measure, for
each of the periods presented (in thousands):

Year Ended
December 31,
2024 2023 2022
Net cash provided by operating activities $ 483,276 $ 399,662 $ 191,305
Capitalized expenditures (80,528) (75,740) (86,443)
Non-GAAP free cash flow $ 402,748 $ 323,922 $ 104,862

Remaining Performance Obligations

We have generally signed new customer contracts with typical subscription terms ranging from one month to five years. At any point in the contract term,
there can be amounts allocated to services that we have not yet contractually performed, which constitute our remaining performance obligations. Until we meet our
performance obligations, we do not recognize them as revenues in our consolidated financial statements. Our remaining performance obligations exclude contracts
with an original expected length of less than one year. Contract revenue as of December 31, 2024 that has not yet been recognized was approximately $2.6 billion.

Deferred Revenue

Deferred revenue primarily consists of the unearned portion of monthly or annual invoiced fees for our subscriptions, which we recognize as revenue in
accordance with our revenue recognition policy. For customers with multi-year contracts, we generally invoice for monthly or only one annual subscription period in
advance. Therefore, our deferred revenue balance does not capture the full contract value of multi-year contracts. Accordingly, we believe that deferred revenue is not
a reliable indicator of future revenues and we do not utilize deferred revenue as a key management metric internally.

Contractual Obligations

The following summarizes our contractual obligations as of December 31, 2024 (in thousands):

Payments due by period

Up to More than
1 year 1 to 3 years 3 to S years 5 years Total
Operating lease obligations $ 23,000 $ 26,611 $ 5,043 $ — 3 54,654
Supplier financing arrangements 633 1,097 — — 1,730
Principal payments on long-term debt ) 181,326 649,065 310,000 400,000 1,540,391
Contractual interest payments on long-term debt &) 57,160 110,487 70,421 34,000 272,068
Purchase obligations ) 63,758 70,121 32,409 — 166,288
Total $ 325877 $ 857,381 $ 417,873  $ 434,000 $ 2,035,131

(1) Represents obligations under non-cancellable lease agreements for our corporate and worldwide offices, and colocation data centers. For more information regarding our
lease obligations, refer to Note 9 - Leases included in Part II, Item 8, in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for additional information.

(2) Amounts include established financing arrangements with certain third-party financial institutions and participating suppliers. For more information regarding our supplier
financing arrangements, refer to Note 1 - Description of Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies included in Part II, Item 8, in this Annual Report on Form
10-K for additional information.

(3) Represents our principal and contractual interest payments on our long-term debt. For more information regarding our long-term debt, refer to Note 6 - Long-Term Debt
included in Part II, Item 8, in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for additional information.

(4) Purchase obligations are primarily related to third-party managed hosting services and represent our non-cancellable open purchase orders and contractual obligations for
which we have not received the goods or services as of December 31, 2024.
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Indemnification Obligations

Certain of our agreements with sales agents, resellers and customers include provisions for indemnification against liabilities if our products infringe a third
party’s intellectual property rights. To date, we have not incurred any material costs as a result of such indemnification provisions and have not accrued any liabilities
related to such obligations in the consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 2024.

Contingencies

We are and may be in the future subject to certain legal proceedings and from time to time may be involved in a variety of claims, lawsuits, investigations,
and proceedings relating to contractual disputes, intellectual property rights, employment matters, regulatory compliance matters, and other matters relating to
various claims that arise in the normal course of business. We record a provision for a liability when we believe that it is both probable that a liability has been
incurred, and the amount can be reasonably estimated. Significant judgment is required to determine both probability and the estimated amount of loss. Such legal
proceedings are inherently unpredictable and subject to significant uncertainties, some of which are beyond our control. Should any of these estimates and
assumptions change or prove to be incorrect, it could have a significant impact on our results of operations, financial position, and cash flows.

Refer to Note 10 — Commitments and Contingencies of the notes to the consolidated financial statements included in Part II, Item 8, “Consolidated Financial
Statements and Supplementary Data” in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for additional information.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

We prepare our consolidated financial statements in accordance with U.S. GAAP. In many cases, the accounting treatment of a particular transaction is
specifically dictated by U.S. GAAP and does not require management’s judgment in its application. In other cases, management’s judgment is required in selecting
among available alternative accounting standards that provide for different accounting treatment for similar transactions. The preparation of consolidated financial
statements also requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts we report as assets, liabilities, revenues, costs, and expenses, and affect the
related disclosures. We base our estimates on historical experience and other assumptions that we believe are reasonable under the circumstances. In many instances,
we could reasonably use different accounting estimates, and in some instances changes in the accounting estimates are reasonably likely to occur from period to
period. Accordingly, our actual results could differ significantly from the estimates made by our management. To the extent that there are differences between our
estimates and actual results, our future financial statement presentation, financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows will be affected. A summary of our
significant accounting policies is included in Note 1 of the notes to the consolidated financial statements included in Part 11, Item 8, which is incorporated herein by
reference. We believe that the accounting policies discussed below are critical to understanding our historical and future performance, as these policies relate to the
more significant areas involving management’s judgments and estimates.

Revenue Recognition

We primarily derive our revenues from subscriptions, sale of products, and professional services. Subscriptions revenue is generally recognized over the
period of the subscription contract. Subscription contracts generally allow the customers to terminate their services at any time during the first 30 to 60 days of the
subscription period and are charged for the term of usage. Upon cancellation during the termination period, customers receive a pro-rata refund for any amounts paid.
After the end of the termination period, the contract is non-cancellable and the customer is obligated to pay for the remaining term of the contract. For sale of
products, revenue is recognized when control is transferred. For professional services, revenue is recognized as and when services are rendered.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

For a summary of recent accounting pronouncements and the anticipated effects on our consolidated financial statements, see Note 1 to the consolidated
financial statements included in Part II, Item 8, “Consolidated Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, which is
incorporated herein by reference.
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ITEM 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

We are exposed to market risk in the ordinary course of our business. Market risk represents the risk of loss that may impact our financial position due to
adverse changes in financial market prices and rates. Our market risk exposure is primarily a result of fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates and interest
rates. We do not hold or issue financial instruments for trading purposes.

Foreign Currency Risk

The majority of our sales and contracts are denominated in U.S. dollars, and therefore our net revenue is not currently subject to significant foreign currency
risk. As part of our international operations, we charge customers in British Pounds, European Union (“EU”) Euro, Canadian Dollars and Australian Dollars, among
others. Fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates and volatility in the market due to global economic conditions could cause variability in our subscriptions
revenues, total revenues, annualized exit monthly recurring subscriptions revenues and operating results. Our operating expenses are generally denominated in the
currencies of the countries in which our operations are located, which are primarily in the U.S., and to a lesser extent in Canada, Europe, and Asia-Pacific. The
functional currency of our foreign subsidiaries is generally the local currency. Our consolidated results of operations and cash flows are, therefore, subject to
fluctuations due to changes in foreign currency exchange rates. To date, we have not entered into any hedging arrangements with respect to foreign currency risk.
During fiscal 2024, a hypothetical 10% change in foreign currency exchange rates applicable to our business would not have had a material impact on our
consolidated financial statements. As our international operations continue to expand, risks associated with fluctuating foreign currency rates may increase. We will
continue to reassess our approach to managing these risks.

Interest Rate Risk

As of December 31, 2024, we had cash and cash equivalents of $242.8 million. We invest our cash and cash equivalents in short-term money market funds.
The carrying amount of our cash equivalents reasonably approximates fair values. Due to the short-term nature of our money-market funds, we believe that exposure
to changes in interest rates will not have a material impact on the fair value of our cash equivalents. Interest income may further fluctuate in the future due to interest
rate volatility in the current macroeconomic environment. During fiscal year 2024, a hypothetical 10% increase or decrease in overall interest rates would not have
had a material impact on our interest income.

As of December 31, 2024, we had $161.3 million and $609.1 million outstanding from our 2025 Convertible Notes and 2026 Convertible Notes,
respectively. We carry the Convertible Notes at face value less unamortized discount on our balance sheet, and we present the fair value for required disclosure
purposes only. The Convertible Notes have a zero percent fixed annual interest rate and, therefore, we have no economic exposure to changes in interest rates. The
fair value of the Convertible Notes is exposed to interest rate risk. Generally, the fair value of our fixed interest rate Convertible Notes will increase as interest rates
decline and decrease as interest rates increase. In addition, the fair values of the Convertible Notes are affected by our stock price. The fair value of the Convertible
Notes will generally increase as our Class A common stock price increases and will generally decrease as our Class A common stock price decrease in value.

As of December 31, 2024, we had no amounts outstanding under our Revolving Credit Facility and $370.0 million principal outstanding under our Term
Loan under our Credit Agreement. Borrowings under our Credit Agreement will bear interest under a floating rate mechanism, which exposes us to interest-rate risk.
To address this risk, we entered into a five-year floating-to-fixed interest rate swap agreement with the objective of reducing exposure to the fluctuating interest rates
associated with our variable rate borrowing program by paying a fixed interest rate of 3.79%, plus a margin of 2% to 3%. The interest rate swap agreement became
effective on June 30, 2023, and terminates on February 14, 2028, consistent with the duration of the maturity of the Term Loan. Our interest rate swap agreement is
designated as cash flow hedge and highly effective in offsetting changes in our future expected cash flows due to the fluctuation of our variable rate debt.

As of December 31, 2024, we had $400.0 million outstanding under our 2030 Senior Notes. The 2030 Senior Notes have fixed annual interest rates, and

therefore we do not have economic interest rate exposure on these debt obligations. However, the fair values of our 2030 Senior Notes are exposed to interest rate
risk. Generally, the fair values of the 2030 Senior Notes will increase as interest rates fall and decrease as interest rates rise.
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Inflation Risk
We do not believe that inflation has had a material effect on our business, results of operations, or financial condition. Nonetheless, if our costs in connection

with the operation of our business were to become subject to significant inflationary pressures, we may not be able to fully offset such higher costs through price
increases. Our inability or failure to do so could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Stockholders and Board of Directors

RingCentral, Inc.:

Opinions on the Consolidated Financial Statements and Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of RingCentral, Inc. and subsidiaries (the Company) as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the related
consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive loss, stockholders’ (deficit) equity, and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended
December 31, 2024, and the related notes (collectively, the consolidated financial statements). We also have audited the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2024, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of
December 31, 2024 and 2023, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2024, in
conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. Also in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2024 based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

Change in Accounting Principle

As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company has changed its method of accounting for convertible debt as of January 1, 2022 due to
the adoption of Financial Accounting Standards Board’s Accounting Standards Update No. 2020-06.

Basis for Opinions

The Company’s management is responsible for these consolidated financial statements, for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting, and for its
assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management’s Annual Report on Internal Controls Over
Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s consolidated financial statements and an opinion on the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and
regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud, and whether effective internal control over
financial reporting was maintained in all material respects.

Our audits of the consolidated financial statements included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence
regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. Our audit of internal control over financial
reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and
evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audits also included performing such other procedures as we
considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinions.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial
reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions
and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit
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preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made
only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection
of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the
policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Critical Audit Matter

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current period audit of the consolidated financial statements that was communicated or
required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relates to accounts or disclosures that are material to the consolidated financial statements and (2)
involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of a critical audit matter does not alter in any way our opinion on the
consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below, providing a separate opinion on the critical
audit matter or on the accounts or disclosures to which they relate.

Information technology systems used in subscriptions revenue

As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, and disclosed in the consolidated statements of operations, the Company recorded $2,400.4 million of
total revenues for the year ended December 31, 2024, of which $2,297.2 million related to subscriptions. There are high volumes of subscription transactions
processed across multiple information technology (IT) systems.

We identified the evaluation of the sufficiency of audit evidence over subscriptions revenue as a critical audit matter. This matter required especially subjective
auditor judgment because of the number of IT applications involved in the subscriptions revenue recognition process. This matter also included determining the
nature and extent of audit evidence obtained over subscriptions revenue, and the need to involve IT professionals to assist with the performance of certain procedures.

The following are the primary procedures we performed to address this critical audit matter. We evaluated the design and tested the operating effectiveness of certain
internal controls over the Company’s subscriptions revenue process, including associated IT controls. We applied auditor judgment to determine the nature and extent
of procedures to be performed over subscriptions revenue, including the determination of the IT applications subject to testing. We assessed the recorded
subscriptions revenue by selecting transactions and comparing the amounts recognized for consistency with underlying documentation, including contracts with
customers. We also involved IT professionals with specialized skills and knowledge, who assisted in testing certain IT applications that are used by the Company in
its subscriptions revenue recognition process. We evaluated the sufficiency of audit evidence obtained by assessing the results of procedures performed, including the
appropriateness of such evidence.

/s/ KPMG LLP
We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2010.

San Francisco, California
February 24, 2025
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RINGCENTRAL, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands, except par value per share)

December 31, December 31,
2024 2023

Assets
Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents $ 242811 §$ 222,195

Accounts receivable, net 386,252 364,438

Deferred and prepaid sales commission costs 182,615 184,620

Prepaid expenses and other current assets 59,444 77,396
Total current assets 871,122 848,649
Property and equipment, net 180,650 184,390
Operating lease right-of-use assets 46,463 42,989
Deferred and prepaid sales commission costs, non-current 325,198 395,724
Goodwill 82,986 67,370
Acquired intangibles, net 258,526 393,767
Other assets 14,928 12,024
Total assets $ 1,779,873  $ 1,944,913
Liabilities, Temporary Equity, and Stockholders’ Deficit
Current liabilities

Accounts payable $ 21,866 $ 53,295

Accrued liabilities 283,799 325,632

Current portion of long-term debt, net 181,252 20,000

Deferred revenue 261,882 233,619
Total current liabilities 748,799 632,546
Long-term debt, net 1,347,881 1,525,482
Operating lease liabilities 29,733 28,178
Other long-term liabilities 4,930 61,827
Total liabilities 2,131,343 2,248,033

Commitments and contingencies (Note 10)

Series A convertible preferred stock, $0.0001 par value; 200 shares authorized at December 31, 2024 and 2023; 200 shares 199,449 199,449
issued and outstanding at December 31, 2024 and 2023

Stockholders’ deficit
Class A common stock, $0.0001 par value; 1,000,000 shares authorized at December 31, 2024 and 2023; 80,913 and 8 8
83,543 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2024 and 2023
Class B common stock, $0.0001 par value; 250,000 shares authorized at December 31, 2024 and 2023; 9,805 and 9,924 1 1
shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2024 and 2023
Additional paid-in capital 1,215,377 1,204,781
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (8,881) (8,223)
Accumulated deficit (1,757,424) (1,699,136)
Total stockholders’ deficit (550,919) (502,569)
Total liabilities, temporary equity and stockholders’ deficit $ 1,779,873  $ 1,944,913

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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Revenues
Subscriptions
Other
Total revenues
Cost of revenues
Subscriptions
Other
Total cost of revenues
Gross profit
Operating expenses
Research and development
Sales and marketing
General and administrative
Asset write-down charges
Total operating expenses
Income (loss) from operations
Other income (expense), net
Interest expense
Other income (expense)
Other income (expense), net
Loss before income taxes
Provision for income taxes
Net loss
Net loss per common share
Basic and diluted

RINGCENTRAL, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(in thousands, except per share data)

Weighted-average number of shares used in computing net loss per share

Basic and diluted

Year ended December 31,

2024 2023 2022
2,297,192 S 2,100,329 S 1,887,756
103,203 102,100 100,574
2,400,395 2,202,429 1,988,330
593,294 557,050 531,098
112,213 107,241 110,633
705,507 664,291 641,731
1,694,888 1,538,138 1,346,599
329,323 335,851 362,256
1,096,448 1,068,050 1,057,231
266,447 333,048 292,898
— — 283,689
1,692,218 1,736,949 1,996,074
2,670 (198,811) (649,475)
(64,995) (35,997) (4,807)
15,100 77,963 (219,771)
(49,895) 41,966 (224,578)
(47,225) (156,845) (874,053)
11,063 8,395 5,113
(58,288) S (165,240) $ (879,166)
0.63) $ (1.74) $ (9.23)
92,110 94,912 95,239

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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RINGCENTRAL, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
(in thousands)

Year ended December 31,

2024 2023 2022
Net loss $ (58,288) $ (165,240) $ (879,166)
Other comprehensive (loss) income
Foreign currency translation adjustments (5,537) 3,070 (9,425)
Unrealized gain (loss) on derivative instruments 4,879 (2,512) —
Total other comprehensive (loss) income (658) 558 (9,425)
Comprehensive loss $ (58,946) $ (164,682) $ (888,591)

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ (DEFICIT) EQUITY

Balance as of December 31, 2021
Cumulative effect of accounting change (Note 1)

Issuance of common stock in connection with Equity
Incentive and Employee Stock Purchase plans, net of tax
withholdings, and other commercial arrangements

Repurchases of common stock
Share-based compensation

Other comprehensive loss

Net loss

Balance as of December 31, 2022

Issuance of common stock in connection with Equity
Incentive and Employee Stock Purchase plans, net of tax
withholdings

Issuance of common stock in connection with strategic
partnership arrangement

Repurchases of common stock
Share-based compensation

Other comprehensive income

Net loss

Balance as of December 31, 2023

Issuance of common stock in connection with Equity
Incentive and Employee Stock Purchase plans, net of tax
withholdings

Issuance of common stock in connection with strategic
partnership arrangement

Repurchases of common stock
Share-based compensation
Other comprehensive loss

Net loss

Balance as of December 31, 2024

RINGCENTRAL, INC.

(in thousands)

Common stock Agg::ii?i:al Acézzgli;eglg\t)eler Accumulated Stoc:l(::)a;:lers’
Shares Amount Capital Income (Loss) Deficit (Deficit) Equity

94,309 § 9 1,086,870 $ 644 (748,556) $ 338,967
— — (329,280) — 93,826 (235,454)
3,373 1 21,418 — — 21,419
(2,297) — (99,793) — — (99,793)
— — 380,665 — — 380,665
— — — (9,425) — (9,425)
— — — — (879,166) (879,166)
95,385 $ 10 1,059,880 $ (8,781) (1,533,896) $ (482,787)
6,337 — 7,625 — — 7,625
1,693 — 55,015 — 55,015
(9,948) 0 (316,321) — — (316,322)
— — 398,582 _ — 398,582

— — — 558 — 558

— — — — (165,240) (165,240)
93,467 $ 9 1,204,781 $ (8,223) (1,699,136) $ (502,569)
6,714 1 10,728 — — 10,729
255 — 7,972 7,972
9,718) (1) (317,963) — — (317,964)
— — 309,859 — — 309,859

— — — (658) — (658)

— — — — (58,288) (58,288)
90,718 $ 9 1215377 $ (8,881) (1,757,424) $ (550,919)

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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Cash flows from operating activities
Net loss

RINGCENTRAL, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(in thousands)

Year ended December 31,

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization
Share-based compensation
Unrealized loss on investments
Asset write-down and other charges

Amortization of deferred and prepaid sales commission costs

Amortization of debt discount and issuance costs
Gain on early extinguishment of debt
Reduction of operating lease right-of-use assets
Provision for bad debt
Other
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable
Deferred and prepaid sales commission costs
Prepaid expenses and other assets
Accounts payable
Accrued and other liabilities
Deferred revenue
Operating lease liabilities
Net cash provided by operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchases of property and equipment
Capitalized internal-use software

Cash paid for business combination, net of cash acquired
Purchases of intangible assets and long-term investments

Proceeds from sale of marketable equity investments

Net cash used in investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from issuance of stock in connection with stock plans
Payments for taxes related to net share settlement of equity awards
Payments for repurchase of common stock, including excise tax
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt, net of issuance costs

Payments for the repurchase of convertible notes
Payments for fees on long-term debt
Repayments of principal on term loan
Repayment of financing obligations
Payment for contingent consideration

Net cash used in financing activities
Effect of exchange rate changes

Net increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash

Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash
Beginning of year

End of year

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow data:
Cash paid for interest, net of interest rate swap
Cash paid for income taxes, net of refunds
Non-cash investing and financing activities

Common stock issued in connection with strategic partnership arrangement

Acquisition related measurement period adjustment
Contingent consideration

Equipment and capitalized internal-use software purchased and unpaid at period end

Acquisition of intangibles

2024 2023 2022

$ (58,288) (165,240) $ (879,166)
222,609 233,940 246,561

339,059 426,679 386,009

— 1,506 203,483

— — 305,351

162,552 138,134 115,184

4272 4,566 4,468

— (53,400) —

20,723 20,469 19,907

8,667 6,852 9,367

(8,428) 1,486 4,327
(30,481) (57,819) (87,843)
(130,730) (156,734) (235,869)

19,811 14,492 3,812
(29,793) (21,213) (6,166)

(37,433) 9,101 89,473

19,592 17,681 33,275
(18,856) (20,838) (20,868)

483,276 399,662 191,305
(24,994) (23,513) (32,713)
(55,534) (52,227) (53,730)

(26,291) (14,709) —
(2,540) — (3,990)

— — 3,223

(109,359) (90,449) (87,210)

16,693 16,687 15,855

(5,965) (9,062) (7,598)

(322,356) (311,088) (99,793)

= 785,749 —

— (820,960) —

(4,851) — —

(20,000) (10,000) —

(4,257) (5,777) (4,815)

(10,345) (3,567) (1,867)

(351,081) (358,018) (98,218)

(2,220) 1,016 (3,055)

20,616 (47,789) 2,822

222,195 269,984 267,162

$ 242811 $ 222,195 $ 269,984
$ 59,045 $ 16,629 $ 347
$ 17,752 $ 10,940 $ 3,726
$ 7972 $ 55014 —
$ 9,147 $ — 3 —
$ — 3 7461 $ —
$ 3,001 $ 3953 6,308
$ — 3,629 $ —

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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RINGCENTRAL, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1. Description of Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Description of Business

RingCentral, Inc. (the “Company”) is a leading provider of Al-powered cloud business communications, contact center, video, and hybrid event solutions.
The Company was incorporated in California in 1999 and was reincorporated in Delaware on September 26, 2013.

Principles of Consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of
America (“U.S. GAAP”) and include the consolidated accounts of the Company and its wholly-owned subsidiaries. All intercompany accounts and transactions have
been eliminated in consolidation.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements, and the reported amounts
of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. The significant estimates made by management affect revenues, the allowance for doubtful accounts, deferred
and prepaid sales commission costs, goodwill, useful lives of intangible assets, share-based compensation, capitalization of internally developed software, return
reserves, derivative instruments, provision for income taxes, uncertain tax positions, change in the fair-value of contingent consideration, loss contingencies, sales tax
liabilities and accrued liabilities. Management periodically evaluates these estimates and will make adjustments prospectively based upon the results of such periodic
evaluations. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Foreign Currency

The functional currency of the Company’s foreign subsidiaries is generally the local currency. Adjustments resulting from translating foreign functional
currency financial statements into U.S. dollars are recorded as part of a separate component of stockholders’ equity and reported in the Consolidated Statements of
Comprehensive Loss. Foreign currency transaction gains and losses are included in net loss for the period. All assets and liabilities denominated in a foreign currency
are translated into U.S. dollars at the exchange rate on the balance sheet date. Revenues and expenses are translated at the average exchange rate during the period.
Equity transactions are translated using historical exchange rates.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investments purchased with an original maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents. Cash and cash
equivalents are stated at fair value.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

For the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, a portion of revenues were realized from credit card transactions while the remaining revenues generated
accounts receivable. The Company determines provisions based on historical loss patterns, the number of days that billings are past due, and an evaluation of the
potential risk of loss associated with delinquent accounts.
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Below is a summary of the changes in allowance for doubtful accounts for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 (in thousands):

Balance at Provision, Balance at
beginning of net of end of
year recoveries Write-offs year

Year ended December 31, 2024

Allowance for doubtful accounts $ 12,472 $ 8,667 $ 6,008 $ 15,131
Year ended December 31, 2023

Allowance for doubtful accounts $ 9,581 $ 6,852 $ 3961 $ 12,472
Year ended December 31, 2022

Allowance for doubtful accounts $ 8,026 $ 9,367 $ 7,812 $ 9,581

Derivative Instruments and Hedging

The Company measures its derivative financial instruments at fair value and recognizes them as assets and liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.
The Company records changes in the fair value of derivative financial instruments designated as cash flow hedges in other comprehensive (loss) income. When a
hedged transaction affects earnings, the Company subsequently reclassifies the net derivative gain or loss within earnings into the same line as the hedged item on the
Consolidated Statements of Operations to offset the changes in the hedged transaction.

The cash flow effects related to derivative financial instruments designated as cash flow hedges are included within operating activities on the Consolidated
Statements of Cash Flows.

Internal-Use Software Development Costs

The Company capitalizes qualifying internal-use software development costs that are incurred during the application development stage, provided that
management with the relevant authority authorizes and commits to the funding of the project, it is probable the project will be completed, and the software will be
used to perform the function intended. Costs related to preliminary project activities and post implementation activities are expensed as incurred. Capitalized internal-
use software development costs are included in property and equipment and are amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives.

For the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company capitalized $59.3 million and $56.0 million, net of impairment, of internal-use software
development costs, respectively. The carrying value of internal-use software development costs was $135.2 million and $131.6 million as of December 31, 2024 and
2023, respectively.

Property and Equipment, net

Property and equipment, net is stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation and amortization. Depreciation and amortization are calculated on a straight-line
basis over the estimated useful lives of those assets as follows:

Computer hardware and software 3 to 5 years
Internal-use software development costs 3 to 5 years
Furniture and fixtures 1 to 5 years
Leasehold improvements Shorter of the estimated lease term or useful life

The Company evaluates the recoverability of property and equipment and intangible assets for possible impairment whenever events or circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount of such assets or asset groups may not be recoverable. Recoverability of these assets or asset groups is measured by comparing the
carrying amounts of such assets or asset groups to the future undiscounted cash flows that such assets or asset groups are expected to generate. If this evaluation
indicates that the carrying amount of the assets or asset groups is not recoverable, the carrying amount of such assets or asset groups is reduced to its estimated fair
value.

Maintenance and repairs are charged to expense as incurred.
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Business Combinations

The Company uses its best estimates and assumptions to assign fair value to the tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed as of the
acquisition date. The excess of the fair value of purchase consideration over the fair values of the tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed is
recorded as goodwill. If applicable, we estimate the fair value of contingent consideration payments in determining the purchase price. These estimates are inherently
uncertain and subject to refinement. During the measurement period, which may be up to one year from the acquisition date, the Company may record adjustments to
the fair value of these tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed, with the corresponding offset to goodwill. Upon the conclusion of the
measurement period or final determination of the fair value of assets acquired or liabilities assumed, whichever comes first, any subsequent adjustments are recorded
to the Company’s consolidated statements of operations. Contingent consideration is adjusted to fair value in subsequent periods as an increase or decrease to
operating expenses. Acquisition-related expenses are recognized separately from the business combination and are expensed as incurred.

Leases

The Company determines if a contract is a lease or contains a lease at the inception of the contract and reassesses that conclusion if the contract is modified.
All leases are assessed for classification as an operating lease or a finance lease. Operating lease right-of-use (“ROU”) assets are presented separately on the
Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets. Operating lease liabilities are separated into a current portion, included within accrued liabilities on the Company’s
Consolidated Balance Sheets, and a non-current portion included within operating lease liabilities on the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets. The Company
does not have significant finance lease ROU assets or liabilities. ROU assets represent the Company’s right to use an underlying asset for the lease term and lease
liabilities represent its obligation to make lease payments arising from the lease. The Company does not obtain and control its right to use the identified asset until the
lease commencement date.

The Company’s lease liabilities are recognized at the applicable lease commencement date based on the present value of the lease payments required to be
paid over the lease term. Because the rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable, the Company generally uses an incremental borrowing rate to discount the
lease payments to present value. The estimated incremental borrowing rate is derived from information available at the lease commencement date. The Company
factors in publicly available data for instruments with similar characteristics when calculating its incremental borrowing rates. The Company’s ROU assets are also
recognized at the applicable lease commencement date. The ROU asset equals the carrying amount of the related lease liability, adjusted for any lease payments made
prior to lease commencement and lease incentives provided by the lessor. Variable lease payments are expensed as incurred and do not factor into the measurement of
the applicable ROU asset or lease liability.

The term of the Company’s leases is equal to the non-cancellable period of the lease, including any rent-free periods provided by the lessor, and also include
options to renew or extend the lease (including by not terminating the lease) that the Company is reasonably certain to exercise. The Company establishes the term of
each lease at lease commencement and reassesses that term in subsequent periods when one of the triggering events outlined in Topic 842, Leases, occurs. Operating
lease cost for lease payments is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

The Company’s lease contracts often include lease and non-lease components. For facility leases, the Company has elected the practical expedient offered
by the standard to not separate lease from non-lease components and accounts for them as a single lease component. For the Company’s other contracts that include
leases, the Company accounts for the lease and non-lease components separately.

The Company has elected, for all classes of underlying assets, not to recognize ROU assets and lease liabilities for leases with a term of twelve months or
less. Lease cost for short-term leases is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Additionally, for certain facility leases, the Company applies a
portfolio approach, whereby it effectively accounts for the operating lease ROU assets and liabilities for multiple leases as a single unit of account because the
accounting effect of doing so is not material.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Goodwill is tested for impairment at the reporting unit level at a minimum on an annual basis or more frequently when an event occurs or circumstances
change that indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. Goodwill is considered impaired if the carrying value of the reporting unit exceeds its fair value.
The Company conducted its annual impairment test of goodwill in the fourth quarter of 2024 and 2023 and determined that no adjustment to the carrying value of
goodwill was required.
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Intangible assets consist of purchased customer relationships and developed technology. Intangible assets are amortized over the period of estimated benefit
using the straight-line method and estimated useful lives ranging from two to five years. No residual value is estimated for intangible assets.

Convertible Debt

Prior to the adoption of ASU 2020-06, the Company bifurcated the debt and equity (the contingently convertible feature) components of its convertible debt
instruments in a manner that reflects its nonconvertible debt borrowing rate at the time of issuance. The equity components of the convertible debt instruments were
recorded within stockholders’ (deficit) equity net of allocated issuance discount. The debt issuance discount was amortized to interest expense in the Consolidated
Statements of Operations using the effective interest method over the expected term of the convertible debt.

Upon adoption of ASU 2020-06 on January 1, 2022, the Company is no longer recording the conversion feature of its convertible notes in equity. Instead,
the Company combined the previously separated equity component with the liability component, which together is now classified as debt, thereby eliminating the
subsequent amortization of the debt discount as interest expense. Similarly, the portion of issuance costs previously allocated to equity was reclassified to debt and
amortized as interest expense. Accordingly, on January 1, 2022 opening balance sheet, the Company recorded a decrease to accumulated deficit of approximately
$93.8 million, a decrease to additional paid-in capital of $329.3 million, and an increase to convertible notes, net of approximately $235.5 million.

Supplier Financing Arrangements

The Company has established financing arrangements with certain third-party financial institutions and participating suppliers to be repaid over different
terms ranging up to five years. Some of these financing arrangements are collateralized against property and equipment. As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the
Company’s outstanding financing obligations related to such arrangements included in accrued liabilities and other long-term liabilities were $1.7 million and $4.2
million, respectively.

A summary of activity of the Company’s supplier financing obligations during the year ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 is presented in the following
table (in thousands):

Year ended December 31,
2024 2023
Obligations outstanding at the beginning of period $ 4,168 $ 6,587
Commitments — 2,997
Payments (2,438) (5,416)
Obligations outstanding at the end of period $ 1,730 ' § 4,168

Revenue Recognition

The Company derives its revenues primarily from subscriptions, sale of products, and professional services. Revenues are recognized when control is
transferred to the customers, in an amount that reflects the consideration the Company expects to be entitled to in exchange for those services or products.

The Company determines revenue recognition through the following steps:

. identification of the contract, or contracts, with a customer;

. identification of the performance obligations in the contract;

. determination of the transaction price;

. allocation of the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract; and
. recognition of revenue when, or as, the Company satisfies a performance obligation.

The Company recognizes revenues as follows:
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Subscriptions revenue

Subscriptions revenue is generated from fees that provide customers access to one or more of the Company’s software applications and related services.
These arrangements have contractual terms typically ranging from one month to five years and include recurring fixed plan subscription fees, variable usage-based
fees for usage in excess of plan limits, one-time fees, recurring license and other fees, derived from sales through our direct and indirect sales channels, including
resellers and distributors, strategic partners and global service providers.

The Company generally bills its subscription fees in advance.

Arrangements with customers do not provide the customer with the right to take possession of the Company’s software at any time. Instead, customers are
granted continuous access to the services over the contractual period. The Company transfers control evenly over the contractual period by providing stand-ready
service. Accordingly, the fixed consideration related to subscription is recognized over time on a straight-line basis over the contract term beginning on the date the
Company’s service is made available to the customer. The Company may offer its customer services for no consideration during the initial months. Such discounts
are recognized ratably over the term of the contract.

Fees for additional minutes of usage in excess of plan limits are deemed to be variable consideration that meet the allocation exception for variable
consideration as they are specific to the month that the usage occurs.

The Company’s subscription contracts typically allow the customers to terminate their services within the first 30 to 60 days and receive a refund for any
amounts paid for the remaining contract period. After the end of the termination period, the contract is non-cancellable and the customer is obligated to pay for the
remaining term of the contract. Accordingly, the Company considers the non-cancellable term of the contract to begin after the expiration of the termination period.

The Company records reductions to revenue for estimated sales returns and customer credits at the time the related revenue is recognized. Sales returns and
customer credits are estimated based on the Company’s historical experience, current trends and the Company’s expectations regarding future experience. The
Company monitors the accuracy of its sales reserve estimates by reviewing actual returns and credits and adjusts them for its future expectations to determine the
adequacy of its current and future reserve needs. If actual future returns and credits differ from past experience, additional reserves may be required.

Other revenue

Other revenue primarily includes revenue generated from sale of pre-configured phones and professional implementation services.

Phone revenue is recognized upon transfer of control to the customer which is generally upon shipment from the Company’s or its designated agents’
warehouse.

The Company offers professional services to support implementation and deployment of its subscription services. Professional services do not result in
significant customization of the product and are generally short-term in duration. The majority of the Company’s professional services contracts are on a fixed price
basis and revenue is recognized as and when services are delivered.

Principal vs. Agent

A portion of the Company’s subscriptions and product revenues are generated through sales by resellers, strategic partners, and global service providers.
When the Company controls the performance of contractual obligations to the customer, it records these revenues at the gross amount paid by the customer with
amounts retained by the resellers recognized as sales and marketing expenses. The Company assesses control of goods or services when it is primarily responsible for
fulfilling the promise to provide the good or service, has inventory risk and has discretion in establishing the price.

Deferred and prepaid sales commission costs

The Company capitalizes sales commission expenses and associated payroll taxes paid to internal sales personnel and resellers, who sell the Company’s
offerings. The resellers are selling agents for the Company and earn sales commissions which are directly tied to the value of the contracts that the Company enters
with the end-user customers. These sales commissions are incremental costs the Company incurs to obtain contracts with its end-user customers. The Company pays
sales commissions on initial contracts and contracts for increased purchases with existing customers (expansion contracts). The Company generally does not pay
sales commissions for contract renewals.

These sales commission costs are deferred and then amortized over the expected period of benefit, which is estimated to be five years. The Company has
determined the period of benefit taking into consideration the expected subscription term
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and expected renewal periods of its customer contracts, the duration of its relationships with its customers considering historical and expected customer retention,
technology and other factors. Amortization expense is included in sales and marketing expenses in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations. The
Company evaluates its deferred and prepaid sales commission costs for possible recoverability whenever events or changes in circumstances have occurred that could
indicate the carrying amount of such assets may not be recoverable.

Cost of Revenues

Cost of subscriptions revenue primarily consists of costs of network capacity purchased from third-party telecommunications providers, network operations,
costs to build out and maintain data centers, including co-location fees for the right to place the Company’s servers in data centers owned by third parties,
depreciation of the servers and equipment, along with related utilities and maintenance costs, amortization of acquired technology related intangible assets, personnel
costs associated with customer care and support of the functionality of the Company’s platform and data center operations, including share-based compensation
expenses, and allocated costs of facilities and information technology. Cost of subscriptions revenue is expensed as incurred.

Cost of other revenue is comprised primarily of the cost associated with purchased phones, personnel costs for employees and contractors, including share-
based compensation expenses, shipping costs, costs of professional services, and allocated costs of facilities and information technology related to the procurement,
management and shipment of phones. Cost of other revenue is expensed in the period product is delivered to the customer.

Asset Write-down Charges

Asset write-down charges consist of write-offs related to our assets, including deferred and prepaid sales commission. The Company performs periodic
reviews to assess the recoverability of such assets, whenever events or changes in circumstances have occurred that could indicate the carrying amount of such assets
may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying value of deferred commission asset exceeds the amount of consideration that the Company
expects to receive in the future in exchange for goods or services to which the asset relates, less the costs that relate directly to providing those goods or services that
have not yet been recognized.

Share-Based Compensation

Share-based compensation expense resulting from options, restricted stock units (“RSUs”), performance-based awards (“PSUs”), and employee stock
purchase plan (“ESPP”) rights granted is measured at the grant date fair value of the award and is generally recognized using the straight-line attribution method over
the requisite service period of the award, which is generally the vesting period. The Company estimates the fair value of stock options and ESPP rights using the
Black-Scholes-Merton option-pricing model. The Company estimates the fair value of RSUs as the closing market value of its Class A Common Stock on the grant
date. The Company estimates the fair value of its market condition performance stock units (“PSUs”) using the Monte Carlo simulation model. For awards with
performance-based and service-based conditions, compensation cost is recognized using the graded attribution method over the requisite service period if it is
probable that the performance condition will be satisfied. The expense for performance-based awards is evaluated each quarter based on the achievement of the
performance conditions. The effect of a change in the estimated number of performance-based awards expected to be earned is recognized in the period those
estimates are revised. Compensation expense is recognized net of estimated forfeiture activity, which is based on historical forfeiture rates.

Research and Development
Research and development expenses consist primarily of third-party contractor costs, personnel costs, technology license expenses, and depreciation
associated with research and development equipment. Research and development costs are expensed as incurred.

Advertising Costs

Advertising costs, which include various forms of e-commerce such as search engine marketing, search engine optimization and online display advertising,
as well as more traditional forms of media advertising such as radio and billboards, are expensed as incurred and were $96.0 million, $97.0 million, and $125.6
million for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

Restructuring Costs

Restructuring costs generally include employee-related severance charges which are largely based upon substantive severance plans, while some are
mandated requirements in certain foreign jurisdictions. Severance costs generally include
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severance payments, outplacement services, health insurance coverage and legal costs. One-time employee termination benefits are recognized when the plan of
termination has been communicated to employees and certain other criteria are met. Other severance and employee costs, primarily pertaining to ongoing employee
benefit arrangements, are recognized when it is probable that the employees are entitled to the severance benefits and the amounts can be reasonably estimated.

Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes using the asset and liability method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the estimated future tax
consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax basis. Deferred tax
assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates in effect for the year in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The
effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in operations in the period that includes the enactment date. The Company records a
valuation allowance to reduce its deferred tax assets to the amount of future tax benefit that is more likely than not to be realized. As of December 31, 2024, except
for deferred tax assets associated with certain foreign subsidiaries, the Company recorded a full valuation allowance against substantially all of its net deferred tax
assets due to its history of operating losses. The Company classifies interest and penalties on unrecognized tax benefits as income tax expense.

Related Party Transactions

All contracts with related parties are executed in the ordinary course of business. There were no material related party transactions in the year ended
December 31, 2024 and 2023, and no material amounts payable to or amounts receivable from related parties as of December 31, 2024 and 2023. During 2022, the
Company made purchases from Google Inc. in the ordinary course of business, which one of the Company’s directors previously served as President, Americas. The
total expenses incurred by the Company with Google Inc. for the year ended December 31, 2022 was $24.3 million.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements Not Yet Adopted

In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-09 - Income Taxes (Topic 740): Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures, which requires public entities, on
an annual basis, to provide disclosure of specific categories in the rate reconciliation, as well as disclosure of income taxes paid disaggregated by jurisdiction. ASU
2023-09 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2024, with early adoption permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of adopting
ASU 2023-09 will have on its financial statement disclosures.

In November 2024, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2024-03: [ncome Statement - Reporting Comprehensive Income - Expense
Disaggregation Disclosures (Subtopic 220-40): Disaggregation of Income Statement Expenses (ASU 2024-03), which requires disaggregation of certain costs in a
separate note to the financial statements, such as the amounts of employee compensation, depreciation and intangible asset amortization, included in each relevant
expense caption in annual and interim consolidated financial statements. The ASU also requires disclosure of the total amount of selling expenses and our definition
of selling expenses. ASU 2024-03 is effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2026 and for interim periods beginning after December 15, 2027 on a
retrospective or prospective basis, with early adoption permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of adopting ASU 2024-03 will have on its financial
statement disclosures.

Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

In November 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-07 Segment Reporting - Improvements to Reportable Segment Disclosures (Topic 280). The update is
intended to improve reportable segment disclosure requirements, primarily through enhanced disclosures about significant expenses. The ASU requires disclosures to
include significant segment expenses that are regularly provided to the chief operating decision maker (“CODM?”), a description of other segment items by reportable
segment, and any additional measures of a segment’s profit or loss used by the CODM when deciding how to allocate resources. Additionally, the ASU mandates that
all annual disclosures currently required under Topic 280 must also be included in interim period financial statements. The update is effective for fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2023, and for interim periods within fiscal years starting after December 15, 2024. Early adoption is permitted. The guidance must be
applied retrospectively to all prior periods presented in the financial statements. The Company adopted ASU 2023-07 effective January 1, 2024. While the adoption
of this guidance did not have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements, it did result in additional disclosures. For more details, refer to
Note 17 - Segment Information of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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Note 2. Revenue

The Company derives its revenues primarily from subscriptions, sale of products, and professional services. Revenues are recognized when control is
transferred to the customers, in an amount that reflects the consideration the Company expects to be entitled to in exchange for those services or products.
Disaggregation of revenue

Revenue by geographic location is based on the billing address of the customer. The following table provides information about disaggregated revenue by
primary geographical markets:

Year ended December 31,

2024 2023 2022
Primary geographical markets
North America 90 % 90 % 90 %
Others 10 % 10 % 10 %
Total revenues 100 % 100 % 100 %

The Company derived over 90% of subscription revenues from RingEX (formerly RingCentral MVP) and RingCentral contact center solutions for the years
ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022. For the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 and 2022, RingCentral contact center solutions represented over 10%
of total revenues.

Deferred revenue

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company recognized approximately all of the corresponding deferred revenue balance at the beginning of the
year as revenue.

Remaining performance obligations

The typical subscription term ranges from one month to five years. Contract revenue as of December 31, 2024 that has not yet been recognized was
approximately $2.6 billion. This excludes contracts with an original expected length of less than one year. Of these remaining performance obligations, the Company
expects to recognize revenue of 53% of this balance over the next 12 months and 47% thereafter.

Other revenues

Other revenues are primarily comprised of product revenue from the sale of pre-configured phones, and professional services. Product revenues from the
sale of pre-configured phones were $51.9 million, $44.8 million, and $46.6 million for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

Note 3. Financial Statement Components

Cash and cash equivalents consisted of the following (in thousands):

December 31, December 31,
2024 2023
Cash $ 128,308 $ 113,733
Money market funds 114,503 108,462
Total cash and cash equivalents $ 242811 § 222,195

As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, $7.4 million and $1.1 million in the cash balance above, respectively, represents restricted cash, which is held in the
form of a bank deposit for issuance of a foreign bank guarantee.
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Accounts receivable, net consisted of the following (in thousands):

Accounts receivable

Unbilled accounts receivable

Allowance for doubtful accounts
Accounts receivable, net

Prepaid expenses and other current assets consisted of the following (in thousands):

Prepaid expenses
Inventory
Other current assets
Total prepaid expenses and other current assets

Property and equipment, net consisted of the following (in thousands):

Computer hardware and software

Internal-use software development costs

Furniture and fixtures

Leasehold improvements

Property and equipment, gross

Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization
Property and equipment, net

December 31, December 31,
2024 2023
300,805 $ 280,544
100,578 96,366
(15,131) (12,472)
386,252 $ 364,438
December 31, December 31,
2024 2023
39,858 §$ 32,440
1,243 1,492
18,343 43,464
59,444 § 77,396
December 31, December 31,
2024 2023
252,961 $ 238,802
314,944 255,649
8,965 8,964
12,367 14,369
589,237 517,784
(408,587) (333,394)
180,650 $ 184,390

Total depreciation and amortization expense related to property and equipment was $86.1 million, $82.9 million, and $72.0 million for the years ended
December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively. For the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company recognized a non-cash impairment charge of $2.8 million
related to abandoned internal-use software. This charge was recorded under research and development expenses in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

The carrying value of goodwill is as follows (in thousands):
Balance at December 31, 2023
Acquisitions (Note 8)
Foreign currency translation adjustments
Balance at December 31, 2024

The carrying values of intangible assets are as follows (in thousands):

$ 67,370
16,809
(1,193)
$ 82,986

December 31, 2023

Accumulated Acquired
Amortization And Intangibles,
Impairment Net
21,834 § 4,672
436,982 389,095

December 31, 2024
Weighted-Average Accumulated
Remaining Useful Amortization And
Life Cost Impairment
Customer relationships 4.1 years $ 51,312 $ 25,833
Developed technology 1.9 years 779,794 546,747
Total acquired intangible assets $ 831,106 $ 572,580

458,816 $ 393,767
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For the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company recognized a gross reduction of $50.6 million related to its developed technology assets. This
reduction included $28.5 million due to an amended agreement with a strategic partner and $22.1 million attributed to the retirement of fully amortized developed
technology. See Note 5 - Strategic Partnerships for additional information regarding our amended agreement with a strategic partner. During the year ended
December 31, 2024, the Company purchased certain intangible assets including customer relationships, developed technology, trademarks and domain names
amounting to $29.8 million.

Amortization expense from acquired intangible assets for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 was $136.5 million, $151.1 million, and
$174.5 million, respectively. Amortization of developed technology is included in cost of revenues and amortization of customer relationships is included in sales and
marketing expenses in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

Estimated amortization expense for acquired intangible assets for the following fiscal years is as follows (in thousands):

2025 $ 133,453
2026 110,987
2027 5,398
2028 onwards 8,688

Total estimated amortization expense $ 258,526

Accrued liabilities consisted of the following (in thousands):

December 31, December 31,
2024 2023
Accrued compensation and benefits $ 47415 $ 63,009
Accrued sales, use, and telecom related taxes 55,699 43,796
Accrued marketing and sales commissions 36,391 60,528
Operating lease liabilities, short-term 20,445 16,707
Other accrued expenses 123,849 141,592
Total accrued liabilities $ 283,799 $ 325,632

Deferred and Prepaid Sales Commission Costs

Amortization expense for the deferred and prepaid sales commission costs for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 were $162.6 million,
$138.1 million, and $115.2 million, respectively. There was no asset write-off or impairment loss in relation to the deferred commission costs capitalized for the
periods presented.

Note 4. Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The Company measures and reports certain cash equivalents, including money market funds and certificates of deposit, derivative interest rate swap
agreement, and contingent consideration at fair value in accordance with the provisions of the authoritative accounting guidance that addresses fair value
measurements. This guidance establishes a hierarchy for inputs used in measuring fair value that maximizes the use of observable inputs and minimizes the use of
unobservable inputs by requiring that the most observable inputs be used when available. The hierarchy is broken down into three levels based on the reliability of
the inputs as follows:

The hierarchy is broken down into three levels based on the reliability of the inputs as follows:

Level 1:  Observable inputs that reflect unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2:  Other inputs, such as quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities, quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in inactive markets, or
other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data for substantially the full term of the asset or liability.

Level 3:  Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are based on management’s assumptions, including fair value
measurements determined by using pricing models, discounted cash flow methodologies or similar techniques.
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The financial assets carried at fair value were determined using the following inputs (in thousands):

Fair Value at
December 31, 2024 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Cash equivalents:

Money market funds $ 114,503 $ 114,503 $ — 3 —
Other assets:

Interest rate swap derivatives 2,367 — 2,367 —
Other long-term liabilities:

Contingent consideration 3,000 — — 3,000

Fair Value at
December 31, 2023 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Cash equivalents:
Money market funds $ 108,462 $ 108,462 $ — 3 —
Other assets:

Interest rate swap derivatives 3,505 — 3,505 —
Other long-term liabilities:

Interest rate swap derivatives 6,017 — 6,017 —

Contingent consideration 7,461 — — 7,461

The Company’s other financial instruments, including accounts receivable, other current assets, accounts payable, accrued liabilities and other liabilities, are
carried at cost, which approximates fair value due to the relatively short maturity of those instruments.

Fair Value of Long-Term Debt

As of December 31, 2024, the fair value of the 0% convertible senior notes due 2025 (the “2025 Convertible Notes™) was approximately $160.0 million, and
the fair value of the 0% convertible senior notes due 2026 (the “2026 Convertible Notes” and, together with the 2025 Convertible Notes, the “Convertible Notes™)
was approximately $557.4 million. The fair value for the Convertible Notes was determined based on the quoted price for such notes in an inactive market on the last
trading day of the reporting period and is considered as Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy.

As of December 31, 2024, the carrying amount of the Term Loan was $370.0 million. As there are no embedded features or other variable features, the fair
value of the Term Loan approximated its carrying value.

As of December 31, 2024, the fair value of the 8.5% senior notes due 2030 (the “2030 Senior Notes” and, together with the Convertible Notes, the “Notes™)
was approximately $423.6 million. The fair value for the 2030 Senior Notes was determined based on the quoted price for such notes in an inactive market on the last
trading day of the reporting period and is considered as Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy.

Fair Value of Derivative Instruments

The Company’s interest rate swap derivative, which is considered as Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy, is valued using a discounted cash flow model that
utilizes observable inputs including forward interest rate data at the measurement date.

Fair Value of Contingent Consideration

The contingent consideration as presented in the fair value table above is related to the Company’s acquisition of Hopin in the third quarter of 2023, and
represents the future potential earn-out payments based on the achievement of specified performance targets over multiple years, paid quarterly in cash. The fair value
of the contingent consideration liability was determined using a Monte Carlo simulation that includes significant unobservable inputs including the discount rate and
projected revenues over the earn-out period. This contingent liability was classified as level 3 within the fair value hierarchy. For the year ended December 31, 2024,
the estimated fair value of the contingent consideration liability was reduced by $4.5 million. The change in fair value was recorded within general and administrative
expenses in the Consolidated Statement of Operations.

81



Table of Contents

Note S. Strategic Partnerships

Other Strategic Partnerships

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company and Mitel amended certain terms of their prior strategic arrangement, pursuant to which Mitel
became a non-exclusive partner of the Company. In connection with the transaction, there was a release of $28.5 million of unpaid contingent consideration, which
was recorded as a reduction to the developed technology intangible assets.

During the year ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company recorded a gain of $7.7 million, and $11.5 million, respectively, in other income
(expense) in the Consolidated Statements of Operations, pursuant to an amended agreement with one of its strategic partners.

Avaya Partnership

In October 2019, the Company entered into certain agreements for a strategic partnership with Avaya LLC (“Avaya”), previously known as Avaya Holdings
Corp., and its subsidiaries, including Avaya Inc. (collectively, “Avaya”).

On December 13, 2022, Avaya filed a Form 8-K disclosing ongoing discussions regarding one or more potential financings, refinancings, recapitalizations,
reorganizations, restructurings or investment transactions. Further, on February 14, 2023, Avaya initiated an expedited, prepackaged financial restructuring via
Chapter 11 with the support of its financial stakeholders. For the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company recorded a non-cash asset write-down charge of
$279.3 million, out of which $21.7 million was accrued interest and was recorded in other income (expense) in the Consolidated Statement of Operations. No portion
of the impairment charge related to future cash expenditures.

Note 6. Long-Term Debt

The following table sets forth the net carrying amount of the Company’s long-term debt (in thousands):

Debt Instrument Maturity Date December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023
2030 Senior Notes August 15, 2030 $ 400,000 $ 400,000
Term Loan under Credit Agreement () February 14, 2028 370,000 390,000
Revolving Credit Facility under Credit Agreement ® February 14, 2028 — —
2026 Convertible Notes March 15, 2026 609,065 609,065
2025 Convertible Notes March 1, 2025 161,326 161,326
Total principal amount 1,540,391 1,560,391
Less: unamortized debt discount and issuance costs on long-term debt (11,258) (14,909)
Less: current portion of long-term debt, net @ (181,252) (20,000)
Net carrying amount of long-term debt $ 1,347,881 § 1,525,482

(1) The Company has $350.0 million available for drawdown under the Term Loan as of December 31, 2024.
2) The Company has $225.0 million available for borrowing under the Revolving Credit Facility as of December 31, 2024.

3) The current portion of long-term debt, net as of December 31, 2024 relates to $161.3 million net carrying amount from the 2025 Convertible Notes, and $20.0 million of

expected principal payments due on the Term Loan. The Term Loan requires quarterly principal payments of 1.25% of the $400.0 million principal amount drawn, with balance due at
maturity.
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The following table sets forth the future minimum principal payments for long-term debt as of December 31, 2024 (in thousands):

2025 Convertible Notes 2026 Convertible Notes Term Loan 2030 Senior Notes Total
2025 $ 161,326 $ — 8 20,000 $ — 3 181,326
2026 — 609,065 20,000 — 629,065
2027 — — 20,000 — 20,000
2028 — — 310,000 — 310,000
2029 onwards — = — 400,000 400,000
Total principal amount $ 161,326 $ 609,065 $ 370,000 $ 400,000 $ 1,540,391

2030 Senior Notes

In August 2023, the Company issued $400.0 million aggregate principal amount of the 2030 Senior Notes in a private offering. The 2030 Senior Notes are
senior unsecured obligations of the Company and bear interest at a fixed rate of 8.5% per annum payable semi-annually in arrears on February 15th and August 15th
of each year. The 2030 Senior Notes are guaranteed by the Company’s domestic subsidiaries and are subject to certain covenants and redemption provisions outlined
in the indenture governing the 2030 Senior Notes (the “Senior Notes Indenture”). As of December 31, 2024, the carrying value of the outstanding 2030 Senior Notes,
net of unamortized debt discount and issuance costs, was $393.1 million, and the Company was in compliance with all covenants under the Senior Notes Indenture.
The effective interest rate on the 2030 Senior Notes was 8.9% as of December 31, 2024.

Credit Agreement

In February 2023, the Company entered into a credit agreement with certain lenders, from time to time party thereto and Bank of America, N.A., as
administrative agent and as collateral agent (as amended, the “Credit Agreement”), providing for a $200.0 million revolving credit facility (the “Revolving Credit
Facility”) and a $400.0 million term loan (the “Term Loan™). In the second quarter of 2023, the Company drew down the initial $400.0 million Term Loan and used
the proceeds to repurchase a portion of the 2025 Convertible Notes. The credit facilities were subsequently amended in 2023 and 2024 to increase the Revolving
Credit Facility to $225.0 million and the Term Loan to $750.0 million. The proceeds from the Revolving Credit Facility can be used for working capital and general
corporate purposes, while the remaining $350.0 million tranches of the Term Loan can be used to repurchase a portion of the Company’s convertible notes and for
working capital and general corporate purposes. The credit facilities are guaranteed by certain material domestic subsidiaries of the Company, and secured by
substantially all of the personal property of the Company and such subsidiary guarantors. If on any date that is within 91 days prior to the final scheduled maturity
date of any series of the Convertible Notes (defined below), such series of Convertible Notes is in an aggregate principal amount outstanding that exceeds an amount
equal to 50% of last twelve months EBITDA, calculated as set forth in the Credit Agreement, the maturity date of both the Revolving Credit Facility and Term Loan
shall automatically be modified to be such date. As of December 31, 2024, $350.0 million of the Term Loan remains available for draw until May 2025. Additionally,
the $225.0 million Revolving Credit Facility commitments remains available for draw until February 14, 2028, at which time it will terminate, and all outstanding
revolving loans under the facility will be due and payable. The Company will continue to pay a quarterly ticking fee of up to 0.500% per annum on the daily unused
amount of the Term Loan and Revolving Credit Facility commitments until the earlier of the funding or the end of the availability period. Any drawdown under the
Credit Agreement would be subject to compliance with the restrictive covenants in the Senior Notes Indenture.

Borrowings under the Credit Agreement will bear interest, at the Company’s option, at either: (a) the fluctuating rate per annum equal to the greatest of (i)
the prime rate then in effect, (ii) the federal funds rate then in effect, plus 0.5% per annum, (iii) an adjusted term Secured Overnight Financing Rate (“SOFR”)
determined on the basis of a one-month interest period, plus 1.0% and (iv) 1.0%, in each case, plus a margin of between 0.75% and 2.0%; and (b) an adjusted term
SOEFR rate (based on one, three or six month interest periods), plus a margin of between 1.75% and 3.0%. The applicable margin in each case is determined based on
the Company’s total net leverage ratio and varies between tranches of Term Loans. Interest is payable quarterly in arrears with respect to borrowings bearing interest
at the alternate base rate or on the last day of an interest period, but at least every three months, with respect to borrowings bearing interest at the term SOFR rate.
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As of December 31, 2024, the carrying value of the Term Loan, net of unamortized debt discount and issuance costs, was $367.7 million. As of
December 31, 2024, the Company incurred $9.8 million of debt issuance costs in connection with the Credit Agreement, of which $7.0 million was capitalized in the
Consolidated Balance Sheets and amortized primarily using the effective interest rate over the term of the Credit Agreement, while the remaining amount was
expensed in the period incurred. As of December 31, 2024, the effective interest rate on the Term Loan was 7.4%. As of December 31, 2024, the Company was in
compliance with all covenants under the Credit Agreement.

Convertible Notes

In March 2020, the Company issued $1.0 billion of the 2025 Convertible Notes, and in September 2020, it issued $650.0 million of the 2026 Convertible
Notes. The Convertible Notes are senior, unsecured obligations that do not bear regular interest and the principal amount of the Convertible Notes does not accrete.
As of December 31, 2024, the carrying values of the 2025 and 2026 Convertible Notes, net of unamortized debt issuance costs, were $161.3 million and
$607.0 million, respectively, and the Company was in compliance with all covenants under the Convertible Notes Indentures.

Other Terms of the Notes

2025 Convertible Notes 2026 Convertible Notes
$1,000 principal amount initially convertible into number of the Company’s Class A Common Stock par value
$0.0001 2.7745 shares 2.3583 shares
Equivalent initial approximate conversion price per share $ 36043 § 424.03

During the three months and twelve months ended December 31, 2024 and prior to December 1, 2024, the conditions allowing holders of the 2025
Convertible Notes to convert were not met. On or after December 1, 2024 until the close of business on the scheduled trading day immediately preceding the maturity
date, holders of the 2025 Convertible Notes may convert their 2025 Convertible Notes at any time. During the three months and twelve months ended December 31,
2024, the conditions allowing holders of the 2026 Convertible Notes to convert were not met. The 2026 Convertible Notes may be convertible thereafter if one or
more of the conversion conditions specified in the indenture governing the 2026 Convertible Notes is satisfied during future measurement periods.

Partial Repurchase of 2025 and 2026 Convertible Notes

In May 2023, the Company used the entire proceeds from the drawdown of the $400.0 million Term Loan and $27.3 million of other available cash to
repurchase $460.7 million principal amount of the 2025 Convertible Notes, resulting in a gain on early debt extinguishment of $31.1 million, net of related
unamortized debt issuance costs.

In August 2023, the Company used a portion of the net proceeds from the offering of the 2030 Senior Notes to repurchase $125.3 million and
$40.9 million principal of the 2025 Convertible Notes and 2026 Convertible Notes, respectively, by paying an aggregate amount of $153.6 million in cash, resulting
in a gain on early debt extinguishment of $11.8 million, net of related unamortized debt issuance costs.

In December 2023, the Company used a portion of the remaining net proceeds from the offering of the 2030 Senior Notes to repurchase $252.7 million
principal of the 2025 Convertible Notes by paying $241.3 million in cash, resulting in a gain of early debt extinguishment in the amount of $10.5 million, net of
related unamortized debt issuance costs.

Capped Calls

In connection with the offering of the 2026 Convertible Notes, the Company entered into privately-negotiated capped call transactions with certain
counterparties (the “Capped Calls”). The initial strike price of the 2026 Convertible Notes corresponds to the initial conversion price of the 2026 Convertible Notes.
The Capped Calls are generally intended to reduce or offset the potential dilution to the Class A Common Stock upon any conversion of the 2026 Convertible Notes
with such reduction or offset, as the case may be, subject to a cap based on the cap price.

84



Table of Contents

The following table below sets forth key terms and costs incurred for the outstanding Capped Calls:

2026 Convertible Notes
Initial approximate strike price per share, subject to certain adjustments $ 424.03
Initial cap price per share, subject to certain adjustments $ 556.10
Net cost incurred (in millions) $ 41.8
Class A Common Stock covered, subject to anti-dilution adjustments (in millions) 1.5
Settlement commencement date 2/13/2025
Settlement expiration date 3/13/2025

The following table sets forth the interest expense recognized related to long-term debt (in thousands):

Twelve Months Ended December 31,

2024 2023 2022
Contractual interest expense $ 59,138 $ 29,285 $ —
Amortization of debt discount and issuance costs 4272 4,566 4,468
Total interest expense related to long-term debt $ 63,410 $ 33,851 § 4,468

The following table sets forth the future minimum contractual interest for long-term debt as of December 31, 2024 (in thousands):

Term Loan () 2030 Senior Notes Total
2025 $ 23,160 $ 34,000 $ 57,160
2026 21,882 34,000 55,882
2027 20,605 34,000 54,605
2028 2,421 34,000 36,421
2029 onwards — 68,000 68,000
Total contractual interest amount $ 68,068 $ 204,000 $ 272,068

(1) Includes the impact of interest rate swap. Refer to Note 7 - Derivative Instruments in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for additional information.

Note 7. Derivative Instruments

In May 2023, the Company entered into a five-year floating-to-fixed interest rate swap agreement with the objective of reducing exposure to the fluctuating
interest rates associated with the Company’s variable rate borrowing program by paying quarterly a fixed interest rate of 3.79%, plus a margin of 2% to 3%. The
interest rate swap agreement became effective on June 30, 2023, and terminates on February 14, 2028, consistent with the duration of the maturity of the Term Loan.
As of December 31, 2024, the interest rate swap agreement had a notional amount of $370.0 million.

The Company’s interest rate swap agreement is designated as a cash flow hedge under ASC 815, Derivatives and Hedging (“ASC 815”). These hedges are
highly effective in offsetting changes in the Company’s future expected cash flows due to the fluctuation of the Company’s variable rate debt. The Company monitors
the effectiveness of its hedges on a quarterly basis. The Company does not hold its interest rate swap agreement for trading or speculative purposes. The Company
will recognize its interest rate derivative designated as a cash flow hedge on a gross basis as an asset and a liability at fair value in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.
The unrealized gains and losses on the interest rate swap agreement are included in other comprehensive (loss) income and will be subsequently recognized in
earnings within or against interest expense when the hedged interest payments are accrued.

As of December 31, 2024, the Company estimates the net amount related to the interest rate swaps under the interest rate swap agreement expected to be
reclassified into earnings over the next 12 months is approximately $1.2 million. During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company reclassified $5.3 million
from accumulated other comprehensive loss to earnings as an offset and reduction to interest expense.
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Note 8. Business Combinations

On June 21, 2024, the Company acquired certain customer relationships, intellectual property assets, and supporting operations and personnel for Mitel’s
MiCloud Connect & Sky UCaaS offerings for a cash consideration of $26.3 million. The transaction was accounted for as a business combination. The preliminary
purchase price was allocated based on the estimated fair value of the acquired customer relationships and developed technology intangible assets of $25.3 million and
$2.0 million, respectively, net acquired liabilities of $8.7 million, and goodwill of $7.7 million.

During the three months ended December 31, 2024, the Company recorded a measurement period adjustment of $9.1 million relating to liability from a
vendor contract. As a result, the acquired liabilities increased by $9.1 million, with a corresponding increase in goodwill. The amortizable intangible assets have a
weighted-average useful life of approximately five years. The goodwill recognized was attributable primarily to the assembled workforce and synergies. Transaction
costs related to the acquisition of $3.6 million were expensed as incurred as general and administrative expenses. The Company included the results of operations
from the acquisition date, which were not material, in the consolidated financial statements.

On July 31, 2023, the Company completed its acquisition of certain assets of Hopin, Inc. (“Hopin”), a virtual events platform that aims to connect people
around the world through immersive and interactive online experiences. The total purchase price consideration of $22.2 million consisted of $14.7 million in cash,
and the acquisition date fair value of contingent consideration of $7.5 million, out of total maximum contingent consideration of $35.0 million based on the
achievement of specified performance targets by the Hopin business over multiple years, paid quarterly in cash. The transaction was accounted for as a business
combination. The allocation of the purchase price based on their estimated fair values included $12.7 million for acquired technology and customer relationships, less
$3.3 million for net acquired liabilities, with the remaining $12.8 million allocated to goodwill. The amortizable intangible assets have a weighted-average useful life
of three years. The goodwill recognized was attributable primarily to the contributions of the acquired technology and customer relationships to the overall corporate
strategy and assembled workforce. As of December 31, 2024, the estimated fair value of the contingent consideration liability was reduced by $4.5 million. The
change in fair value was recorded within general and administrative expenses in the Consolidated Statement of Operations. For further details on the fair value
measurement of the Hopin contingent consideration, please refer to Note 4 - Fair Value of Financial Instruments in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Note 9. Leases
The Company primarily leases facilities for office and data center space under non-cancelable operating leases for its U.S. and international locations. As of
December 31, 2024, non-cancelable leases expire on various dates between 2025 and 2029.

Generally, the non-cancelable leases include one or more options to renew, with renewal terms that can extend the lease term from one to six years. The
Company has the right to exercise or forego the lease renewal options. The lease agreements do not contain any material residual value guarantees or material
restrictive covenants.

As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the balance sheet components of leases were as follows (in thousands):

December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023
Operating lease right-of-use assets $ 46,463 $ 42,989
Accrued liabilities $ 20,445 $ 16,707
Operating lease liabilities 29,733 28,178
Total operating lease liabilities $ 50,178 $ 44,885
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The components of operating lease expense were as follows (in thousands):

Operating lease cost ()
Variable lease cost @

Total lease cost

(1) Includes short-term lease costs, which were not material in the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022.

Twelve Months Ended December 31,

2023 2022

25,167 $ 23315 $ 22,800
4,560 4,412 3,930

29,727 $ 27,727  $ 26,730

(2) Variable lease cost includes common area maintenance, property taxes, utilities and fluctuations in rent due to a change in an index or rate.

As of December 31, 2024, maturities of operating lease liabilities were as follows (in thousands):

Year Ending December 31,
2025
2026
2027
2028
2029 onwards

Total future minimum lease payments
Less: Imputed interest

Present value of lease liabilities

$ 23,000
18,024

8,587

4207

816

54,654

(4,476)

$ 50,178

The supplemental cash flow information related to operating leases for the twelve months ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 were as follows (in

thousands):
Operating cash flows resulting from operating leases:
Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities

New ROU assets obtained in exchange of lease liabilities:
Operating leases

Other information related to operating leases were as follows:

Weighted-average remaining operating lease term (years)
Weighted-average operating lease discount rate

Year ended December 31,

2024 2023
$ 21,876 $ 22,844
$ 24,966 $ 27,846
December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023
2.6 3.0
6.6 % 7.0 %

As of December 31, 2024, the Company has additional operating leases of approximately $0.8 million that have not yet commenced and, as such, have not
yet been recognized on the Company's Consolidated Balance Sheet. These operating leases are expected to commence in the first quarter of 2025 with minimum

lease terms of approximately one year.
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Note 10. Commitments and Contingencies

Legal Matters

The Company is subject to certain legal proceedings described below, and from time to time may be involved in a variety of claims, lawsuits, investigations,
and proceedings relating to contractual disputes, intellectual property rights, employment matters, regulatory compliance matters, and other litigation matters relating
to various claims that arise in the normal course of business.

The Company determines whether an estimated loss from a contingency should be accrued by assessing whether a loss is deemed probable and can be
reasonably estimated. The Company assesses its potential liability by analyzing specific litigation and regulatory matters using reasonably available information. The
Company develops its views on estimated losses in consultation with inside and outside counsel, which involves a subjective analysis of potential results and
outcomes, assuming various combinations of appropriate litigation and settlement strategies. Actual claims could settle or be adjudicated against the Company in the
future for materially different amounts than the Company has accrued due to the inherently unpredictable nature of litigation. Legal fees are expensed in the period in
which they are incurred.

CIPA Matter

On June 16, 2020, Plaintiff Meena Reuben (“Reuben”) filed a complaint against the Company for a putative class action lawsuit in California Superior Court
for San Mateo County. The complaint alleges claims on behalf of a class of individuals for whom, while they were in California, the Company allegedly intercepted
and recorded communications between individuals and the Company’s customers without the individual’s consent, in violation of the California Invasion of Privacy
Act (“CIPA”) Sections 631 and 632.7. Reuben seeks statutory damages of $5,000 for each alleged violation of Sections 631 and 632.7, injunctive relief, and
attorneys’ fees and costs, and other unspecified amount of damages. The parties participated in mediation on August 24, 2021. On September 16, 2021, Reuben filed
an amended complaint. The Company filed a demurrer to the amended complaint on October 18, 2021, and a motion for judgment on the pleadings on January 23,
2023. The Court overruled the Company’s demurrer and motion for judgment on the pleadings, and the parties then engaged in discovery. The Company filed a
motion for summary judgment (“MSJ”) on February 16, 2024. An evidentiary hearing was held on August 2, 2024 and a hearing on the MSJ was held on October 11,
2024, whereupon, the Court granted the Company’s motion for summary judgement. The Court entered judgment in RingCentral’s favor on November 5, 2024, and
the plaintiff filed a notice of appeal on January 6, 2025. Based on the information known by the Company as of the date of this filing and the rules and regulations
applicable to the preparation of the Company’s consolidated financial statements, it is not reasonably possible to provide an estimated amount of any such loss or
range of loss that may occur.

Employee Agreements

The Company has signed various employment agreements with executives and key employees pursuant to which if the Company terminates their
employment without cause or if the employee terminates his or her employment for good reason following a change of control of the Company, the employees are
entitled to receive certain benefits, including severance payments, accelerated vesting of stock options and RSUs, and continued COBRA coverage.

Indemnification

Certain of the Company’s agreements with resellers and customers include provisions for indemnification against liabilities if their subscriptions infringe
upon a third party’s intellectual property rights. At least quarterly, the Company assesses the status of any significant matters and its potential financial statement
exposure. If the potential loss from any claim or legal proceeding is considered probable and the amount or the range of loss can be estimated, the Company accrues a
liability for the estimated loss. The Company has not incurred any material costs as a result of such indemnification provisions. The Company has not accrued any
material liabilities related to such obligations as of December 31, 2024 and 2023.

Purchase Obligations

Our purchase obligations are primarily related to third-party managed hosting services and represent our non-cancellable open purchase orders and
contractual obligations for which we have not received the goods or services.

The following table sets forth our non-cancellable open purchase obligations for each of the next five years and thereafter as of December 31, 2024 (in
thousands):
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Purchase Obligations

2025 $ 63,758
2026 40,544
2027 29,577
2028 28,274
2029 4,135

Total $ 166,288

Note 11. Stockholders’ Deficit and Convertible Preferred Stock

In connection with the Company’s initial public offering, the Company reincorporated in Delaware on September 26, 2013. The Delaware certificate of
incorporation provides for two classes of common stock: Class A and Class B Common Stock, both with a par value of $0.0001 per share. In addition, the certificate
of incorporation authorizes shares of undesignated preferred stock with a par value of $0.0001 per share, pursuant to which on November 9, 2021, the Company filed
a certificate of designations authorizing the issuance of 200,000 shares of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock. The terms of preferred stock are described below.

Preferred Stock

The board of directors may, without further action by the stockholders, fix the powers, designations, preferences, or relative participating, optional, or other
rights, and the qualifications, limitations, and restrictions of up to an aggregate of 100,000,000 shares of preferred stock in one or more series and authorizes their
issuance. These rights, preferences, and privileges could include dividend rights, conversion rights, voting rights, terms of redemption, liquidation preferences,
sinking fund terms and the number of shares constituting any series or the designation of such series, any or all of which may be greater than the rights of the Class A
and Class B Common Stock. As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, there were 100,000,000 shares of preferred stock authorized, 200,000 shares of which are issued
and outstanding as Series A Convertible Preferred Stock.

Class A and Class B Common Stock

The Company has authorized 1,000,000,000 and 250,000,000 shares of Class A Common Stock and Class B Common Stock for issuance, respectively.
Holders of Class A Common Stock and Class B Common Stock have identical rights for matters submitted to a vote of the Company’s stockholders. Holders of
Class A Common Stock are entitled to one vote per share of Class A Common Stock and holders of Class B Common Stock are entitled to 10 votes per share of Class
B Common Stock. Holders of shares of Class A Common Stock and Class B Common Stock vote together as a single class on all matters (including the election of
directors) except for specific circumstances that would adversely affect the powers, preferences, or rights of a particular class of Common Stock. Subject to
preferences that may apply to any shares of preferred stock outstanding at the time, holders of Class A and Class B Common Stock share equally, identically and
ratably, on a per share basis, with respect to any dividend or distribution of cash, property or shares of the Company’s capital stock. Holders of Class A and Class B
Common Stock also share equally, identically, and ratably in all assets remaining after the payment of any liabilities and liquidation preferences and any accrued or
declared but unpaid dividends, if any, with respect to any outstanding preferred stock at the time. Each share of Class B Common Stock is convertible at any time at
the option of the holder into one share of Class A Common Stock. In addition, each share of Class B Common Stock will convert automatically to Class A Common
Stock upon: (i) the date specified by an affirmative vote or written consent of holders of at least 67% of the outstanding shares of Class B Common Stock, (ii) the
date on which the number of outstanding shares of Class B Common Stock represents less than 10% of the aggregate combined number of outstanding shares of
Class A Common Stock and Class B Common Stock, or (iii) any time seven years after the Company’s initial public offering (October 2, 2020), when a stockholder
owns less than 50% of the shares of Class B Common Stock that such holder owned immediately prior to completion of the initial public offering.
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Shares of Class A Common Stock reserved for future issuance were as follows (in thousands):

December 31, 2024

Preferred stock 100,000
Class B Common Stock 9,805
2013 Employee stock purchase plan 6,565

2013 Equity incentive plan:
Outstanding options and restricted stock unit awards 8,306
Available for future grants 13,769
138,445

Share Repurchase Programs

Under the Company’s share repurchase programs, share repurchases may be made at the Company’s discretion from time to time in open market
transactions, privately negotiated transactions, or other means, including under plans complying with Rule 10b5-1 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, subject
to a minimum cash balance. The programs do not obligate the Company to repurchase any specific dollar amount or to acquire any specific number of shares of its
Class A Common Stock. The timing and number of any shares repurchased under the programs will depend on a variety of factors, including stock price, trading
volume, and general business and market conditions.

The following tables summarizes the share repurchase activity of the Company’s Class A Common Stock (in thousands):

Twelve Months Ended December 31,

2024 2023 2022
Shares Amount Shares Amount Shares Amount
Repurchases under share repurchase programs 9,600 $ 316,923 10,066 $ 314,964 2,297 $ 99,748
Excise tax withholdings and broker’s commissions — 1,040 — 1,357 — 45
Total repurchases of common stock 9,600 $ 317,963 10,066 $ 316,321 2,297 99,793

As of December 31, 2024, approximately $168.1 million remained authorized and available under the Company’s share repurchase programs for future
share repurchases. The Inflation Reduction Act of 2022 imposed a nondeductible 1% excise tax on the net value of certain stock repurchases made after December
31, 2022. During the year ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, the Company included the applicable excise tax withholdings and/or broker’s commissions in
additional paid-in capital as part of the cost basis of repurchased stock. A corresponding liability for excise taxes payable was recorded in accrued liabilities on the
Consolidated Balance Sheets.

On February 14, 2025, the Company’s board of directors further increased their authorization by $100.0 million, subject to certain limitations. This
authorization does not expire. Refer to Note 18 — Subsequent Events in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for additional information.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company paid $322.4 million on share repurchases, which included $4.1 million that was pending from the
prior year, along with $1.4 million in excise taxes and broker’s commissions.
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The following table summarizes the number of shares of the Company’s Class A Common Stock repurchased and settled under share repurchase programs
for the twelve months ended months ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 (in thousands):

Repurchases during the year ended December 31, 2022 2,297
Repurchases unsettled as of December 31, 2022 —
Prior year repurchases settled during the year ended December 31, 2022 —

Total repurchases settled during the year ended December 31, 2022 2,297
Repurchases during the year ended December 31, 2023 10,066
Repurchases unsettled as of December 31, 2023 (118)
Prior year repurchases settled during the year ended December 31, 2023 =

Total repurchases settled during the year ended December 31, 2023 9,948
Repurchases during the year ended December 31, 2024 9,600
Repurchases unsettled as of December 31, 2024 —
Prior year repurchases settled during the year ended December 31, 2024 118

Total repurchases settled during the year ended December 31, 2024 9,718

Series A Convertible Preferred Stock

On November 8, 2021, the Company entered into the Investment Agreement, pursuant to which the Company sold to Searchlight Investor, in a private
placement exempt from registration under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, 200,000 shares of newly issued Series A Convertible Preferred Stock, par value
$0.0001 per share, for an aggregate purchase price of $200 million. The Series A Convertible Preferred Stock issued to Searchlight Investor pursuant to the
Investment Agreement is convertible into shares of the Company’s Class A Common Stock, par value $0.0001 per share, at a conversion price of $269.22 per share,
subject to adjustment as provided in the certificate of designations specifying the terms of such shares. The transactions contemplated by the Investment Agreement
closed on November 9, 2021. The Series A Convertible Preferred Stock ranks senior to the shares of the Company’s Class A Common Stock and Class B Common
Stock with respect to rights on the distribution of assets on any voluntary or involuntary liquidation or winding up of the affairs of the Company. The Series A
Convertible Preferred Stock is a zero coupon, perpetual preferred stock, with a liquidation preference of $1,000 per share and other customary terms, including with
respect to mandatory conversion and change of control premium under certain circumstances. The shares of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock shall not be
redeemable or otherwise mature, other than for a liquidation or a specified change in control event as provided in the certificate of designations specifying the terms
of such shares. Holders of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock will be entitled to vote with the holders of the Class A Common Stock and Class B Common Stock
on an as-converted basis. Holders of the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock will be entitled to a separate class vote with respect to, among other things, certain
amendments to the Company’s organizational documents that have an adverse impact on the rights, preferences, privileges or voting power of the Series A
Convertible Preferred Stock, authorizations or issuances of Company capital stock, or other securities convertible into capital stock, that is senior to, or equal in
priority with, the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock, and increases or decreases in the number of authorized shares of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock.

As the liquidation or specified change in control event is not solely within the Company’s control, the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock is therefore
classified as temporary equity and recorded outside of stockholders’ equity on the Consolidated Balance Sheet. As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, there were
200,000 shares of the Company’s Series A Convertible Preferred Stock issued and outstanding, and the carrying value, net of issuance costs, was $199.4 million.
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Note 12. Share-Based Compensation

A summary of share-based compensation expense recognized in the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Operations is as follows (in thousands):

Year ended December 31,

2024 2023 2022
Cost of revenues $ 30,322 $ 36,484 $ 34,269
Research and development 76,971 93,961 88,846
Sales and marketing 134,659 151,221 151,950
General and administrative 97,107 145,013 110,944
Total share-based compensation expense $ 339,059 $ 426,679 $ 386,009

A summary of share-based compensation expense by award type is as follows (in thousands):

Year ended December 31,

2024 2023 2022
Employee stock purchase plan rights (“ESPP”) $ 6,338 $ 7,574 $ 7,719
Performance stock units (“PSUs”) 20,624 27,035 1,737
Restricted stock units (“RSUs”) 312,097 392,070 376,553
Total share-based compensation expense $ 339,059 $ 426,679 $ 386,009

Equity Incentive Plans

In September 2013, the Board adopted and the Company’s stockholders approved the 2013 Equity Incentive Plan, which became effective on September 26,
2013, and the stockholders approved an amended and restated 2013 Equity Plan on December 15, 2022 (together, “2013 Plan”). In connection with the adoption of
the 2013 Plan, the Company terminated the 2010 Equity Incentive Plan (“2010 Plan”), under which stock options had been granted prior to September 26, 2013. The
2010 Plan was established in September 2010, when the 2003 Equity Incentive Plan (“2003 Plan”) was terminated. After the termination of the 2003 and 2010 Plans,
no additional options were granted under these plans; however, options previously granted under these plans will continue to be governed by these plans and were
exercisable into shares of Class B Common Stock. In addition, options authorized to be granted under the 2003 and 2010 Plans, including forfeitures of previously
granted awards, are authorized for grant under the 2013 Plan.

A total of 6,200,000 shares of Class A Common Stock were originally reserved for issuance under the 2013 Plan. The 2013 Plan includes an annual increase
on the first day of each fiscal year beginning in 2014, equal to the least of: (i) 6,200,000 shares of Class A Common Stock; (ii) 5% of the outstanding shares of all
classes of common stock as of the last day of the Company’s immediately preceding fiscal year; or (iii) such other amount as the board of directors may determine.
During the year ended December 31, 2024, a total of 4,673,390 shares of Class A Common Stock were added to the 2013 Plan in connection with the annual
automatic increase provision. As of December 31, 2024, a total of 13,769,177 shares remain available for grant under the 2013 Plan.

The plans permit the grant of stock options and other share-based awards, such as restricted stock units, to employees, officers, directors, and consultants by
the board of directors. Option awards are generally granted with an exercise price equal to the fair market value of the Company’s Class A Common Stock at the date
of grant. Option awards generally vest according to a graded vesting schedule based on four years of continuous service. On January 29, 2014, the board of directors
approved an amendment to decrease the contractual term of all equity awards issued from the 2013 Plan from 10 years to 7 years for all awards granted after January
29, 2014. Certain option awards provide for accelerated vesting if there is a change in control (as defined in the option agreement) and early exercise of options prior
to vesting (subject to the Company’s repurchase right).
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A summary of option activity under all of the Company’s equity incentive plans and changes during the period then ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and
2022 is presented in the following table:

‘Weighted-
Number of ‘Weighted- Average Aggregate
Options Average Contractual Intrinsic
Outstanding Exercise Price Term Value
(in thousands) Per Share (in Years) (in thousands)
Outstanding at December 31, 2021 154 §$ 9.12 09 $ 27,465
Exercised (132) 8.54
Canceled/Forfeited — —
Outstanding at December 31, 2022 22 3 12.53 05 $ 509
Exercised (22) 12.53
Canceled/Forfeited — —
Outstanding at December 31, 2023 — — 0.0 $ —
Exercised — —
Canceled/Forfeited — —
Outstanding at December 31, 2024 — — 00 $ —
Vested and expected to vest as of December 31, 2024 — _ 00 $ _
Exercisable as of December 31, 2024 - $ _ 00 $ _

No options were granted during the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023. The total intrinsic value of options exercised during year ended
December 31, 2024 and 2023 was immaterial. There is no remaining unamortized share-based compensation expense related to these options.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

The Company’s Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“ESPP”) allows eligible employees to purchase shares of the Company’s Class A Common Stock at a
discounted price, through payroll deductions of up to the lesser of 15% of their eligible compensation or the IRS allowable limit per calendar year. A participant may
purchase a maximum of 3,000 shares during an offering period. The offering periods are for a period of six months and generally start on the first trading day on or
after May 13th and November 13th of each year. At the end of the offering period, the purchase price is set at the lower of: (i) 85% of the fair value of the Company’s
common stock at the beginning of the six-month offering period and (ii) 85% of the fair value of the Company’s Class A Common Stock at the end of the six-month
offering period.

The ESPP provides for annual increases in the number of shares available for issuance under the ESPP on the first day of each fiscal year beginning in fiscal
2014, equal to the least of: (i) 1% of the outstanding shares of all classes of common stock on the last day of the immediately preceding year; (ii) 1,250,000 shares; or
(iii) such other amount as may be determined by the board of directors. During the year ended December 31, 2024, a total of 934,678 shares of Class A Common
Stock were added to the ESPP Plan in connection with the annual increase provision. As of December 31, 2024, a total of 6,564,718 shares were available for
issuance under the ESPP.

The weighted-average assumptions used to value ESPP rights under the Black-Scholes-Merton option-pricing model and the resulting offering grant date
fair value of ESPP rights granted in the periods presented were as follows:

Year ended December 31,

2024 2023 2022
Expected term (in years) 0.5 0.5 0.5
Expected volatility 46 % 67 % 81 %
Risk-free interest rate 4.89 % 5.36 % 3.01 %
Expected dividend yield 0% 0% 0%
Offering grant date fair value of ESPP rights $ 10.59 $ 938  § 20.18

As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, there was approximately $2.5 million and $3.2 million of unrecognized share-based compensation expense, net of
estimated forfeitures, related to ESPP, which will be recognized on a straight-line basis over the remaining weighted-average vesting periods of approximately 0.4
years.
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Restricted and Performance Stock Units

A summary of activity of restricted and performance-based stock units as of December 31, 2024, and changes during the period then ended is presented in
the following table:

Number of Weighted- Aggregate
RSUs/PSUs Average Intrinsic
Outstanding Grant Date Fair Value
(in thousands) Value Per Share (in thousands)
Outstanding at December 31, 2021 2,851 §$ 25826 $ 534,186
Granted 5,999 72.96
Released (2,787) 131.18
Canceled/Forfeited (963) 206.32
Outstanding at December 31, 2022 5,100 $ 119.55 $ 180,577
Granted 13,666 32.16
Released (5,891) 61.12
Canceled/Forfeited (2,828) 57.29
Outstanding at December 31, 2023 10,047 $ 5247 $ 325,153
Granted 6,947 36.34
Released (6,226) 53.15
Canceled/Forfeited (2,462) 40.28
Outstanding at December 31, 2024 8,306 $ 4209 $ 290,799

Restricted Stock Units

The 2013 Plan provides for the issuance of RSUs to employees, directors, and consultants. RSUs issued under the 2013 Plan generally vest over three or
four years.

As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, there was a total of $250.4 million and $393.5 million of unrecognized share-based compensation expense, net of
estimated forfeitures, related to RSUs, which will be recognized on a straight-line basis over the remaining weighted-average vesting periods of approximately 2.1
years and 2.6 years, respectively.

Performance Stock Units

The 2013 Plan provides for the issuance of PSUs. The PSUs granted under the 2013 Plan are contingent upon the achievement of predetermined market,
performance, and service conditions. The Company uses a Monte Carlo simulation model to determine the fair value of its market condition PSUs. PSU expense is
recognized using the graded vesting method over the requisite service period. For performance-based metrics, the compensation expense is based on a probability of
achievement of the performance conditions. For market-based conditions, if the market conditions are not met but the service conditions are met, the PSUs will not
vest; however, any stock-based compensation expense recognized will not be reversed.

For the majority of the PSUs granted, the number of shares of common stock to be issued at vesting will range from 0% to 200% of the target number based
on the achievement of the different performance and market conditions over the respective measurement period. The PSUs generally vest over a two- or three-year
period.

As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, there was a total of $22.5 million and $19.5 million unrecognized share-based compensation expense, net of estimated
forfeitures, related to these PSUs, which will be recognized over the remaining service period of approximately 0.9 years and 2.1 years, respectively.
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Employee Equity Compensation Plans

The Company’s board of directors adopted employee equity bonus and executive equity compensation plans (“Plans”), which allow the recipients to earn
fully vested shares of the Company’s Class A Common Stock upon the achievement of quarterly service and/or performance conditions and in lieu of a portion of
base salary. During the year ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company issued 1,395,903 and 2,222,098 RSUs, respectively, under these Plans. The shares
under these Plans are issued from the reserve of shares available for issuance under the 2013 Plan. The total requisite service period for these Plans is approximately

0.4 years.

The unrecognized share-based compensation expense as of December 31, 2024 was approximately $4.4 million, which will be recognized over the
remaining service period of 0.1 years. The shares issued under these Plans are issued from the reserve of shares available for issuance under the 2013 Plan.

Note 13. Income Taxes

Net loss before provision for income taxes consisted of the following (in thousands):

United States
International

Total net loss before provision for income taxes

The provision for income taxes consisted of the following (in thousands):

Current
Federal
State
Foreign
Total current
Deferred
Federal
State
Foreign
Total deferred
Total income tax provision
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Year ended December 31,

2024 2023 2022
(88,910) $ (190,912) $ (898,036)
41,685 34,067 23,983
(47,225) $ (156,845) $ (874,053)

Year ended December 31,

2024 2023 2022
2930 § — 3 —
5,919 1,792 1,104
5,849 5,972 4,710
14,698 $ 7,764 $ 5,814
(3,635) 631 (701)
(3,635) 631 (701)
11,063 $ 8,395 $ 5,113
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Beginning in 2022, the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017 eliminated the right to deduct research and development expenditures for tax purposes in the period
the expenses were incurred and instead requires all U.S. and foreign research and development expenditures to be amortized over five and fifteen tax years,
respectively. Due to this required capitalization of research and development expenditures, the Company has recorded current income tax expense of $8.8 million for
the year ended December 31, 2024, which includes $2.9 million for federal and $5.9 million for state taxes. The current income tax provision is primarily for federal,
state and foreign taxes currently payable that we anticipate paying as a result of statutory limitations on our ability to offset expected taxable income with net
operating loss carry forwards.

The provision for income taxes differed from the amounts computed by applying the U.S. federal income tax rate to pretax loss as a result of the following
(in thousands):

Year ended December 31,
2024 2023 2022

Federal tax benefit at statutory rate $ 9,917) $ (32,937) $ (183,551)
State tax, net of federal tax benefit 4,676 1,415 848
Research and development credits 6,650 (11,574) (12,830)
Share-based compensation 34,227 10,956 5,828
Debt extinguishment — — 19
Global Intangible Low-Taxed Income (“GILTI”) — 3,035 —
Foreign derived intangible income (“FDII”) (2,143) — —
Other permanent differences (983) 1,674 3,143
Foreign tax rate differential (2,624) 548 (2,497)
Net operating (gains) losses not recognized (18,823) 35,278 194,153
Release of valuation allowance associated with acquisitions — — —

Total income tax provision $ 11,063  $ 8,395 $ 5,113

In general, it is the Company’s practice and intention to reinvest the earnings of its non-U.S. subsidiaries in those operations. Because the Company’s non-
U.S. subsidiary earnings have previously been subject to the one-time transition tax on foreign earnings required by the 2017 Tax Act, any additional taxes due with
respect to such earnings or the excess of the amount for financial reporting over the tax basis of its foreign investments would generally be limited to foreign
withholding taxes and/or U.S. state income taxes.
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The types of temporary differences that give rise to significant portions of the Company’s deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows (in thousands):

Year ended December 31,

2024 2023
Deferred tax assets
Net operating loss and credit carry-forwards $ 407,235 § 463,400
Research and development credits 73,352 87,111
Research and development expenditure capitalization 201,814 130,792
Basis difference in investments 138 40,655
Sales tax accrual 67 67
Share-based compensation 5,926 21,014
Acquired intangibles 91,943 76,171
Accrued liabilities 15,141 17,994
Gross deferred tax assets 795,616 837,204
Valuation allowance (644,379) (674,720)
Total deferred tax assets 151,237 162,484
Deferred tax liabilities
Deferred sales commissions (104,236) (117,875)
Lease right of use assets (6,948) (8,255)
Property and equipment (35,837) (35,753)
Net deferred tax assets $ 4216 $ 601

As of December 31, 2024, the Company has federal net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $1.4 billion, which does not expire. As of
December 31, 2024, the Company had foreign net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $15.5 million that will carryforward indefinitely. As of
December 31, 2024, the Company had state net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $1.2 billion that will begin to expire in 2025. The Company also has
research credit carryforwards for federal and California tax purposes of approximately $67.8 million and $54.1 million, respectively, available to reduce future
income subject to income taxes. The federal research credit carry-forwards will begin to expire in 2028 and the California research credits carry forward indefinitely.

The Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, imposes restrictions on the utilization of net operating losses in the event of an “ownership change” of a
corporation. Accordingly, a company’s ability to use net operating losses may be limited as prescribed under Internal Revenue Code Section 382 (“IRC Section
382”). Events which may cause limitations in the amount of the net operating losses that the Company may use in any one year include, but are not limited to, a
cumulative ownership change of more than 50% over a three-year period. Utilization of the federal and state net operating losses may be subject to substantial annual
limitation due to the ownership change limitations provided by the IRC Section 382 and similar state provisions.

The Company’s management believes that, based on a number of factors, it is more likely than not, that all or some portion of the deferred tax assets will not
be realized; and accordingly, for the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company has provided a valuation allowance against the Company’s U.S. net deferred tax

assets. The net change in the valuation allowance for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 was a decrease of $30.3 million and an increase of $5.0 million,
respectively.

The following shows the changes in the gross amount of unrecognized tax benefits as of December 31, 2024 (in thousands):

2024 2023 2022
Unrecognized tax benefits, beginning of the year $ 31,976 $ 26,412 $ 20,010
Increases related to prior year tax positions — — —
Decreases related to prior year tax positions (3,088) (418) —
Increases related to current year tax positions 1,305 5,982 6,402
Unrecognized tax benefits, end of year $ 30,193 § 31,976 $ 26,412
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In accordance with ASC 740-10, Income Taxes, the Company has adopted the accounting policy that interest and penalties recognized are classified as part
of its income taxes.

The Company does not anticipate that its total unrecognized tax benefits will significantly change due to settlement of examination or the expiration of
statute of limitations during the next 12 months. Included in the balance of unrecognized tax benefits as of December 31, 2024 are $0.3 million of tax benefit that, if
recognized, would affect the effective tax rate. Otherwise, as a result of the full valuation allowance as of December 31, 2024, current adjustments to the
unrecognized tax benefit will not have an impact on our effective income tax rate. Any adjustments made after the valuation allowance is released will have an
impact on the tax rate.

The Company files U.S. and foreign income tax returns with varying statutes of limitations. Due to the Company’s net carry-over of unused operating losses
and tax credits, all years from 2003 forward remain subject to future examination by tax authorities.

Note 14. Basic and Diluted Net Loss Per Share

Basic net loss per share is computed by dividing the net loss by the weighted-average number of shares of common stock outstanding during the period.
Diluted net loss per share is computed by giving effect to all potential shares of common stock, stock options, restricted stock units, performance stock units, ESPP,
convertible notes, and convertible preferred stock, to the extent dilutive. For the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, all such common stock equivalents
have been excluded from diluted net loss per share as the effect to net loss per share would be anti-dilutive.

The following table sets forth the computation of the Company’s basic and diluted net loss per share of common stock (in thousands, except per share data):

Year Ended December 31,

2024 2023 2022
Numerator
Net loss $ (58,288) $ (165,240) $ (879,166)
Denominator
Weighted-average common shares outstanding for basic and diluted net loss per share 92,110 94,912 95,239
Basic net income (loss) per share $ (0.63) $ (1.74) $ (9.23)

The following table summarizes the potentially dilutive common shares that were excluded from diluted weighted-average common shares outstanding
because including them would have had an anti-dilutive effect (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2024 2023 2022
Shares of common stock issuable under equity incentive plans outstanding 9,860 9,999 4,050
Shares of common stock related to convertible preferred stock 743 743 743
Potential common shares excluded from diluted net loss per share 10,603 10,742 4,793

Pursuant to the terms of the respective Convertible Notes Indentures, effective January 1, 2022, the Company made an irrevocable election to, upon
conversions of the Convertible Notes, settle the principal portion of such converted Convertible Notes only in cash, with the conversion premium to be settled in cash
or shares at the Company’s election.

The Company calculates the potential dilutive effect of its Convertible Notes under the if-converted method. Under this method, only the amounts settled in
excess of the principal will be considered in diluted earnings per share, in line with the terms of the Convertible Notes Indentures.

The denominator for diluted net income per share does not include any effect from the capped call transactions the Company entered into concurrently with
the issuance of the Convertible Notes as this effect would be anti-dilutive. In the event of conversion of the Convertible Notes, if shares are delivered to the Company
under the capped call, they will offset the dilutive effect of the shares that the Company would issue under the Convertible Notes.
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Note 15. 401(k) Plan

The Company has a qualified defined contribution plan under Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code covering eligible employees. Substantially all of
the U.S. employees are eligible to make contributions to the 401(k) plan. The Company matches 401(k) based on the amount of the employees’ contributions subject
to certain limitations. Employer contributions were $6.0 million, $6.2 million, and $6.9 million for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022.

Note 16. Restructuring Activities

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company incurred restructuring costs of $12.6 million as part of the broader efforts to optimize the
Company’s cost structure. The restructuring costs primarily consisted of severance payments, employee benefits and related costs. The Company expects to
substantially complete these actions in 2025, subject to local law and consultation requirements in certain countries. The Company may incur other charges or cash
expenditures not currently contemplated due to unanticipated events that may occur as a result of or in connection with the implementation of these actions.

The following table summarizes the Company’s restructuring costs that were recorded as an operating expense in the accompanying Consolidated Statement
of Operations for the year ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2024 2023 2022
Cost of revenues $ 1,334 §$ 876 $ 457
Research and development 3,215 4,457 5,321
Sales and marketing 5,885 8,758 9,695
General and administrative 2,201 6,277 2,711
Total restructuring costs $ 12,635 § 20,368 $ 18,184

The following table summarizes the Company’s restructuring liability that is included in accrued liabilities in the accompanying Consolidated Balance
Sheets (in thousands):

Balance as of December 31, 2022 $ 5,485
Restructuring costs 20,368
Cash payments (22,662)

Balance as of December 31, 2023 $ 3,191
Restructuring costs 12,635
Cash payments (14,209)

Balance as of December 31, 2024 $ 1,617
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Note 17. Segment Information

The Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”), who functions as the chief operating decision maker (“CODM?”), oversees the Company’s business activities at the
consolidated level as a single operating and reportable segment. The factors used to identify the Company’s single operating segment include the organizational
structure of the Company and the financial information available for evaluation by the CODM. The CODM uses consolidated net income (or loss) and operating
margin to evaluate financial performance and make decisions regarding resource allocation, including setting target revenue growth and distributing the budget across
cost of revenues, research and development, sales and marketing, and general and administrative expenses.

The following table presents selected financial information for the Company’s single operating segment for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and

2022:
Twelve Months Ended December 31,
2024 2023 2022

Revenue $ 2,400,395 $ 2,202,429 $ 1,988,330
Less:

Share-based compensation expense 339,059 426,679 386,009

Asset write-down charges — — 283,689

Depreciation and amortization 222,609 233,940 246,561

Other segment items (V) 1,836,057 1,740,621 1,721,546
Income (loss) from operations 2,670 (198,811) (649,475)
Operating margin as % of revenue 0.1 % (9.0)% 32.71%
Other income (expense), net

Interest expense (64,995) (35,997) (4,807)

Other income (expense) ® 15,100 77,963 (219,771)
Other income (expense), net (49,895) 41,966 (224,578)
Loss before income taxes (47,225) (156,845) (874,053)
Provision for income taxes 11,063 8,395 5,113
Net loss $ (58,288) $ (165,240)  $ (879,166)

(1) Other segment items mainly consist of personnel costs, third-party commissions, and advertising and marketing costs.

(2) Includes interest income of $8.0 million, $12.5 million and $2.5 million for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

See the consolidated financial statements for other financial information regarding the Company’s operating segment.

Refer to Note 2 - Revenue in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for information about revenue by geographic location.

Concentrations

Financial instruments that subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents and accounts receivable.
Although the Company deposits its cash with multiple financial institutions, its deposits, at times, may exceed federally insured limits. The Company’s accounts
receivable are primarily derived from sales by resellers and to direct customers. The Company maintains an allowance for doubtful accounts for estimated potential
credit losses. As of December 31, 2024 and 2023 and 2022, and for the years then ended, none of the Company’s customers accounted for more than 10% of total
accounts receivable, total revenues, or subscription revenues.

Long-lived assets by geographic location is based on the location of the legal entity that owns the asset. As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, approximately
90% and 94%, of the Company’s consolidated long-lived assets, respectively, were located in the U.S. No other single country outside of the U.S. represented more
than 10% of the Company’s consolidated long-lived assets as of December 31, 2024 and 2023.
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Note 18. Subsequent Events

Share Repurchase Program

On February 14, 2025, the Company’s board of directors authorized an incremental $100.0 million under its share repurchase programs which, combined
with the remaining $168.1 million available under previous authorizations as of December 31, 2024, results in approximately $268.1 million available to repurchase
outstanding shares of the Company’s Class A Common Stock. Share repurchases may be made at the Company’s discretion from time to time in open market
transactions, privately negotiated transactions, or other means, subject to a minimum cash balance and certain other limitations. The Company’s share repurchase
programs do not obligate the Company to repurchase any specific dollar amount or to acquire any specific number of shares of its Class A Common Stock. The
timing and number of any shares repurchased will depend on a variety of factors, including stock price, trading volume, and general business and market conditions.
The authorization under this program does not expire.
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our chief executive officer and chief financial officer, we conducted an
evaluation of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures, as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), as of the end of the period covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

In designing and evaluating our disclosure controls and procedures, management recognizes that any disclosure controls and procedures, no matter how well
designed and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance of achieving the desired control objectives. In addition, the design of disclosure controls
and procedures must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints and that management is required to apply its judgment in evaluating the benefits of possible
controls and procedures relative to their costs.

Based on management’s evaluation, our chief executive officer and chief financial officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures are designed
to, and are effective to, provide assurance at a reasonable level that the information we are required to disclose in reports that we file or submit under the Exchange
Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in SEC rules and forms, and that such information is accumulated and
communicated to our management, including our chief executive officer and chief financial officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required
disclosures.

Management’s Annual Report on Internal Controls Over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as such term is defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f). Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our chief executive officer and chief financial officer,
we conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2024 based on the guidelines established in the
Internal Control—Integrated Framework (2013 framework) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COSO”). Our
internal control over financial reporting includes policies and procedures that provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external reporting purposes in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

Based on the results of our evaluation, our management concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2024.
The effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2024 has been audited by KPMG LLP, an independent registered public
accounting firm, as stated in its report which is included in Item 8 in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There are no changes in our internal control over financial reporting identified in connection with the evaluation required by Rule 13a-15(d) and 15d-15(d)
of the Exchange Act that occurred during the quarter ended December 31, 2024, that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our
internal control over financial reporting.

Inherent Limitations on Effectiveness of Controls

Our management, including our chief executive officer and chief financial officer, do not expect that our disclosure controls or our internal control over
financial reporting will prevent all errors and all fraud. A control system, no matter how well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute,
assurance that the objectives of the control system are met. Further, the design of a control system must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints, and the
benefits of controls must be considered relative to their costs. Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide
absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, within the Company have been detected. These inherent limitations include the realities that
judgments in decision-making can be faulty, and that breakdowns can occur because of a simple error or mistake. Additionally, controls can be circumvented by the
individual acts of some persons, by collusion of two or more people or by management override of the controls. The design of any system of controls is also based in
part upon certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and there can be no assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all
potential future conditions; over time, controls may become inadequate because
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of changes in conditions, or the degree of compliance with policies or procedures may deteriorate. Because of the inherent limitations in a cost-effective control
system, misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

Securities Trading Plans of Directors and Executive Officers

During our last fiscal quarter, the following officer, as defined in Rule 16a-1(f), adopted a “Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement,” as defined in Regulation S-K
Item 408, as follows:

On December 12, 2024, Abhey Lamba, our Chief Financial Officer, adopted a Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement providing for the sale from time to time of
up to 81,387 shares of Class A common stock. The number of shares that may be sold under the trading arrangement may also be increased by the number of shares
of the company’s Class A common stock, if any (not yet determinable) that are awarded to Mr. Lamba under the company’s employee equity bonus and executive
equity compensation plans. The number of shares that may be sold under the trading arrangement will be reduced by the number of shares (not yet determinable)
withheld to satisfy tax obligations upon the vesting of certain outstanding equity awards. The trading arrangement is intended to satisfy the affirmative defense in
Rule 10b5-1(c). The duration of the trading arrangement is until December 31, 2025 or earlier if all transactions under the trading arrangement are completed.

No other officers or directors, as defined in Rule 16a-1(f), have adopted and/or terminated a “Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement” or a “non-Rule 10b5-1
trading arrangement,” as defined in Regulation S-K Item 408, during the last fiscal quarter.

Appointment of President and Chief Operating Officer

We are providing the following disclosures in lieu of filing a Current Report on Form 8-K relating to Item 5.02 (Departure of Directors or Certain Officers;
Election of Directors; Appointment of Certain Officers; Compensatory Arrangements of Certain Officers):

On February 19, 2025, the Company’s board of directors appointed Kira Makagon as President and Chief Operating Officer of the Company, effective
immediately.

Ms. Makagon, age 61, has served as the Company’s Chief Innovation Officer since July 2019 as well as Chief Marketing Officer since February 2024, and
prior to that as Executive Vice President, Innovation, from August 2012 to July 2019. Prior to joining the Company, Ms. Makagon founded and served in senior
leadership positions, including Chief Executive Officer, at a variety of companies in the technology space. Ms. Makagon holds a B.A. in Computer Science from the
University of California, Berkeley and an M.B.A. from the University of California, Berkeley, Haas School of Business.

In connection with her appointment as President and Chief Operating Officer of the Company, Ms. Makagon signed an offer letter (the “Offer Letter”) that
provides for a starting annual base salary of $500,000 and a quarterly management-by-objective (“MBO”) bonus opportunity equal to 100% of Ms. Makagon’s
quarterly base salary, subject to the terms of the Company’s Executive Bonus Plan.

The Offer Letter provides for an initial grant of time-based restricted stock units that cover shares of the Company’s Class A common stock having an
aggregate value of $5,000,000 (the “Initial Equity Grant”). The Initial Equity Grant will vest over an approximately four-year period as follows: provided Ms.
Makagon remains a service provider of the Company through the applicable vesting date, one-sixteenth of the Initial Equity Grant will vest in equal quarterly
installments on each quarterly vesting date (first trading day on or after March 1, June 1, September 1 and December 1 of each year), with the first vesting date
occurring on the first trading day on or after June 1, 2025.

The Offer Letter also provides for a grant of performance-based RSUs having an aggregate value of $5,000,000 (the “Performance-Based Equity Grant™).
The Performance-Based Equity Grant will vest as to one-third of the RSUs on March 1, 2026, and as to the remaining two-thirds of the unvested RSUs in equal
quarterly installments over a two-year period, with all vesting contingent on the achievement of performance-based metrics determined by the Company’s board of
directors on or before March 31, 2025, provided that if the Company’s board of directors does not establish such performance-based metrics on or prior to March 31,
2025, then the Performance-Based Equity Grant will vest on the same three-year vesting schedule, and subject to the same terms and conditions, as the Initial Equity
Grant.

The value of the Initial Equity Grant and the Performance-Based Equity Grant each will be converted into a number of RSUs based upon the average closing
price of a share of the Company’s Class A common stock (as quoted on the New York Stock Exchange) during certain trading days that occur during February 2025.
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Ms. Makagon will become an “Eligible Employee” under the Company’s Change of Control and Severance Policy (the “Severance Policy”) and is eligible
to receive equity acceleration and other severance benefits under the Severance Policy upon certain terminations of her employment with the Company, as described
therein.

The foregoing description of Ms. Makagon’s compensation, terms and conditions of her employment and treatment of Ms. Makagon upon the termination of
her employment under certain circumstances is qualified in its entirety by (i) the full text of the Offer Letter, which will be filed with the Company's quarterly report
on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2025, and (ii) the Severance Policy, a copy of which is filed as Exhibit 10.19 to this Annual Report.

The Company entered into its standard form of indemnification agreement with Ms. Makagon, a copy of which is filed as Exhibit 10.8 to this Annual
Report.

Other than the indemnification agreement described in the preceding sentence, Ms. Makagon has no direct or indirect material interest in any transaction
required to be disclosed pursuant to Item 404(a) of Regulation S-K promulgated under the Exchange Act, nor are any such transactions currently proposed. There are
no arrangements or understandings between Ms. Makagon and any other persons pursuant to which Ms. Makagon was appointed President and Chief Operating
Officer, and there are no family relationships between Ms. Makagon and any director or executive officer of the Company.

Appointment of Chief Accounting Officer

We are providing the following disclosure in lieu of filing a Current Report on Form 8-K relating to Item 5.02 (Departure of Directors or Certain Officers;
Election of Directors; Appointment of Certain Officers; Compensatory Arrangements of Certain Officers):

On February 19, 2025, the Company’s board of directors appointed Tarun Arora to succeed Vaibhav Agarwal as the Company’s Chief Accounting Officer,
effective as of February 27, 2025. Mr. Agarwal will take on a new role as Chief Transformation Officer and continue as the Company's Deputy Chief Financial
Officer.

Mr. Arora, age 46, has served as the Company’s Senior Vice President, Corporate Controller, since October 2022, and prior to that as Vice President,
Corporate Controller, from October 2020 to November 2022, and as Head of Global Accounting Operations from September 2019 to October 2020. Prior to joining
the Company, Mr. Arora served as the Corporate Controller for Renesas Electronics America. Mr. Arora also served in management positions, including Senior
Manager, at Pricewaterhouse Coopers LLP and Ernst & Young. Mr. Arora is a CPA, Chartered Accountant, and he has an undergraduate degree in accounting and
finance from the University of Delhi, India.

In connection with his appointment as Chief Accounting Officer of the Company, Mr. Arora will receive an annual base salary of $400,000 and a quarterly
management-by-objective (“MBO”) bonus opportunity equal to 50% of his quarterly base salary, subject to the terms of the Company’s Executive Bonus Plan.

He will also receive a grant of time-based restricted stock units that cover shares of the Company’s Class A common stock having an aggregate value of
$2,000,000 (the “CAO Equity Grant”). The CAO Equity Grant will vest over an approximately three-year period as follows: provided Mr. Arora remains a service
provider of the Company through the applicable vesting date, one-twelfth of the CAO Equity Grant will vest in equal quarterly installments on each quarterly vesting
date (first trading day on or after March 1, June 1, September 1 and December 1 of each year), with the first vesting date occurring on the first trading day on or after
June 1, 2025.

The value of the CAO Equity Grant will be converted into a number of RSUs based upon the average closing price of a share of the Company’s Class A
common stock (as quoted on the New York Stock Exchange) during certain trading days that occur during February 2025.

Mr. Arora will also become an “Eligible Employee” under the Severance Policy, a copy of which is filed as Exhibit 10.19 to this Annual Report, and will be
eligible to receive equity acceleration and other severance benefits under the Severance Policy upon certain terminations of his employment with the Company, as
described therein.

The Company will enter into its standard form of indemnification agreement with Mr. Arora, a copy of which is filed as Exhibit 10.8 to this Annual Report.

Other than the indemnification agreement described in the preceding sentence, Mr. Arora has no direct or indirect material interest in any transaction
required to be disclosed pursuant to Item 404(a) of Regulation S-K promulgated under the Exchange Act, nor are any such transactions currently proposed. There are
no arrangements or understandings between Mr. Arora and any other persons pursuant to which Mr. Arora was appointed Chief Accounting Officer, and there are no
family relationships between Mr. Arora and any director or executive officer of the Company.
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ITEM 9C. DISCLOSURE REGARDING FOREIGN JURISDICTIONS THAT PREVENT INSPECTIONS

None.
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PART II1

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The information required by this item will be included in our 10-K/A in lieu of our Definitive Proxy Statement for the 2025 Annual Meeting of Stockholders
to be filed with the SEC within 120 days of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2024, and is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this item will be included in our 10-K/A in lieu of our Definitive Proxy Statement for the 2025 Annual Meeting of Stockholders
to be filed with the SEC within 120 days of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2024, and is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information required by this item will be included in our 10-K/A in lieu of our Definitive Proxy Statement for the 2025 Annual Meeting of Stockholders
to be filed with the SEC within 120 days of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2024, and is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information required by this item will be included in our 10-K/A in lieu of our Definitive Proxy Statement for the 2025 Annual Meeting of Stockholders
to be filed with the SEC within 120 days of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2024, and is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES
Our independent registered public accounting firm is KPMG LLP, San Francisco, CA.

The information required by this item will be included in our 10-K/A in lieu of our Definitive Proxy Statement for the 2025 Annual Meeting of Stockholders
to be filed with the SEC within 120 days of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2024, and is incorporated herein by reference.

With the exception of the information incorporated in Items 10, 11, 12, 13, and 14 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, our 10-K/A in lieu of our Definitive

Proxy Statement for the 2025 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the SEC within 120 days of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2024 is not deemed
“filed” as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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Item 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(@)

Exhibits. The following exhibits are included herein or incorporated herein by reference:

Exhibit
Number
3.1
32

33

4.1

42

43

4.4

4.5

4.6

4.7

10.1+

10.2+

10.3+

10.4+

10.5+

10.6+

10.7+

10.8+

Description

Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Registrant (filed as Exhibit 3.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K,
filed on June 3, 2015, and incorporated herein by reference).

Certificate of Designations of the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock (filed as Exhibit 3.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed

Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Registrant (filed as Exhibit 3.1 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
September 30, 2022, filed on November 9, 2022, and incorporated herein by reference).

Indenture, dated March 3, 2020, between RingCentral, Inc. and U.S. Bank Trust Company, National Association (as successor in interest to U.S.

by reference).
Form of 0% Convertible Senior Notes due 2025 (included in Exhibit 4.1). (filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K

Indenture, dated as of August 16, 2023, among RingCentral, Inc., each of the guarantors party thereto and U.S. Bank Trust Company, National
Association. (filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on August 16, 2023, and incorporated herein by reference).

Form of 8.500% Senior Note due 2030 (included in Exhibit 4.5). (filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on
August 16, 2023, and incorporated herein by reference).

Description of the Registrant’s Securities Registered Pursuant to Section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. (filed as Exhibit 4.9 to the

2003 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended, and forms of stock option agreements thereunder (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Registration
Statement on Form S-1, File No. 333-190815, and incorporated herein by reference).

2010 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended, and forms of stock option agreements thereunder (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant’s Registration

2013 Equity Incentive Plan and forms of stock option agreements thereunder (filed as Exhibit 10.3 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on
Form S-1, File No. 333-190815, and incorporated herein by reference).

Eebruary 27, 2019, and incorporated herein by reference).
Form of Director and Executive Officer Indemnification Agreement (filed as Exhibit 10.3 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for
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Exhibit
Number
10.9+
10.10+
10.11+

10.12+

10.13+

10.14+

10.15+

10.16+

10.17+

10.18+

10.19+

10.20+

10.21+

10.22+

10.23+

10.24

Description

Registration Statement on Form S-1, File No. 333-190815, and incorporated herein by reference).
Offer Letter by and between the Registrant and Mohammed Katibeh, dated January 4, 2022 (filed as Exhibit 10.11 to the Registrant’s Annual

on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2022, filed on August 8, 2022, and incorporated herein by reference).

Offer Letter by and between the Registrant and Vaibhav Agarwal, dated July 21, 2016. (filed as Exhibit 10.12 to the Registrant’s Annual Report

Revised Employment Offer Letter by and between the Registrant and John Marlow, dated September 13, 2013 (filed as Exhibit 10.7 to the
Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, File No. 333-190815, and incorporated herein by reference).

Offer Letter by and between the Registrant and Abhey Lamba, dated November 4, 2024 (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report
on Form 10-Q) for the quarter ended September 30, 2024, filed on November 8, 2024, and incorporated herein by reference).

Amended and Restated Equity Acceleration Policy. (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended

June 30, 2023, filed on August 7, 2023, and incorporated herein by reference).
Change of Control and Severance Policy. (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended

Offer Letter by and between the Registrant and Tarek A. Robbiati, dated July 31, 2023. (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report
on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2023, filed on November 8, 2023, and incorporated herein by reference).

Separation Agreement and Release between the Registrant and Mo Katibeh dated August 7, 2023. (filed as Exhibit 10.3 to the Registrant’s

Separation Agreement and Release between the Registrant and Tarek Robbiati dated December 8, 2023. (filed as Exhibit 10.21 to the Registrant’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2023, filed on February 22, 2024, and incorporated herein by reference).

year ended December 31, 2022, filed on February 23, 2023, and incorporated herein by reference).
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Exhibit
Number

10.25

10.26

10.27

10.28

10.29

10.30

10.31

10.32

10.33*

10.34

10.35

10.36

10.37

19.1
21.1

Description

Office Lease, dated September 25, 2014, by and between the Registrant and Helen M. Raiser, Trustee of the JHR Marital Trust under Trust
Agreement dated October 2, 1969, as amended, Helen M. Raiser, Trustee of the JHR Bypass Trust under Trust Agreement dated October 2, 1969
as amended, Harvey E. Chapman, Jr., Trustee of the Harvey E. Chapman, Jr. Living Trust under Trust Agreement dated July 17, 2006, and
Colleen C. Badell, Trustee of the Colleen C. Badell Living Trust under Trust Agreement dated July 17, 2006, as tenants in common (filed as

Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2019, filed on February 26, 2020, and incorporated herein by
reference).

Second Amendment to Lease, dated August 6, 2020 by and between the Registrant and Phillip H. Raiser, Trustee of the JHR Marital Trust under

incorporated herein by reference).

Form of Capped Call Confirmation. (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on September 16, 2020, and
incorporated herein by reference).

Registration Rights Agreement, effective as of November 9, 2021, by and between RingCentral, Inc. and Searchlight I MLN, L.P. (filed as

10.4 to Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on November 9, 2021, and incorporated herein by reference).

Credit Agreement, dated as of February 14, 2023, among RingCentral, Inc., the lenders from time to time party thereto and Bank of America,
N.A., as administrative agent and as collateral agent. (filed as Exhibit 10.33 to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2022, filed on February 23, 2023, and incorporated herein by reference).

First Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of August 15, 2023, among RingCentral, Inc., the lenders from time to time party thereto and
Bank of America, N.A., as administrative agent and as collateral agent (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on
August 16, 2023, and incorporated herein by reference).

issuers party thereto and Bank of America, N.A., as administrative agent and as collateral agent. (filed as Exhibit 10.4 to the Registrant’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2023, filed on November 8, 2023, and incorporated herein by reference).

Third Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of August 2, 2024, among RingCentral, Inc., the lenders party thereto, the letter of credit issuers
party thereto and Bank of America, N.A., as administrative agent and as collateral agent (files as Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report
on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2024, filed on November 8, 2024, and incorporated herein by reference).

Fourth Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of August 6, 2024, among RingCentral, Inc., the lenders party thereto, the letter of credit
issuers party thereto and Bank of America, N.A., as administrative agent and as collateral agent (files as Exhibit 10.3 to the Registrant’s Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2024, filed on November 8, 2024, and incorporated herein by reference).

Insider Trading Policy, filed herewith.

List of subsidiaries of the Registrant.
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Exhibit
Number Description
23.1 Consent of KPMG LLP, independent registered public accounting firm.
24.1 Power of Attorney (included in signature page).
31.1 Certification of Periodic Report by Principal Executive Officer under Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
31.2 Certification of Periodic Report by Principal Financial Officer under Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
321 Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
: 2002.
329 Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
’ 2002.
971 Clawback Policy (filed as Exhibit 97.1 to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2023, filed on February

101.INS Inline XBRL Instance Document.

101.SCH Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document.

101.CAL Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document.
101.DEF Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document.
101.LAB Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document.
101.PRE Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document.

104 Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101).

+ Indicates a management or compensatory plan

* In accordance with Item 601(a)(5) of Regulation S-K, the exhibits and schedules to Exhibits 10.33 are not filed herewith. The agreement identifies such exhibits
and schedules, including the subject matter of their content. We undertake to provide copies of such exhibits and schedules to the SEC upon request.

(b) Financial Statements. Our consolidated financial statements are included under Part II, Item 8 in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

(c) Financial Statement Schedules. All financial statement schedules are omitted because they are not applicable or the information is included in the
Registrant’s consolidated financial statements or related notes.
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PART IV.
SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this Annual Report on Form 10-
K to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in the City of Belmont, State of California, on this 25th day of February 2025.

RINGCENTRAL, INC.

Date: February 25, 2025 /s/ Vladimir Shmunis
Vladimir Shmunis

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Date: February 25, 2025 /s/ Abhey Lamba

Abhey Lamba

Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

Date: February 25, 2025 /s/ Vaibhav Agarwal

Vaibhav Agarwal

Chief Accounting Officer
(Principal Accounting Officer)
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POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints Vladimir Shmunis, Abhey
Lamba, and Vaibhav Agarwal, and each of them, his true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, each with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for him and
in his name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign any and all amendments to this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and to file the same, with exhibits thereto
and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each of them, full
power and authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done, as fully to all intents and purposes as he might or could do in
person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that each of said attorneys-in-fact and agents, or his substitute or substitutes may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue
hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant
and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date
/s/ Vladimir Shmunis Chairman and Chief Executive Officer February 25, 2025
Vladimir Shmunis (Principal Executive Officer)
/s/ Abhey Lamba Chief Financial Officer February 25, 2025
Abhey Lamba (Principal Financial Officer)
/s/ Vaibhav Agarwal Chief Accounting Officer February 25, 2025
Vaibhav Agarwal (Principal Accounting Olfficer)
/s/ Robert Theis Director February 25, 2025
Robert Theis
/s/ Prat Bhatt Director February 25, 2025
Prat Bhatt
/s/ Kenneth A. Goldman Director February 25, 2025

Kenneth A. Goldman

/s/ Mignon L. Clyburn Director February 25, 2025
Mignon L. Clyburn

/s/ Amy Guggenheim Shenkan Director February 25, 2025

Amy Guggenheim Shenkan
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RINGCENTRAL, INC.

INSIDER TRADING POLICY
and

Guidelines with Respect to
Certain Transactions in Securities

As Amended on February 19, 2025

Exhibit 19.1



INTRODUCTION

RingCentral, Inc. (together with its subsidiaries and affiliates, the “Company’) opposes the unauthorized disclosure of any nonpublic information
acquired in the course of your service with the Company and the misuse of material nonpublic information in securities trading. Any such actions will
be deemed violations of this Insider Trading Policy (the “Policy”).

Legal prohibitions on insider trading

The antifraud provisions of U.S. federal securities laws prohibit directors, officers, employees and other individuals who possess material
nonpublic information from trading on the basis of that information. Transactions will be considered “on the basis of” material nonpublic information
if the person engaged in the transaction was aware of the material nonpublic information at the time of the transaction. It is not a defense that the
person did not “use” the information for purposes of the transaction.

Disclosing material nonpublic information directly or indirectly to others who then trade based on that information or making recommendations or
expressing opinions as to transactions in securities while aware of material nonpublic information (which is sometimes referred to as “tipping”) is also
illegal. Both the person who provides the information, recommendation or opinion and the person who trades based on it may be liable.

These illegal activities are commonly referred to as “insider trading”. State securities laws and securities laws of other jurisdictions also impose
restrictions on insider trading.

In addition, a company, as well as individual directors, officers and other supervisory personnel, may be subject to liability as “controlling
persons” for failure to take appropriate steps to prevent insider trading by those under their supervision, influence or control.

Detection and prosecution of insider trading

The U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”), the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority and the New York Stock Exchange use
sophisticated electronic surveillance techniques to investigate and detect insider trading, and the SEC and the U.S. Department of Justice pursue
insider trading violations vigorously. Cases involving trading through foreign accounts, trading by family members and friends and trading involving
only a small number of shares have been successfully prosecuted.

Penalties for violation of insider trading laws and this Policy

Civil and criminal penalties. Potential penalties for insider trading violations under U.S. federal securities laws can include:
+ damages in a private lawsuit;
» disgorging any profits made or losses avoided,
e imprisonment;
e criminal fines;
e civil fines;
* bars against serving as an officer or director of a public company; and

* an injunction against future violations.



Civil and criminal penalties also apply to tipping. The SEC has imposed large penalties in tipping cases even when the disclosing person did not
trade or gain any benefit from another person’s trading.

Controlling person liability. The penalty for “controlling person” liability can be civil fines as well as potential criminal fines and imprisonment.

Company disciplinary actions. If the Company has a reasonable basis to conclude that you have failed to comply with this Policy, you may be
subject to disciplinary action by the Company, up to and including dismissal for cause, regardless of whether or not your failure to comply with this
Policy results in a violation of law. It is not necessary for the Company to wait for the filing or conclusion of any civil or criminal action against an
alleged violator before taking disciplinary action. The Company may also notify and cooperate with the SEC, any other regulators, and securities
exchanges about such suspected violations. In addition, the Company may give stop transfer and other instructions to the Company’s transfer agent to
enforce compliance with this Policy.

Compliance Officer

Please direct any questions, requests or reports as to any of the matters discussed in this Policy to the General Counsel of the Company or his
designee (each, a “Compliance Officer’). The Compliance Officer is generally responsible for the administration of this Policy. The Compliance
Officer may select others to assist with the execution of his or her duties.

Reporting violations

If you believe someone is violating this Policy or otherwise using material nonpublic information that they learned through their position at the
Company to trade securities, you should report it to the Compliance Officer, or if the Compliance Officer is implicated in your report, then you should
report it in accordance with the Company’s Whistleblower Policy.

Protected activity not prohibited

Nothing in this Policy, or any related guidelines or other documents or information provided in connection with this Policy, shall in any way limit
or prohibit you from engaging in any of the protected activities set forth in the Company’s Whistleblower Policy, as amended from time to time.

Personal responsibility
The ultimate responsibility for complying with this Policy and applicable laws and regulations rests with you. You should use your best judgment

at all times and consult with your legal and financial advisors, as needed. We advise you to seek assistance if you have any questions at all. The rules
relating to insider trading can be complex, and a violation of insider trading laws can carry severe consequences.



PERSONS AND TRANSACTIONS COVERED BY THIS POLICY
Persons covered by this Policy

This Policy applies to all directors, officers, employees, consultants, contractors and advisors of the Company. References in this Policy to “you”
(as well as general references to directors, officers, employees, consultants, contractors and advisors of the Company) should also be understood to
include members of your immediate family (which means, for purposes of this Policy, persons with whom you share a household as well as persons
that are your economic dependents) and any other individuals or entities whose transactions in securities you influence, direct or control (including,
for example, a venture or other investment fund, if you influence, direct or control transactions by the fund). You are responsible for making sure that
these other individuals and entities comply with this Policy.

Types of transactions covered by this Policy

Except as discussed in the section entitled “Limited Exceptions,” this Policy applies to all transactions involving the securities of the Company.
This Policy therefore applies to purchases, sales, loans and other transfers of common stock, options, restricted stock units, warrants, preferred stock,
debt securities (such as debentures, bonds and notes) and other securities. This Policy also applies to any arrangements that affect economic exposure
to changes in the prices of these securities. These arrangements may include, among other things, transactions in derivative securities (such as
exchange-traded put or call options), hedging transactions (including purchasing financial instruments such as prepaid variable forward contracts,
equity swaps, collars, and exchange funds), short sales and certain decisions with respect to participation in benefit plans. This Policy applies to any
disposition in the form of a gift of any securities of the Company. This Policy also applies to any distribution to holders of interests in an entity if the
entity is subject to this Policy. This Policy also applies to any offers with respect to the transactions discussed above. You should note that there are no
exceptions from insider trading laws or this Policy based on the size of the transaction.

In addition, if you learn of material nonpublic information through your service with the Company that could be expected to affect the trading
price of the securities of another company, you cannot (x) use that information to trade, directly or indirectly through others, or (y) provide that
information to another person in order to trade, in the securities of that other company. Any such action will be deemed a violation of this Policy.

Responsibilities regarding the nonpublic information of other companies

This Policy prohibits the unauthorized disclosure or other misuse of any nonpublic information of other companies, such as the Company’s
distributors, vendors, customers, collaborators, suppliers and competitors. This Policy also prohibits insider trading and tipping based on the material
nonpublic information of other companies.
Applicability of this Policy after your departure

You are expected to comply with this Policy until such time as you are no longer affiliated with the Company and you no longer possess any

material nonpublic information subject to this Policy. In addition, if you are subject to a trading blackout under this Policy at the time you cease to be
affiliated with the Company, you are expected to abide by the applicable trading restrictions until at least the end of the relevant blackout period.



No exceptions based on personal circumstances

There may be instances where you suffer financial harm or other hardship or are otherwise required to forego a planned transaction because of the
restrictions imposed by this Policy. Personal financial emergency or other personal circumstances are not mitigating factors under securities laws and
will not excuse a failure to comply with this Policy.



MATERIAL NONPUBLIC INFORMATION

“Material” information

Information should be regarded as material if there is a substantial likelihood that a reasonable investor would consider it important in deciding
whether to buy, hold or sell securities or would view the information as significantly altering the total mix of information in the marketplace about the
issuer of the security. In general, any information that could reasonably be expected to affect the market price of a security is likely to be material.
Either positive or negative information may be material.

It is not possible to define all categories of “material” information. However, some examples of information that would often be regarded as
material include information with respect to:

Financial results, financial condition, earnings pre-announcements, guidance, projections or forecasts, particularly if inconsistent with
the expectations of the investment community;

Restatements of financial results, or material impairments, write-offs or restructurings;

Changes in independent auditors, or notification that the Company may no longer rely on an audit report;

Business plans or budgets;

Creation of significant financial obligations, or any significant default under or acceleration of any financial obligation;
Impending bankruptcy or financial liquidity problems;

Significant developments involving business relationships, including execution, modification or termination of significant agreements
or orders with customers, strategic partners, global service providers, suppliers, or other business partners;

Significant product introductions, modifications, defects, outages or recalls or significant pricing changes or other product
announcements of a significant nature;

Significant developments in research and development or relating to intellectual property;
Significant legal or regulatory developments, whether positive or negative, actual or threatened, including litigation;

Major events involving the Company’s securities, including calls of securities for redemption, adoption of stock repurchase programs,
option repricings, stock splits, changes in dividend policies, public or private securities offerings, modification to the rights of security
holders or notice of delisting;

Significant corporate events, such as a pending or proposed merger or acquisition, joint venture or tender offer, a significant
investment, the acquisition or disposition of a significant business or asset or a change in control of the company;

Significant data security or privacy incidents, such as the compromise, destruction, or loss of the Company’s or customers’ data,
which may result in litigation, regulatory scrutiny, or actual or threatened legal action;

Major personnel changes, such as changes in senior management or lay-offs; and

The existence of a special blackout period.



If you have any questions as to whether information should be considered “material,” you should consult with the Compliance Officer. In general,
it is advisable to resolve any close questions as to the materiality of any information by assuming that the information is material.

“Nonpublic” information

Information is considered nonpublic if the information has not been broadly disseminated to the public for a sufficient period to be reflected in the
price of the security. Even if information is widely known throughout the Company, it may still be nonpublic. As a general rule, information should be
considered nonpublic until at least one full trading day has elapsed after the information is broadly distributed to the public in a press release, a public
filing with the SEC, a pre-announced public webcast or another broad, non-exclusionary form of public communication. However, depending upon the
form of the announcement and the nature of the information, it is possible that information may not be fully absorbed by the marketplace until a later
time. Any questions as to whether information is nonpublic should be directed to the Compliance Officer.

The term “trading day” means a day on which national stock exchanges and the National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc. Automated
Quotation System are open for trading. A “full” trading day has elapsed when, after the public disclosure, trading in the relevant security has opened
and then closed.



POLICIES REGARDING MATERIAL NONPUBLIC INFORMATION
Confidentiality of nonpublic information

The unauthorized use or disclosure of nonpublic information relating to the Company or other companies is prohibited. All nonpublic information
you acquire in the course of your service with the Company may only be used for legitimate Company business purposes. In addition, nonpublic
information of others should be handled in accordance with the terms of any relevant nondisclosure agreements, and the use of any such nonpublic
information should be limited to the purpose for which it was disclosed.

You must use all reasonable efforts to safeguard nonpublic information in the Company’s possession. You may not disclose nonpublic information
about the Company or any other company, unless required by law, or unless (i) disclosure is required for legitimate Company business purposes,
(ii) you are authorized to disclose the information and (iii) appropriate steps have been taken to prevent misuse of that information (including entering
an appropriate nondisclosure agreement that restricts the disclosure and use of the information, if applicable). This restriction also applies to internal
communications within the Company and to communications with agents of the Company. In cases where disclosing nonpublic information to third
parties is required, you should coordinate with the Legal Department.

All directors, officers, employees and agents of the Company are required to sign and comply with an At Will Employment, Confidential
Information, Invention Assignment, and Arbitration Agreement.

No trading on material nonpublic information

Except as discussed in the section entitled “Limited Exceptions,” you may not, directly or indirectly through others, engage in any transaction
involving the Company’s securities while aware of material nonpublic information relating to the Company. It is not an excuse that you did not “use”
the information in your transaction.

Similarly, you may not engage in transactions involving the securities of any other company if you are aware of material nonpublic information
about that company (except to the extent the transactions are analogous to those presented in the section entitled “Limited Exceptions”). For example,
you may be involved in a proposed transaction involving a prospective business relationship or transaction with another company. If information about
that transaction constitutes material nonpublic information for that other company, you would be prohibited from engaging in transactions involving
the securities of that other company (as well as transactions involving Company securities, if that information is material to the Company). It is
important to note that “materiality” is different for different companies. Information that is not material to the Company may be material to another
company. In addition, if you learn of material nonpublic information through your service with the Company that could be expected to affect the
trading price of the securities of another company, you cannot use that information to trade, directly or indirectly through others, or provide that
information to another person in order to trade, in the securities of that other company.

No disclosing material nonpublic information for the benefit of others
You may not disclose material nonpublic information concerning the Company or any other company to friends, family members or any other

person or entity not authorized to receive such information where such person or entity may benefit by trading on the basis of such information. In
addition, you may not make recommendations or express opinions on the basis of material nonpublic information as to trading in the



securities of companies to which such information relates. You are prohibited from engaging in these actions whether or not you derive any profit or
personal benefit from doing so.

Obligation to disclose material nonpublic information to the Company

You may not enter into any transaction, including those discussed in the section entitled “Limited Exceptions,” unless you have disclosed any
material nonpublic information that you become aware of in the course of your service with the Company, and that senior management is not aware of,
to the Compliance Officer. If you are a member of senior management , the information must be disclosed to the Chief Executive Officer, and if you
are the Chief Executive Officer or a director, you must disclose the information to the board of directors, before any transaction is permissible.

Responding to outside inquiries for information

In the event you receive an inquiry from someone outside of the Company, such as a stock analyst, for information, you should refer the inquiry to
the Chief Financial Officer or the Company’s Investor Relations Department. The Company is required under Regulation FD (Fair Disclosure) of the
U.S. federal securities laws to avoid the selective disclosure of material nonpublic information. In general, the regulation provides that when a public
company discloses material nonpublic information, it must provide broad, non-exclusionary access to the information. Violations of this regulation can
subject the company to SEC enforcement actions, which may result in injunctions and severe monetary penalties. The Company has established
procedures for releasing material information in a manner that is designed to achieve broad public dissemination of the information immediately upon
its release in compliance with applicable law. Please consult the Company’s external communications policy for more details-



TRADING BLACKOUT PERIODS

To limit the likelihood of trading at times when there is a significant risk of insider trading exposure, the Company has instituted quarterly trading
blackout periods and may institute special trading blackout periods from time to time. In addition, to comply with applicable legal requirements, the
Company may also institute blackout periods that prevent directors and officers from trading in Company securities at a time when employees are
prevented from trading Company securities in the Company’s 401(k) plan.

It is important to note that whether or not you are subject to blackout periods, you remain subject to the prohibitions on trading on the basis of
material nonpublic information and any other applicable restrictions in this Policy.

Quarterly blackout periods

Except as discussed in the section entitled “Limited Exceptions,” directors, executive officers and other employees, consultants, contractors, and
advisors identified by the Company must refrain from conducting transactions involving the Company’s securities during quarterly blackout periods.
Even if you are not specifically identified as being subject to quarterly blackout periods, you should exercise caution when engaging in transactions
during quarterly blackout periods because of the heightened risk of insider trading exposure.

Quarterly blackout periods begin at the end of the fifteenth calendar day of the third month of each fiscal quarter (or the last trading day preceding
such fifteenth calendar day if the fifteenth calendar day is not a trading day) and end at the start of the second full trading day following the date of
public disclosure of the financial results for that fiscal quarter. This period is a particularly sensitive time for transactions involving the Company’s
securities from the perspective of compliance with applicable securities laws due to the fact that, during this period, individuals may often possess or
have access to material nonpublic information relevant to the expected financial results for the quarter.

Individuals subject to quarterly blackout periods will be informed by the Compliance Officer that they are listed on the covered persons list
maintained by the Compliance Officer (the “Covered Persons List”). From time to time, the Company may identify other persons who should be
subject to quarterly blackout periods, and the Compliance Officer may update and revise the Covered Persons List as appropriate.

Special blackout periods

From time to time, the Company may also prohibit directors, officers, employees, consultants, contractors, and advisors from engaging in
transactions involving the Company’s securities when, in the judgment of the Compliance Officer, a trading blackout is warranted. The Company will
generally impose special blackout periods when there are material developments known to the Company that have not yet been disclosed to the public.
For example, the Company may impose a special blackout period in anticipation of announcing interim earnings guidance or a significant transaction
or business development. However, special blackout periods may be declared for any reason.

The Company will notify those persons subject a special blackout period. Each person who has been so identified and notified by the Company
may not engage in any transaction involving the Company’s securities until instructed otherwise by the Compliance Officer, and should not disclose to
others the fact of such suspension of trading.



Regulation BTR blackouts

Directors and executive officers may also be subject to trading blackouts pursuant to Regulation Blackout Trading Restriction, or Regulation BTR,
under U.S. federal securities laws. In general, Regulation BTR prohibits any director or executive officer from engaging in certain transactions
involving Company securities during periods when 401(k) plan participants are prevented from purchasing, selling or otherwise acquiring or
transferring an interest in certain securities held in individual account plans. Any profits realized from a transaction that violates Regulation BTR are
recoverable by the Company, regardless of the intentions of the director or officer effecting the transaction. In addition, individuals who engage in such
transactions are subject to sanction by the SEC as well as potential criminal liability. The Company has provided, or will provide, separate memoranda
and other appropriate materials to its directors and executive officers regarding compliance with Regulation BTR.

The Company will notify directors and officers if they are subject to a blackout trading restriction under Regulation BTR. Failure to comply with
an applicable trading blackout in accordance with Regulation BTR is a violation of law and this Policy.

No “safe harbors”
There are no unconditional “safe harbors” for trades made at particular times, and all persons subject to this Policy should exercise good judgment

at all times. Even when a quarterly blackout period is not in effect, you may be prohibited from engaging in transactions involving the Company’s
securities because you possess material nonpublic information, are subject to a special blackout period or are otherwise restricted under this Policy.
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PRE-CLEARANCE OF TRADES

Except as discussed in the section entitled “Limited Exceptions,” directors and executive officers should refrain from engaging in any transaction
involving the Company’s securities without first obtaining pre-clearance of the transaction from the Compliance Officer. Individuals subject to pre-
clearance requirements are listed on the Covered Persons List. From time to time, the Company may identify other persons who should be subject to
the pre-clearance requirements set forth above, and the Compliance Officer may update and revise the Covered Persons List as appropriate. In
addition, the Company has determined that certain other employees, consultants, contractors, and advisors of the Company that may have regular or
special access to material nonpublic information should refrain from engaging in any transaction involving the Company’s securities without first
obtaining pre-clearance of the transaction from the Compliance Officer. The Compliance Officer may not engage in a transaction involving the
Company’s securities unless the Chief Financial Officer has pre-cleared the transaction.

These pre-clearance procedures are intended to decrease insider trading risks associated with transactions by individuals with regular or special
access to material nonpublic information. In addition, requiring pre-clearance of transactions by directors and officers facilitates compliance with
Rule 144 resale restrictions under the Securities Act, the liability and reporting provisions of Section 16 under the Exchange Act and Regulation BTR.
Pre-clearance of a trade, however, is not a defense to a claim of insider trading and does not excuse you from otherwise complying with insider trading
laws or this Policy.

The Compliance Officer is under no obligation to approve a transaction submitted for pre-clearance, and may determine not to permit the
transaction.
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ADDITIONAL RESTRICTIONS AND GUIDANCE

This section addresses certain types of transactions that may expose you and the Company to significant risks. You should understand that, even
though a transaction may not be expressly prohibited by this section, you are responsible for ensuring that the transaction otherwise complies with
other provisions in this Policy that may apply to the transaction, such as the general prohibition against insider trading as well as pre-clearance
procedures and blackout periods, to the extent applicable.

Short sales

Short sales (i.e., the sale of a security that must be borrowed to make delivery) and “selling short against the box” (i.e., a sale with a delayed
delivery) with respect to Company securities are prohibited under this Policy. Short sales may signal to the market possible bad news about the
Company or a general lack of confidence in the Company’s prospects, and an expectation that the value of the Company’s securities will decline. In
addition, short sales are effectively a bet against the Company’s success and may reduce the seller’s incentive to improve the Company’s performance.
Short sales may also create a suspicion that the seller is engaged in insider trading.

Derivative securities and hedging transactions

You are prohibited from engaging in transactions in publicly-traded options, such as puts and calls, and other derivative securities with respect to
the Company’s securities. This prohibition extends to any hedging or similar transaction designed to decrease the risks associated with holding
Company securities, including purchasing financial instruments such as prepaid variable forward contracts, equity swaps, collars, and exchange funds.
Stock options, restricted stock units, stock appreciation rights and other securities issued pursuant to Company benefit plans or other compensatory
arrangements with the Company are not subject to this prohibition.

Transactions in derivative securities may reflect a short-term and speculative interest in the Company’s securities and may create the appearance
of impropriety, even where a transaction does not involve trading on inside information. Trading in derivatives may also focus attention on short-term
performance at the expense of the Company’s long-term objectives. In addition, the application of securities laws to derivatives transactions can be
complex, and persons engaging in derivatives transactions run an increased risk of violating securities laws.

Using Company securities as collateral for loans

You may not pledge Company securities as collateral for loans. If you default on the loan, the lender may sell the pledged securities as collateral in
a foreclosure sale. The sale, even though not initiated at your request, is still considered a sale for your benefit and, if made at a time when you are
aware of material nonpublic information or otherwise are not permitted to trade in Company securities, may result in inadvertent insider trading
violations, Section 16 and Reg. BTR violations (for officers and directors), violations of this Policy and unfavorable publicity for you and the
Company.

Holding Company securities in margin accounts
You may not hold Company securities in margin accounts. Under typical margin arrangements, if you fail to meet a margin call, the broker may be

entitled to sell securities held in the margin account without your consent. The sale, even though not initiated at your request, is still considered a sale
for your benefit and, if made at a time when you are aware of material nonpublic information or are otherwise not permitted to trade,
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may result in inadvertent insider trading violations, Section 16 and Reg. BTR violations (for officers and directors), violations of this Policy and
unfavorable publicity for you and the Company.

Placing open orders with brokers

Except in accordance with an approved trading plan (as discussed below), you should exercise caution when placing open orders, such as limit
orders or stop orders, with brokers, particularly where the order is likely to remain outstanding for an extended period of time. Open orders may result
in the execution of a trade at a time when you are aware of material nonpublic information or otherwise are not permitted to trade in Company
securities, which may result in inadvertent insider trading violations, Section 16 and Reg. BTR violations (for officers and directors), violations of this
Policy and unfavorable publicity for you and the Company. If you are subject to blackout periods or pre-clearance requirements, you should so inform
any broker with whom you place any open order at the time it is placed.
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LIMITED EXCEPTIONS

The following are certain limited exceptions to the restrictions imposed by the Company under this Policy. Please be aware that even if a
transaction is subject to an exception to this Policy, you will need to separately assess whether the transaction complies with applicable law. For
example, even if a transaction is indicated as exempt from this Policy, you may need to comply with the “short-swing” trading restrictions under
Section 16 of the Exchange Act, to the extent applicable. If there is a Regulation BTR blackout (and no quarterly or special blackout period), then the
limited exceptions set forth in Regulation BTR will apply. You are responsible for complying with applicable law at all times.

Transactions pursuant to a trading plan that complies with SEC rules

Transactions made pursuant to a valid 10b5-1 trading plan approved by the Company (see [10b5-1 Trading Plans below), are not subject to the
restrictions in this Policy against trades made while aware of material nonpublic information or to the pre-clearance procedures or blackout periods
established under this Policy.

Receipt and vesting of stock options, restricted stock units and stock appreciation rights

The trading restrictions under this Policy do not apply to the acceptance or purchase of stock options, restricted stock units, stock appreciation
rights or other equity compensation awards from the Company. The trading restrictions under this Policy also do not apply to the vesting, cancellation
or forfeiture of such awards in accordance with applicable plans and agreements. However, the trading restrictions do apply to any subsequent sales of
any securities underlying such awards.

Exercise of stock options for cash

The trading restrictions under this Policy do not apply to the exercise of stock options for cash under the Company’s stock option plans and where
there is no other associated market activity. Likewise, the trading restrictions under this Policy do not apply to the exercise of stock options in a stock-
for-stock exercise with the Company or an election to have the Company withhold securities to cover tax obligations in connection with an option
exercise. However, the trading restrictions under this Policy do apply to (i) the sale of any securities issued upon the exercise of a stock option, (ii) a
cashless exercise of a stock option through a broker, since this involves selling a portion of the underlying shares to cover the costs of exercise, and
(iii) any other market sale for the purpose of generating the cash needed to pay the exercise price of an option.

Purchases from the employee stock purchase plan

The trading restrictions in this Policy do not apply to elections with respect to participation in the Company’s employee stock purchase plan or
to purchases of securities under the plan. However, the trading restrictions do apply to any subsequent sales of any such securities.

Certain transactions with respect to equity awards to satisfy tax withholding requirements
The trading restrictions in this Policy do not apply to;
* net share withholding with respect to equity awards where shares are withheld by the Company in order to satisfy tax withholding

requirements, (x) as required by either the Company’s board of directors (or a committee thereof) or the award agreement governing such
equity award or (y) as you elect, if permitted by the Company, so long as the election is irrevocable and made in
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writing at a time when a trading blackout is not in place and you are not in possession of material nonpublic information; and

« sell to cover transactions where shares are sold on your behalf upon vesting of equity awards and sold in order to satisfy tax withholding
requirements, (x) as required by either the Company’s board of directors (or a committee thereof) or the award agreement governing such
equity award or (y) as you elect, if permitted by the Company, so long as the election is irrevocable and made in writing at a time when a
trading blackout is not in place and you are not in possession of material nonpublic information; however, this exception does not apply
to any other market sale for the purposes of paying required withholding.

However, in each of the above cases, the trading restrictions do apply to any subsequent sales of any such securities.
Certain 401(k) plan transactions

The trading restrictions in this Policy do not apply to purchases of Company stock in the 401(k) plan resulting from periodic contributions to the
plan based on your payroll contribution election. The blackout period restrictions and pre-clearance requirements do apply, however, to elections you
make under the 401(k) plan to (i) increase or decrease the amount of your contributions under the 401(k) plan if such increase or decrease will
increase or decrease the amount of your contributions that will be allocated to a Company stock fund, (ii) increase or decrease the percentages of your
contributions that will be allocated to a Company stock fund, (iii) move balances into or out of a Company stock fund, (iv) borrow money against your
401(k) plan account if the loan will result in liquidation of some or all of your Company stock fund balance, and (v) pre-pay a plan loan if the pre-
payment will result in the allocation of loan proceeds to a Company stock fund.

Stock splits, stock dividends and similar transactions

The trading restrictions under this Policy do not apply to a change in the number of securities held as a result of a stock split or stock dividend
applying equally to all securities of a class, or similar transactions.

Inheritance and changes in form of ownership

The trading restrictions under this Policy do not apply to transfers by will or the laws of descent or distribution and, provided that prior written
notice is provided to the Compliance Officer, distributions or transfers (such as certain tax planning or estate planning transfers) that effect only a
change in the form of beneficial interest without changing your pecuniary interest in the Company’s securities.

Other exceptions

Any other exception from this Policy must be approved by the Compliance Officer, in consultation with the Board of Directors or an independent
committee of the Board of Directors.

-15-



10B5-1 TRADING PLANS

The Company permits its directors, officers and employees to adopt written 10b5-1 trading plans in order to mitigate the risk of trading on
material nonpublic information. These plans allow for individuals to enter into a prearranged trading plan as long as the plan is not established or
modified during a blackout period or when the individual is otherwise in possession of material nonpublic information. To be approved by the
Company and qualify for the exception to this Policy, any 10b5-1 trading plan adopted by a director, officer or employee must be submitted to the
Compliance Officer for approval and comply with any other criteria established by the Company. If the Compliance Officer is the requester, then the
Company’s Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer, or their delegate, must approve the written 10b5-1 trading plan.

COMPLIANCE WITH SECTION 16 OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT
Obligations under Section 16
Section 16 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, and the related rules and regulations, set forth (i) reporting obligations, (ii) limitations on
“short-swing” transactions and (iii) limitations on short sales and other transactions applicable to directors, officers, large shareholders and certain

other persons.

All of the Company’s officers and directors and certain other individuals are required to comply with Section 16 of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, and the related rules and regulations, because of their positions with the Company.

Notification requirements to facilitate Section 16 reporting

To facilitate timely reporting of transactions pursuant to Section 16 requirements, each person subject to Section 16 reporting requirements must
provide, or must ensure that his or her broker provides, the Company with detailed information (e.g., trade date, number of shares, exact price, efc.)
regarding his or her transactions involving the Company’s securities, including gifts, transfers, pledges and transactions pursuant to a trading plan,
both prior to (to confirm compliance with pre-clearance procedures, if applicable) and promptly following execution.

Personal responsibility

The obligation to file Section 16 reports, and to otherwise comply with Section 16, is personal. The Company is not responsible for the failure to
comply with Section 16 requirements.
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ADDITIONAL INFORMATION
Delivery of Policy

This Policy will be delivered to all directors, officers, employees, consultants, contractors, and advisors of the Company when they commence
service with the Company. In addition, this Policy (or a summary of this Policy) will be circulated periodically. Each director, officer, employee,
consultant, contractor, and advisor of the Company is required to acknowledge that he or she understands, and agrees to comply with, this Policy.

Amendments

We are committed to continuously reviewing and updating our policies and procedures. The Company therefore reserves the right to amend, alter
or terminate this Policy at any time and for any reason, subject to applicable law. A current copy of the Company’s policies regarding insider trading
may be obtained by contacting the Compliance Officer.

* 3k %k

Nothing in this Insider Trading Policy creates or implies an employment contract or term of employment. Employment at the Company is
employment at-will. Employment at-will may be terminated with or without cause and with or without notice at any time by the employee or the
Company. Nothing in this Insider Trading Policy shall limit the right to terminate employment at-will. No employee of the Company has any authority
to enter into any agreement for employment for a specified period of time or to make any agreement or representation contrary to the Companys
policy of employment at-will. Only the Chief Executive Officer of the Company has the authority to make any such agreement, which must be in
writing.

The policies in this Insider Trading Policy do not constitute a complete list of Company policies or a complete list of the types of conduct that can
result in discipline, up to and including discharge.
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List of Subsidiaries

Name

Jurisdiction of Incorporation

Exhibit 21.1

RingCentral International, Inc.
RCLEC, Inc.

RCVA, Inc.

Connect First, Inc.

RingCentral Florida, LLC

RingCentral Canada Inc.

RingCentral Brasil Solugdes em TI LTDA
RingCentral UK LTD

RingCentral CH GmbH

RingCentral B.V.

RingCentral Ireland Limited
RingCentral Espana S.L.

RingCentral Italy S.R.L.

RingCentral France SAS

RingCentral Hong Kong Limited
Xiamen RingCentral Software Co., Ltd.
RingCentral Singapore Pte. Ltd.
RingCentral Australia Pty Ltd
RingCentral Japan K.K.

RingCentral Korea, Ltd.

RingCentral Holdings I, Inc.
RingCentral IP Holdings, Inc.
RingCentral South Africa Pty Ltd
RingCentral Germany GmbH
RingCentral India Private Limited
RingCentral Israel Ltd.

RingCentral Ventures, LLC
RingCentral Innovation (India) Private Limited
RingCentral Philippines, Inc.

RingCentral Taiwan, Ltd.
RingCentral Bulgaria EOOD
RingCentral MiCloud and Sky, LLC

Panther Acquisition Sub, Inc.

Delaware
Delaware
Virginia
Delaware
Delaware
Canada
Brazil
United Kingdom
Switzerland
Netherlands
Ireland
Spain

Italy

France
Hong Kong
China
Singapore
Australia
Japan

South Korea
Delaware
Delaware
South Africa
Germany
India

Israel
Delaware
India
Philippines
Taiwan
Bulgaria

Delaware

Delaware



Exhibit 23.1

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the registration statements (Nos. 333-234647 and 333-277294) on Form S-3 and registration statements (Nos. 333-
191433, 333-202367, 333-209794, 333-216297, 333-223228, 333-229898, 333-236641, 333-253651, 333-263172, 333-269965 and 333-277292) on Form S-8 of our
report dated February 24, 2025, with respect to the consolidated financial statements of RingCentral, Inc. and the effectiveness of internal control over financial
reporting.

/sl KPMG LLP

San Francisco, California
February 24, 2025



I, Vladimir Shmunis, certify that:

Exhibit 31.1
Certification of Principal Executive Officer
pursuant to
Exchange Act Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a),
as adopted pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of RingCentral, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make
the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered
by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects

the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a)

(b)

(©

(d)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known
to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared,

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such
evaluation; and

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting,
to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a)

(b)

Date: February 25, 2025

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information;
and

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

/s/ Vladimir Shmunis

Vladimir Shmunis
Chief Executive Officer and Chairman
(Principal Executive Officer)




I, Abhey Lamba, certify that:

Exhibit 31.2

Certification of Principal Financial Officer
pursuant to
Exchange Act Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a),
as adopted pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of RingCentral, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make
the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered
by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects

the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(2)

(b)

(©

(d)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known
to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such
evaluation; and

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting,
to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(2)

(b)

Date: February 25, 2025

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information;
and

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

/s/ Abhey Lamba

Abhey Lamba

Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)




Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of RingCentral, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the annual period ended December 31, 2024 as filed with the

Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Vladimir Shmunis, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
§ 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(€)) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and
2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company.

Date: February 25, 2025 /s/ Vladimir Shmunis

Vladimir Shmunis
Chief Executive Olfficer and Chairman
(Principal Executive Officer)




Exhibit 32.2
CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER

PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of RingCentral, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the annual period ended December 31, 2024 as filed with the

Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Abhey Lamba, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
§ 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

8} The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and
2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company.
Date: February 25, 2025 /s/ Abhey Lamba
Abhey Lamba
Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial Officer)



